ECONOMIC PAPERS

EUROPEAN COMMISSION DIRECTORATE-GENERAL FOR ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL AFFAIRS

Number 108 July 1994

The European Monetary System during the phase of transition to European Monetary Union

- Future scenarios and various reform options - Dipl.-Vw. Robert Vehrkamp*



"Economic Papers" are written by the Staff of the Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, or by experts working in association with them. The "Papers" are intended to increase awareness of the technical work being done by the staff and to seek comments and suggestions for further analyses. Views expressed represent exclusively the positions of the author and do not necessarily correspond to those of the European Commission. Comments and enquiries should be addressed to the:

European Commission Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs 200, rue de la Loi 1049 Brussels, Belgium

ECONOMIC PAPERS

Number 108

July 1994

The European Monetary System during

the phase of transition

to European Monetary Union

- Future scenarios and various reform options -

Dipl.-Vw. Robert Vehrkamp*

* Insitut für Wirtschaftspolitik und Konjunkturforschung, Universität Witten/Herdecke.

© CECA – CEE – CEEA, Bruxelles – Luxembourg, 1994.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures, Graphics and Tables		III	
Short Version Introduction			
			I.
П.	Fixed Rate Systems:		
	A General Institutional Framework	9	
	2.1. Definitions	9	
	2.2. Basic Institutional Structure	10	
	2.3. Rule Components	12	
	2.3.1. Monetary Coordination Mechanism	12	
	2.3.2. Intervention Rules	14	
	2.3.3. Mechanisms of Intervention Financing	17	
	2.3.3.1. Credit Facilities	17	
	2.3.3.2. Settlement Rules	18	
	2.3.4. Reserve Rules	20	
	2.3.5. Exchange Rate Adjustment Mechanism	21	
	2.4. Size of a Country	22	
	2.5. Interim Summary of Liquidity and Reserve Effects	23	
	2.6. The Part of Capital and Exchange Markets	24	
	2.7. The System's Overall Monetary Adjustment Constraints	24	
III.	The European Monetary System:		
	Functioning, Symmetry Characteristics, Market Conditions	26	
	3.1. The Set of Rules	27	
	3.1.1. Indirect Coordination of Monetary Policy	27	
	3.1.2. Symmetrical Intervention Rules	28	
	3.1.3. Asymmetrical Financing Mechanism	32	
	3.1.3.1. Unlimited Credit Facilities	32	
	3.1.3.2. Unilateral Settlement Obligations	34	
	3.1.4. Restrictive Reserve Rules	35	
	3.1.5. Political Exchange Rate Competency	36	
	Appendix on the Basle/Nyborg Agreement 1987	37	
	3.1.6. Interim Summary of Liquidity and Reserve Effects	39	
	3.2. Working Conditions of the Capital and Exchange Markets	40	
	3.2.1. Recent Developments	40	
	3.2.2. Speculative Attacks	41	
	3.3. Overall Symmetry Characteristics of the EMS	42	

IV. Reasons for the Currency Crisis	44
4.1. Convergence Crisis	44
4.2. Market Failure	47
4.3. System Failure	48
4.4. Policy Failure	50
V. Reform Options	53
5.1. Preliminary Conditions	53
5.2. Direct Coordination of Monetary Policy	55
5.3. European Intervention Fund	60
5.4. Interventions in the Forward Markets	62

5.5. Suspension of the Settlement Rules695.6. Exchange Rate Competency of the Central Banks72

VI. A Strategy for Stage Two

÷

6.1. European Autonomy Standard746.2. A Two-Track European Monetary System for the
Transitional Stage Towards Monetary Union756.2.1. De Facto Monetary Union of the Core Countries
6.2.2. Modified Exchange Rate Mechanism with
the Periphery77Final Remarks79

74

Appendix I: The Anatomy of Speculative Attacks	80
Appendix II: Foward Interventions in Speculative Attacks	93
References	103

List of figures, graphics and tables:

Figure I:	Determinants of Monetary Adjustment Constraints in Institutionalized Fixed Rate Systems (see figure 3)	6a
Graphic I:	Interaction of Interest Rate and Intervention Policy in Fixed Rate Systems with Forward Interventions (see graphic 1)	18a
Figure 1:	Rule Components of Fixed Rate Systems	10
Figure 2:	Determinants of Liquidity and Reserve Effects in Institutionalized Fixed Rate Systems	23
Figure 3:	Determinants of Monetary Adjustment Constraints in Institutionalized Fixed Rate Systems	25
Graphic 1:	Interaction of Interest Rate and Intervention Policy in Fixed Rate Systems with	
	Foward Interventions	67
Tabele 1A: Off-	Balance-Sheet Attacks (Forward Speculations)	91
Та	b. 1A-1	82
Та	b. 1A-2	8 <i>3</i>
Ta	b. 1A-3	84
Та	b. 1A-4	84
Table 1B: On-Ba	alance-Sheet Attacks (Spot Speculations)	92
Та	b. 1B-1	87
Та	b. 1B-2	88
Та	b. 1B-3	88
Table 2A: Fowa	rd Interventions in Off-Balance-Sheet Attacks	101
Та	b. 2A-1	94
Ta	b. 2A-2/1	96
Та	b. 2A-2/2	97
Table 2B: Forwa	ard Interventions in On-Balance-Sheet Attacks	102
Та	b. 2B-1	98
Ta	b. 2B-2	98
Ta	b. 2B-3	98
Та	b. 2B-4	99

.

I. Introduction

(1) Fixed rate systems are institutions with economic benefits (or damages) determined by their inherent economic mechanics, the so-called "rules of the game" (Keynes, 1925). In a fixed rate system, the 'rules of the game' are the result of the system's institutional design interacting with the prevailing conditions of the capital and foreign exchange markets. The market conditions can be described as the relevant environment of a fixed rate system. According to Mundell's terminology, a fixed rate system's set of rules is to its market conditions "like a constitution (...) to a political or electoral system" (Mundell, 1972). The market conditions prove to be the 'modus operandi' of the rule system. Currency crises as specific malfunctions of a fixed rate system are, like the systems' functioning, the result of its institutional design under given market conditions. Therefore, analysing currency crises and reform considerations to avoid them also has to be orientated to the system's set of rules and its market conditions.

(2) The European Monetary System (EMS) is an institutionalized fixed rate system. Its rule system was established in 1978/79 by contractual agreements between the governments and central banks involved. Except for a few modifications by the Basle/Nyborg-Agreement in 1987, the initial set of rules has remained unchanged. The extension of the bilateral exchange rate bands to +/- 15% as a consequence of the currency crisis of July 1993, however, comes close to a de facto suspension of the systems' rules. It also fundamentally questions the way towards European Monetary Union scheduled in the Maastricht Treaty. Returning to the normal band of the EMS becomes a necessary precondition for further progress of the Maastricht integration strategy. Hence it follows, that the second stage's main focus should be to re-establish the EMS's exchange rate mechanism. This report, therefore, is to develope reform strategies for the EMS in order to re-establish its functioning during stage two of the European Monetary Union (EMU), which - on the basis of the Maastricht Treaty - is a prerequisite for the transition to the third stage by 1999 at the latest.

II. Fixed Rate Systems: A General Institutional Framework

(3) The set of rules of a fixed rate system is essentially a mechanism for allocating its inherent monetary adjustment constraints. The allocation of monetary adjustment burdens among the participating member currencies is described by the system's symmetry characteristics. A fixed rate system of uncovered paper currencies can either be designed asymmetrically burdening hard currency countries (= 'weak currency standard') or asymmetrically burdening weak currency countries (= 'hard currency standard') or symmetrical (= 'compromise standard'). The symmetry characteristics determine the system's internal monetary stability standard. These adjustment constraints are triggered by market transactions. However, the intensity and direction of the market transactions' impact is essentially determined by the specific design of the rules. The rule structure can be classified and described in five different categories of rules. Besides the monetary coordination mechanism, these categories contain the intervention rules, the financing mechanism (consisting of settlement rules and credit facilities), the reserve rules, and the exchange rate adjustment mechanism. A further structural determinant of a fixed rate system is the 'size' of a country as represented by its stock of intervention reserves and its monetary sterilization capacity. Within this structure the markets serve as a trigger for the rule-determined adjustment constraints.

(4) <u>Monetary Coordination Mechanism</u>: The monetary policy coordination of a fixed rate system can either be effected ex post through the resulting adjustment constraints of the system. Coordination is then the result of the system's adjusment mechanics triggered by the markets. It can be described as a *market coordination* or indirect coordination of monetary policy. On the other hand, monetary coordination can also be effected ex ante as a direct monetary coordination of the responsible currency authorities. Analagous to market coordination, the direct coordination can be described as *authority coordination*. As an additional terminological distinction, the term *simple fixed rate system* is used in the following in distinction to *complex fixed rate systems* when no mechanism for a direct coordination of monetary policy is provided.

2a

(5) <u>Intervention Rules</u>: The intervention rules of a fixed rate system should unambiguously stipulate the circumstances and extent the member states are obliged to intervene in order to keep the system's exchange rate promise. Besides the choice of an exchange rate standard it is necessary to define and establish the bilateral central rates, fluctuation margins and intervention points.

• When choosing an *exchange rate standard* it is important to take into account the consequences of the various standards for the distribution of intervention obligations among the member currencies. Three different types of exchange rate standards can be distinguished:

- The first option is the *key currency standard*. Here, all participating nations are obliged to establish a bilateral exchange rate of their currency towards the key currency. They have to defend this rate in the exchange markets by means of intervention. Only the key currency is not subject to any intervention obligations. Therfore, it's monetary authorities are not forced to accept any monetary adjustment constraints caused by liquidity and reserve effects due to interventions. The remaining monetary degree of freedom is institutionally guaranteed by rule to the key currency as the n-th currency of the system. Consequently, a key currency standard is designed entirely asymmetrically burdening the (n-1)-countries of the system.

- The *bilateral parity grid* is the second type of exchange rate standard. For a bilateral parity grid symmetrical intervention obligations can be expected at least in a formal sense.

- As a third option, the central rates can be defined with respect to a *currency basket* in which each participating currency counts for a certain weight. The symmetry characteristics of a currency basket are more complicated since a currency's exchange rate towards the basket currency is the weighted average of its bilateral exchange rates towards the individual currencies participating in the basket. In a currency basket standard, therefore, one can assume symmetry characteristics unilaterally burdening the currencies counting for the highest weights in the basket and whose exchange rate deviates the most from the basket average.

• Establishing bilateral central rates one can refer to normative models of defining the 'correct' exchange rate or simply follow the given market rates.

• An important aspect for defining the fluctuation margins is the criterion of *overlapping bands* in case of central rate adjustments. Overlapping bands can help to reduce the probability of 'one-way bets' of the markets.

• We speak of symmetrical intervention points if the upper and lower point of intervention are in the same distance from the bilaterally defined central rate. With asymmetrically constructed intervention points, obligations to intervene exist either at the upper (='soft currency version') or at the lower (='hard currency version') intervention points.

(6) <u>Mechanisms of Intervention Financing</u>: Analyzing the intervention rules of fixed rate systems it is important to examine if and to what extent the symmetry characteristics of the intervention rules are concealed by the corresponding financing mechanism of the system. Even formally symmetrically designed intervention rules may result in asymmetrical systemic adjustment constraints due to the corresponding settlement rules. The finance mechanism of a fixed rate system consists of *credit facilities* and *settlement obligations*.

■ In order to relax the existing budget restriction for weak currency countries intervening at their lower intervention point, a fixed rate system with intervention obligations needs corresponding intervention *credit facilities*. Besides the overall amount of the credit facility the most important conditions are the maturity, interest rate, and the denomination of repayment obligations.

• In contrast to credit facilities, *settlement obligations* do not help to finance interventions of weak currency countries at their lower intervention limit but stipulate the financing of interventions carried out by a hard currency country reaching its upper intervention point. In the context of settlement rules weak currency reserves of hard currency central banks accumulated by obligatory interventions establish a claim towards the central bank of the weak currency to re-exchange the reserves into hard currency. With settlement obligations the weak currency central bank is obliged to finance the hard currency central bank's interventions. Similar to credit facilities, for designing a settlement obligation it is especially important to fix its amount, maturity, and the denomination of the settlement transactions.

(7) <u>Reserve Rules</u>: The purchase, holding, investment, and employment of intervention reserves can produce liquidity and other monetary policy effects for the reserve currency's central bank. Therefore, certain reserve rules should be agreed upon. Reserve rules determine in what form central banks are allowed to hold their intervention reserves in member currencies (= 'reserve investment rules') and to what extent they are allowed to accumulate those currencies (= 'reserve limitation rules'):

(8) Exchange Rate Adjustment Mechanism: For each fixed rate system, the possibility of an exchange rate adjustment is a sort of loophole to evade the system's adjustment con-

straints or to forestall the markets' pressure towards such adjustment constraints. The institutional design and operation of the exchange rate adjustment mechanism, therefore, is an important determinant for the degree of system inherent economic adjustment pressure and the credibility of the exchange rate promise from the markets' point of view. Rule determined or discretionary exchange adjustment mechanisms are the basic design alternatives:

• Rule-determined adjustment mechanisms can also be described as *formula flexibility*. The changes in the exchange rates follow a specified rule or formula and are 'objectively' given for all countries involved.

• As an alternative to the rule-determined formula flexibility exchange rate adjustment mechanisms can follow a discretionary case by case strategy. In principle, *discretionary adjustments* of the exchange rate can be carried out within a 'governance structure' or without being tied to specific procedural rules. Thereby the most important institutional choice alternatives are whether the governments (=political exchange rate competency) or the central banks (=monetary exchange rate competency) have the exchange rate competency and in which way the institutionalized discussion and decision process within the 'governance structure' is organized.

(9) <u>Size of a Country</u>: A country's relative size within a fixed rate system is essentially determined by its monetary sterilization capacity and the amount of its freely available hard currency intervention reserves. Consequently, the bigger a country in terms of its sterilization capacity and its currency reserves, the more likely it can - at least temporarily - evade rule-determined liquidity and reserve effects and the resulting adjustment constraints. Intensity and direction of rule-determined symmetry characteristics, therefore, can be (over-)compensated by the relative size of the countries involved.

(10) The Part of Capital and Foreign Exchange Markets: The markets take the part of a 'judge' who has to decide which of the member currencies are weak or strong according to the rules. *The system's institutional settings are blind to this kind of identification problem.* A currency, therefore, is by definition a hard currency when its exchange rate is subject to a revaluation pressure in the foreign exchange market. A currency is called weak when it is subject to a devaluation pressure. In case a currency is subject to revaluation or devaluation pressures, the intervention mechanism and with it the systemically determined liquidity and reserve effects are virtually automatically activated. For that a revaluation or devaluation pressure of the market is the necessary and sufficient condition at the same time, regardless of its underlying degree of fundamental rationality. Activating the adjustment constraints is entirely the job of the markets.

(11) <u>Summary</u>: From the above analysis, figure I can be derived which contains an overall description of the 'rules of the game'. The figure shows the structural determinants

of the system's economic mechanics as well as the way they are released by market transactions. The set of rules and the relative size of the countries involved can be described as a fixed rate system's structural determinants. They determine the system-inherent liquidity and reserve effects which in turn trigger the monetary adjustment constraints.



However, the system structures are activated solely by corresponding market transactions. The market transactions' fundamental rationality, therefore, determines at the same time the economic rationality of the overall adjustment constraints effectively resulting from the system's structures in action. A fixed rate system's constitution can only be as good as its 'modus operandi' in the shape of the markets.

III. The European Monetary System (EMS): Functioning, Symmetry Characteristics, Market Conditions

(12) The EMS is an asymmetrically designed simple fixed rate system burdening weak currency countries, in which the part of the key currency is not determined by rules but is awarded by the capital and exchange markets. It, therefore, can be called a *market-determined anchor currency system*. The economic rationality of the monetary coordination mechanism within the EMS, therefore, corresponds to the degree of fundamental rationality of the capital and exchange markets. Following the general framework of chapter II, the elements

of the institutional arrangement determining the system's adjustment constraints are analyzed at first. From that the systemically determined liquidity and reserve effects are derived. The concluding chapter then describes the monetary adjustment constraints triggered by market transactions under the new conditions of fully liberalized capital and exchange markets.

(13) Indirect Coordination of Monetary Policy: The EMS is a simple fixed rate system. Mechanisms for a direct coordination of national monetary policies are not assigned. The coordination of monetary policy is managed indirectly by means of the system's inherent adjustment and coordination constraints. As the following will show, these constraints are designed almost entirely asymmetrically for the weak currency countries and are activated by market transactions. The monetary adjustment constraints within the EMS, therefore, are essentially market-determined. The currencies' hierarchy in the capital and exchange markets determine the allocation of the remaining degree of freedom. The strongest currency is awarded for the key currency role and, thereby, determines the monetary stability standard of the overall system. As long as the markets award the most stable currency of the system, a desirable convergence pressure towards the stability standard of the anchor currency country develops for the weak currencies. The EMS's success story during the 1980s was based on this convergence pressure, when the D-Mark functioned as stability standard and credibility anchor for the monetary policy of the traditional weak currencies. However, if the markets continue to devalue traditionally weak currencies with no regard to already succeding adjustment policies, an inherent deflationary bias for the 'supposed to be weak-currencies' may occur. They are then forced to compensate the markets' devaluation speculations by interest rate differences in favour of its irrationally attacked currency. In an economic downward trend with low inflation and growth rates, such a policy may lead to considerable inadequate macroeconomic adjustment costs. These market-determined inadequate adjustment constraints make the system intolerable (from the point of view of the governments and central banks involved) and implausible (from the markets' point of view).

(14) <u>Symmetrical Intervention Rules</u>: The intervention obligations are committed to the upper and lower intervention points, which result from the agreed fluctuation margins of +/-2,25% around the bilateral central rates, and they are unlimited in amount. In a parity grid of this kind, two currencies reach their upper respectively lower intervention points

simultaneously. The hard currency's bilateral exchange rate at the upper intervention limit exactly corresponds to the lower intervention limit of the weak currency. In this respect, at least the formal design of the EMS's intervention rules is entirely symmetrical.

In contrast to the EMS's formal intervention obligations the adjustment impact of the individual member country's sterilization policy is asymmetrical. Whereas hard currency countries sterilize the primary liquidity effects of their interventions almost entirely, weak currency countries have only little inclination to sterilize. As a consequence of the asymmetrical sterilization behaviour the monetary policy of hard currency central banks is not weakenend by any expanding money supply and interest rate effects while the restrictive effects for the weak currencies lead to adjustment constraints for their monetary policy to follow the stability standard of the hard currency countries. The formal symmetry of the intervention rules is reversed because the asymmetrical sterilization policy dominates the interventions' preliminary money supply and interest effects. Within the EMS a symmetrical adjustment constraint towards an average stability standard can only occur when the sterilization capacity of the hard currency central bank is exhausted. In literature, the formal symmetry of the intervention obligations within the EMS has often lead to the view that the overall design of the EMS is symmetrical and, therefore, the de facto hegemony of the DM is to be attributed mostly to external factors not inherent to the system's institutional settings. The most important reason for this misjudgement was that the system's symmetry characteristics were solely derived from the intervention rules and not, as it is necessary, from their interaction with the sterilization policy and the other components of the EMS's set of rules.

(15) <u>Asymmetrical Financing Mechanism</u>: Since the holding of intervention reserves in member currencies is limited to the level of agreed on 'working balances', for financing their interventions at the lower intervention point the central banks have to rely on the system's financing mechanisms. Core of the intervention financing mechanism of the EMS are the credit facilities of the very short-term financing and the settlement obligations.

• With the very short-term facility, credits unlimited in amount are available to countries participating in the exchange rate mechanism. Hence in principle all member countries are able to comply with their unlimited intervention obligations at any time. The resulting liabilities become due at the latest 2,5 months after the end of the month in which the facility was used. The budget restriction is only temporarily suspended for a maximum of 3,5 months. The mechanisms of the very short-term financing are sufficient to guarantee a temporary unlimited access to member currencies for financing the system's obligatory interventions. Therefore, the unlimited intervention promise of the weak currency countries is only credible for a limited period of time. Afterwards, their budget restriction of limited intervention reserves is re-established by the repayment obligations. • Due to the so-called *settlement rules* of the EMS a hard currency central bank's interventions at its upper intervention point are accounted like an intervention of a weak currency central bank at its lower intervention point drawing on its very short-term credit facility. From the weak currency central banks' point of view, it is obviously not important by which central bank the intervention is carried out in the markets. In the end it is always the central bank of the weak currency which has to finance all interventions according to the procedures of the very short-term financing. The budget restriction of the weak currency countries is extended to the interventions of the hard currency countries and, therefore, is considerably *tightened*. In contrast to the formally symmetrical design of the intervention mechanism the finance mechanism is almost entirely asymmetrical. The system's reserve effects, therefore, are also asymmetrical in the end. As a result the credibility of the central banks' intervention promise for the markets because, after a short period of time, all interventions have to be (re-) financed by the weak currency countries. Even in times of speculative attacks of the markets against fundamentally justified exchange rates their budget restriction is only temporary suspended; however, it is not revoked in principle.

(16) <u>Restrictive Reserve Rules</u>: The EMS rules do not provide any exactly quantified reserve rules. In practice, however, the procedure is handled less restrictive. Still, the accumulation of intervention reserves denominated in member currencies remains subject to the consent of the issuing central bank concerned. In contrast to the more or less restrictive reserve accumulation rules the central banks are free in deciding on the way they prefer to hold their intervention reserves; they can either invest them directly in market assets or deposit them at the issuing central bank involved. As a result of this, the institutional rules and procedures for the accumulation and investment of intervention reserves in the EMS do not seem to be decisive determinants of its monetary symmetry characteristics.

(17) Political Exchange Rate Competency: The exchange rate competency within the EMS is completely political. It is solely assigned to the European Council and not to the central banks. In practice, realignment decisions are negotiated and prepared by the Monetary Committee of the European Community. In the end, however, mutual political consent of the responsible Council of Ministers is require. Therefore, the realignment procedure's decisive characteristics are that the exchange rate competency within the EMS is political and unanimous mutual consent is required. Together, the two characteristics ensure a political veto for each member country involved. Therefore, the realignment decision remains subject to a politically dominated process of negotiation.

(18) <u>Working Conditions of the Capital and Foreign Exchange Markets</u>: Since the mid-1980s, the international capital and exchange markets are characterized by *liberalization* and *globalization* trends as well as by a *securitization* of international credit relations. In two different aspects, these trends have fundamentally changed the conditions of global exchange markets:

■ In international portfolios with currency diversification the exchange rate has become an autonomous component of the return calculation. The spot market price effects of portfolio restructurings as a result of changing exchange expectations are consequently the first channel through which the new conditions of the capital and exchange markets can make the central banks' effort to stabilize the exchange rates more difficult.

■ The increasing importance of the exchange rate risk has simultanously lead to the development of derivative markets where market participants can hedge their uncovered currency positions. Derivative financial instruments, however, are not soleley used for hedging currency risks but also for establishing open currency positions without the necessity of using liquid speculation capital. Repercussions from this kind of *currency speculation without capital* on the spot market are the second channel through which the changed market conditions make it more difficult for the central banks to stabilize exchange rates.

(19) <u>Speculative Attacks</u>: With the exchange rate as a part of their currency portfolio's return and the derivative instruments of currency speculation without capital, the markets' incentive for and capability of successful speculative attacks against central banks increases. Return-orientated speculative attacks on the exchange rate promises of institutionalized fixed rate systems can be performed by the capital and exchange markets in two different ways:

• On-balance-sheet attacks are capital backed speculations. They are carried out directly via the spot markets. These on-balance-sheet attacks have a twofold effect on the central banks involved. At first, as a result of their intervention obligations they are forced to take the counter position in the speculative spot sales of the attacked currency. The liquidity and reserve effects resulting from the spot interventions automatically lead to the corresponding system-inherent monetary adjustment constraints. Secondly, the weak currency's central bank in its function as 'lender of last resort' is forced to refinance the speculative credit expansions at an interest rate which is acceptable from the perspective of the national economy as a whole in order to maintain orderly conditions in the domestic money markets. This means that the central banks are at first obliged to provide the demanded hard currency and at the same time have to guarantee the speculant's refinancing in the weak currency at conditions which are justifiable from the domestic point of view of the national economy as a whole. In addition, they have to accept the liquidity and reserve effects and the resulting adjustment constraints as well as corresponding exchange losses from (re-) exchanging the speculative currency postions in case of a devalutation of the attacked currency.

• Off-balance-sheet attacks are currency speculations without underlying liquid capital positions. They are carried out by forward sales of the weak currency in the forward markets. Their transmittance into the spot market takes place indirectly via routinely conducted cover transactions of the banks contracting the speculative forward deal. Again, the central banks have to take the counter position in the spot market and are responsible for refinancing both the spot and the swap part of the cover transaction. The further course is then identical to an on-balance-sheet attack. Since the establishment of uncovered forward positions is technically easier and, therefore, favourable in terms of transaction costs, speculators usually will switch to the spot market only if the forward markets become inflexible in terms of liquidity.

Therefore, independent on whether the speculative attacks are carried out via the spot or the forward markets, the central banks of the attacked currencies are the inherent losers all along the line:

• They provide the speculatively demanded hard currency spot amounts by intervening in the markets and have to face the resulting liquidity and reserve effects;

■ as 'lender of last resort', they refinance the weak currency's expansion of the credit volume to finance the speculative positions;

• after a forced realignment according to the speculative market pressures, they have to take the currency losses and thereby finance the speculant's profits.

(20) Overall Symmetry Characteristics of the EMS: The EMS is a market-determined asymmetrical fixed rate system. Under the prevailing conditions its intervention promise is not credible for the markets. The intervention mechanism is neither sufficient to protect the system's exchange rates against speculative attacks nor does it provide for an efficient protection against economic irrational market valuations of certain member currencies. The triggering and direction of the system-inherent macro-economic adjustment constraints is entirely determined by the markets. The degree of the system's adjustment constraints' economic rationality, therefore, only corresponds to that of the capital and exchange markets. Speculative attacks of the markets lead either to economically unjustified exchange rate adjustments, or to macroeconomic costs of inadequate adjustment constraints. The second alternative makes the first one all the more likely and leads to a further loss of credibility of the exchange rate promise.

(3)

IV. Reasons for the Currency Crisis

(21) In the following, the EMS crisis is analyzed as being mainly inherent to the system's institutional design and, therefore, as a result of its institutional structure under the new conditions of completely liberalized capital and exchange markets. It is described as a systemically determined asymmetry crises following fundamentally irrational market speculations. Thereby the fundamental approach of explaning the crisis as a result of economic convergence deficits can only play a minor part because it only applies to individual member countries but not for all the currencies attacked in the course of the 1992/93 crisis.

(22) Market Failure: The conditions of financial markets largely correspond to the standards of a 'perfect market'. This is especially true for the highly efficient foreign exchange markets. At first, therefore, it seems to be unjustified to speak of a capital and exchange markets' failure. Indeed the market failure in the course of the EMS crises does not consist in micro-economic malfunctions as a result of imperfect markets but in the lacking fundamental rationality of the monetary adjustment constraints within the EMS which are themselve dominated by the markets. One can speak of a lack of fundamental rationality according to the EMS if the market valuations of the individual member currencies are not sufficiently orientated to the monetary stability criterion. If currencies with a high level of stability (= low inflation rate) are subject to fundamentally irrational devaluation speculations of the markets, a deflationary adjustment pressure will automatically occur for those countries. As a consequence the attacked countries have to carry considerable macroeconomic costs of inadequate policy adjustment. In times of speculative attacks, the disciplinary mechanism of sanctioning expansive inflation policies is turned into a mechanism producing inadequate monetary adjustment constraints. The adjustment mechanism then has a deflationary bias. Thereby speculative attacks grow up to asymmetry crises of the overall system. The market failure then consists in its insufficient performance as the 'modus operandi' of the system's indirect mechanism of national monetary policy coordination. A market failure of this kind has been observable both before and during the currency crises and has become one of its most important reasons. Before the crisis, the market failure consisted in the relaxation of the system's disciplinary constraints due to the so-called 'convergence trading' in the markets. At that time the markets did not force any central rate adjustment despite further accumulating monetary convergence deficits for individual currencies. The exchange rate illusion has led to a predominant orientation of capital investment and exchange trading decisions to the nominal interest rate differences. Thereby it has additionally revalued or at least stabilized the exchange rate of countries with a relatively higher inflation rate and correspondingly higher nominal interest rates. The nominal interest divergences within the EMS were no more interpreted by the markets as representing premiums for inflation-related devaluation risks, but, while ignoring the exchange rate risk, as a real return advantage denominated in domestic currency. The 'convergence trading' was followed by a second type of market failure in the course of the currency crises. The re-discovery of the exchange rate risk led to speculative 'undershooting' phenomenons and domino effects within and outside the system. Thereby the market failure of the 'convergence trading' was substituted by the market failure of fundamentally irrational speculative attacks. The actual overvaluation of individual currencies during the phase of the market's 'convergence plays' was followed by an speculative 'undershooting' in the course of the crises. The market failure as the most important reason of the crises, therefore, consists at first in the failure of the market--determined mechanism of indirect monetary policy coordination.

(23) <u>System Failure</u>: On the one hand, in speculative attacks the EMS's exchange rate promise has proved to be implausible for the markets. This is true for the interest as well as the intervention mechanism:

• The use of *interest rates* to defend exchange rates against speculative attacks stands under the priority of the domestic economy. It becomes implausible if the interest rates necessary for defending the exchange rate exceeds a level acceptable for the domestic economy. The experience of the EMS crises has proved the limited credibility of this instrument even in a short-term perspective. In its core, the exchange rate promise of the central banks, therefore, is an intervention promise.

■ But also the *intervention promise* obviously is not credible in the market's judgment. The lack of credibility is mainly due to the asymmetrical design of the intervention financing mechanism with the settlement obligations of the weak currency countries as its core element. The settlement obligations lead to a further tightening of the already existing budget restrictions for the weak currency central banks. Concerning the markets' judgement, the settlement obligations turn the intervention mechanism of the EMS into an 'elaborated bluff of the central banks'. An additional reason for the implausibility of the intervention promise are the intervention's direct money base effects for the hard currency countries. When its sterilization capacity is exhausted, the hard currency central bank may face considerable restrictions in its ability to control the domestic central bank money supply and the

short term interest rates in the money markets. In such a situation the scenario of an opting out of the hard currency central bank from the system's exchange rate and intervention mechanism is anticipated by the markets and heavily weakens the intervention promise's credibility in the course of a speculative attack. The lack of protection for weak currency countries against the costs of inadequate monetary policy adjustments as a consequence of speculative attacks is also a result from the unconditional application of the settlement rules. The one-sided monetary adjustment constraints for the weak currency countries triggered by the settlement obligations become effective irrespective of the particular degree of economic rationality underlying the speculative attack. The system's failures described are a specific result of the EMS's set of rules. Consequently, they can be avoided by appropriate modifications of the rules involved.

V. Reform Options

(24) <u>Preliminary conditions</u>: For being acceptable for all member governments and central banks involved, adequate reform options have to meet certain preliminary conditions. These conditions can directly be derived from the original econcomic and political objectives of the system, the given institutional settings and strategies of the Maastricht Treaty, and from the systemical reasons of the actual EMS crisis that has led to its de facto suspension in August 1993.

• Stability Criterion:

For hard currency countries it has to be ensured that the systemical adjustment constraints are orientated to the standard set by the lowest inflation rate within the system. Concerning the monetary stability policies, the disciplinary effect of the anchor currency mechanism may not be relaxed.

Protection against Opportunism I (=protection against 'inflationary infection'):

For the stability-orientated countries precautions have to be taken protecting them from opportunistic behaviour of less stability-orientated states within the system. An 'inflationary infection' has to be ruled out. At least in case of rational market valuations of the member currencies (= absence of speculative attacks), the asymmetry has to remain effective.

• Protection against Opportunism II (=protection against speculative attacks)

Under the prevailing conditions of economical irrational exchange speculations attacked currencies have to be sufficiently protected against inadequate monetary adjustment costs. The protection against 'inflationary infection' for the hard currency countries has to be completed by a complementary protection for the weak currency countries against deflationary adjustment constraints in the consequence of speculative attacks. (25) <u>Direct Coordination of Monetary Policy</u>: The above analysis has shown that the EMS as a simple fixed rate system has failed under the conditions of speculative attacks. The market mechanism of indirect monetary policy coordination has proved to be inefficient. Supplementing the EMS with a mechanism of direct monetary policy coordination, therefore, is a feasible starting point for reform. It is, therefore, suggested to combine a common policy rule for direct monetary coordination within the EMI with a conditional temporary suspension competency of the EMS's settlement obligations.

• Concerning monetary coordination, the member states should ex ante agree on standards for national money supply or price level targets according to the above mentioned proposal of the Council of Economic Advisors. The national targets should be agreed on by mutual consent within the EMI-council of autonomous central bank governors.

• The monetary coordination mechanism should be supplemented by the council's competency to suspend the settlement obligations. However, this competency remains limited to situations of clearly identifiable fundamentally irrational attacks of the capital and exchange markets. The ex ante agreed on monetary coordination targets serve as appropriate fundamental identification criteria for speculative attacks.

In addition, the proposed combination of an ex ante coordination of national monetary policies with a conditional suspension competency of the settlement obligations meets all of the above required preconditions for a successful EMS reform during stage two. The *stability criterion* is met by the monetary standard agreed on in the voluntary monetary ex ante coordination of national monetary targeting. A sufficient 'protection against inflationary infection' is ensured by the asymmetric intervention mechanism of the 'old EMS' which remains unmodified.

(26) <u>European Intervention Fund (EIF)</u>: The institutional analysis of the EMS has shown that from the hard currency countries' point of view the liquidity effects of interventions make the intervention promise becoming unsustainable in the course of a crisis. When their sterilization capacity is exhausted the interventions lead to an irreversible expansion of the money base and, therefore, to a considerable loss of efficiency in controlling the domestic monetary aggregates. However, the only reason for this is the fact that the central banks carry out their interventions via the existing central bank accounts of the banks involved.

and the second states and second

Thereby, the interventions have a direct expasionary effect on the national central bank money circulation. Intervention-caused money base effects could be avoided if the interventions are taken out of the accounts of the central banks by transferring the execution of interventions in the markets to an external fund established exclusively for that purpose. From the accounting point of view, the fund's enforcement of interventions would not affect the domestic central bank money circulation. Shifting the interventions 'out of the central bank's account' is attainable by founding a European Intervention Fund (EIF), for example. As a commonly established and managed fund, the central banks would provide the EIF with sufficient intervention deposits or intervention credit facilities. The EIF then establishes its own accounts with the banks involved in the foreign exchange trading, through which all interventions would be carried out. Such an arrangement is sufficient to guarantee that interventions are separated from the national central bank money circulations. The expensive construction of such an intervention fund exclusively for the transitional phase, however, is an important disadvantage from the perspective of institutional efficiency. A strategy of central bank interventions in the forward market which is developed in the following seems to be much more efficient. A foward intervention strategy allows to retain the avoidance of expansive money base effects without having to accept the disadvantages of institutional inefficiencies during the phase of transition.

(27) Interventions in the Forward Market: Central bank interventions in the spot markets always and automatically involve direct liquidity and reserve effects. That is why unlimited spot intervention promises of the central banks are inherently implausible for the markets. They are perceived as being *self-defeating*. Overall it has become clear, that unlimited spot intervention promises are implausible because in the worst case of speculative tests by the markets they cause monetary policy costs which rationally are unacceptable for any of the central banks involved. Therefore, spot interventions cannot be *credible* because they are not *sustainable*. In order to avoid intervention-caused liquidity and reserve effects and the resulting loss of credibility, an extension of the central banks in the forward market is suggested. Interventions of central banks in the forward market have the important advantage of avoiding any direct liquidity and reserve effects. Furthermore, forward interventions are not underlying a budget restriction because no liquid spot reserves are necessary. Since they are also neutral in terms of liquidity, forward

interventions compared to spot interventions are the more credible strategy from the speculant's perspective to guarantee an intervention promise. Only the unlimited willingness of the central banks to intervene in the forward market can prove to the markets that the central banks themselves believe as much in their own exchange rate promise as they expect the market participants to do. In principle, two different mechanisms are conceivable for forward interventions in order to ensure the exchange rates it the spot market:

■ In the off-balance-sheet variant of a speculative attack, the central banks directly take the counter position of speculative foward sales of the attacked currency by intervening in the foward markets. With that, the transmittance of the speculative forward sales into the spot market is interrupted. The central banks avoid the necessity of corresponding spot interventions which would inevitably become necessary in case of a speculative free market foward sale of the attacked currency that afterwards has to be covered by the contracting bank and thereby is transmitted in the spot market.

• On-balance-sheet attacks are carried out directly by sales of the attacked currency in the spot market; however, they can be kept off just as off-balance-sheet attacks by interventions of the central banks in the forward market. Whenever a currency is under pressure in the spot market, the central banks can stabilize its spot rate by taking a long position in the forward market. As a result of this, the contracting bank is facing a foward risk which routinely has to be offset. Thereby the central bank's forward intervention is transmitted into the spot market.

Forward interventions, therefore, are the suitable strategy for the EMS to protect a de facto monetary union of the core countries which are already today in a position to meet the necessary convergence criteria as agreed preconditions for entering the final stage of EMU. However, to establish a de facto monetary union it would be neither necessary nor useful to abandon the fluctuation margins. It is sufficient to ultimately fix the central rates. Therefore, the old margins of $\pm/2,25\%$ should be re-established while at the same time the exchange rate adjustment reservations with regard to the central rate and the corresponding intervention limits are irrevocably given up. Maintaining the fluctuation margins around the for ever fixed central rates facilitates a sensible installation of a forward intervention promise. In addition, the margins will help to guarantee a sufficiently liquid spot market as well as a certain flexibility for national interest rate policy. The asymmetrical spot intervention mechanism of the 'old EMS' is supplemented by unlimited and symmetrically designed forward intervention obligations of the central banks involved.

In an arrangement like this the credibility of the fluctuation margins is guaranteed by the unlimited forward intervention promises. In principle, the development of the spot rate within the margin remains market-determined; however, it may be influenced by spot interventions and interest rate adjustments of the central banks. The asymmetrically designed spot market intervention mechanism should be kept unchanged because it is domesticated by

the foward interventions. Therefore, it can serve as a suitable mechanism of coordinating and disciplining national interest rate policies. Whenever a currency is under pressure in the spot markets, the central banks concerned are at first obliged to support it by intervening in the spot markets. Only



if the liquidity and reserve effects due to the spot interventions are becoming unsustainable, the central banks will start to support their spot intervention policy by interest rate measures. With credible margins, the establishment of a modest inter currency interest rate difference will prove to be sufficient to arouse interest arbitrage orientated capital movements and thereby assure the desired stabilization of the spot rate. In the course of a speculative attack, with a foward intervention obligation the central banks are able to refrain from an excessive use of the interest instrument by allowing the forward rate falling down to the lower intervention point and then absorbing the speculative attack by unlimited forward interventions. In addition, the central banks may stimulate the spot supply of hard currency necessary for stabilizing the spot rate by so-called *aggressive forward interventions*. The resulting cover and arbitrage reactions of the markets will then transfer the foward supply of the attacked currency into a spot supply. Even in the worst case of a speculative attack, therefore, unsustainable liquidity and reserve effects can be avoided. The liquidity effects remain limited to the broader level of the non-bank liquidity; a direct influence on the monetary base is shut out. In the course of a speculative attack the central banks do not face any constraints to give in to the markets' pressure by realigning the exchange rate in the end. Forward intervention strategies to guarantee exchange rate margins around ultimately fixed central rates, therefore, prove to be sustainable even in the *worst case scenario* of a speculative attack. Anyway, those attacks become unlikely because, due to the forward intervention mechanism, the markets' arbitrage is stabilizing the central bank's exchange rate promise instead of destabilizing it as it was likely for the spot intervention promise of the 'old EMS'. For speculants to wait and see during a speculative attack is inevitably associated with current financing costs whereas for the central banks - again in contrast to spot interventions - no costs in terms of unsustainable liquidity and reserve effects arise which in the end could force them to opt out. From the speculant's perspective, no rational incentives remains to speculatively test the central bank's exchange rate promise because even unlimited foward interventions are riskless and, therefore, sustainable for the central banks: *"The authorities need only keep their nerves."*

(28) <u>Suspension of the Settlement Rules</u>: Consequently, the suspension of the settlement obligations seems to be a suitable reform option. Suspending or even revoking the settlement rules while at the same time maintaining the other parts the system's institutional setting including the financing rules, would lead to an unlimited obligation for the hard currency central banks to finance both, the own as well as the weak currency's spot interventions. Such a mechanism of intervention financing would be credible for the markets because the hard currency central bank is the only institution which is able to create the hard currency intervention reserves in an unlimited amount. This credibility gain of the intervention promise, however, is overcompensated by decisive disadvantages of an unconditioned suspension of the settlement rules:

• The precondition of *monetary stability* could be violated because the asymmetrical adjustment constraints for the weak currency which is rational in the case of diverging inflation rates would be dropped. An unconditioned suspension of the settlement rules would, therefore, excuse the weak currency countries from monetary policy adjustments even if they prove to be necessary for preserving the monetary stability of the overall system.

• From the hard currency countries' perspective, an unconditioned revocation of the settlement rules would also violate the criterion of a sufficient *protection against opportunistic behaviour* of currencies with higher inflation rates. Following an expansive monetary policy and financing the resulting

balance of payments deficits by obligatory interventions of the hard currency countries would be an example for opportunistic behaviour of weak currency countries. As a consequence of the intervention financing the hard currency countries have to face the risk of an inflationary adjustment deriving from the interventions' liquidity effects if those exceed their sterilisation capacity.

Who nevertheless seeks to establish a vital protection against fundamentally inadequate adjustment constraints, a conditioned suspension competency of the settlement obligations should be considered. To minimize the risks of opportunistic behaviour the suspension cometency could be assigned to the EMI and tied to the precondition of a prior autonomization of the national central banks according to the institutional requirements laid down in the Maastricht Treaty. For defining the conditions that have to be fulfilled for activating the suspension competency certain rules for a direct coordination of national monetary policies are necessary. Overall it has been demonstrated that a temporary and conditioned suspension of the settlement obligations is sufficient to make the system's intervention promise credible for the markets. In order to meet all of the above required preconditions for a successful EMS reform, however, the merits of a suspension competency depends on a corresponding efficient mechanism for direct monetary policy coordination. Therefore, this proposal is clearly inferior to the forward intervention strategy. With forward interventions the monetary coordination mechanism would remain market determined, while at the same time inadequate adjustment constraints in case of speculative attacks are eleminated. With foward interventions the establishment of a mechanism for direct monetary policy coordination during the phase of transition as it has proved to be necessary for reforming the system by introducing a suspension competency could be avoided.

(29) Exchange Rate Management Competency of the Central Banks: Transferring the exchange rate management competency within the EMS to the central banks would be an important contribution for objectifying the existing rules of the system. The exchange rate adjustment mechanism could then be used more efficiently as an additional instrument of a direct monetary policy coordination than it was allowed for with the political exchange rate competency of the governments within the 'old EMS'. A credible and consistent use of the interest rate, intervention, and exchange rate adjustment instruments within the EMS would be guaranteed. The protection against opportunistic behaviour of individual governments is considerably improved. From the more political point of view, this should also increase the

central banks' willingness to enhance the cooperation of national monetary policies. Anyway, for the system as a whole a considerable credibility gain is to be expected. To avoid political disadvantages in terms of the Maastricht integration schedule shifting the exchange rate management competency to the central banks has to be limited to the all-day management of central rate adjustments within the system. The basic institutional government competency of modifying the exchange rate regime in general would not be affected. Deciding the if, when and how of the member states' return to the normal fluctuation margins as well as the final decision of entering the third stage remains an exclusive domain of national government's and parliament's involved. The suggested split of the exchange rate competency (*regime competency of the governments and management competency of the central banks*) fulfils both the political integration objective of the governments and the monetary stability objectives of the central banks. The pace of monetary integration would still be determined politically; however, with a divided exchange competency it would not be necessary to give up the advantages of a rate management competency of the central banks.

VI. A Strategy for Stage Two

(30) The following suggests a reform strategy for the European Monetary System (EMS) in the course of the second stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union (EEMU). Based on the integration schedule and procedure of the Maastricht Treaty, the proposals facilitate a criteria-orientated transition to the third and final stage by 1999 at the latest. First, the establishment of a *monetary autonomy standard* for Europe is suggested by improving and strenghening the institutional framework of the European Monetary Institute (EMI). The autonomy standard of the EMI should be orientated to the criterion of institutional convergence of the central banks involved according to the Maastricht Treaty. The monetary autonomy standard will be supplemented by a *two-track EMS*. For the core countries a *de facto monetary union* can be established by ultimately fixing the fluctuation margins. The core countries of the de facto monetary union remain tied to the countries of the periphery through a *modified exchange rate mechanism* which is considerably strengthe-

ned compared to the 'old EMS'. As an institutional link between the monetary autonomy standard and the two-tier European Monetary System the exchange rate management competency of the central banks is also transferred to the EMI.

(31) European Autonomy Standard: For our purposes it is suggested that the monetary autonomization of the national central banks according to the institutional standard of the ESCB is realized already at the beginning of stage two. As a 'Club of Autonomous Central Bank Governors', the EMI would be a credible forerunner of the ESCB. A *european autonomy standard* would be established. Concerning the exchange rate policy, the autonomy standard is supplemented by the exchange rate management competency within the 'new EMS' transferred to the EMI. Defending the exchange rates in the markets, the EMI then could autonomously decide on a suitable combination of the interest rate, intervention, and exchange rate adjustment instruments. In order to create sufficient incentives for the national governments to give up the exchange rate management competency within the 'new EMS', its transference to the EMI, as the prior autonomization of the central banks, should become a precondition for the participation in one of the two institutional arrangements of the new two-track EMS.

(32) <u>A Two-Track European Monetary System for the Transitional Stage Towards</u> <u>Monetary Union</u>: The integration strategy laid down in the Maastricht Treaty already implies a multi-track Europe for the further monetary integration on its way to monetary union. The strategy of a criteria-orientated transition to the third stage inevitably determines a multispeed transition for the individual countries. In this respect the following proposal of a two-track EMS for the course of stage two is in accordance with the scheduled multi-track strategy for the transition to the third stage. The necessity of a two-track EMS is mainly a consequence from the still existing economic convergence deficits in terms of monetary stability policy for some of the member states. Besides the precondition of institutional convergence with regard to the autonomy standard, the actually realized level of monetary stability should serve as the criterion for joining the *de facto monetary union* of the core countries. For participating in the *modified exchange rate mechanism* of the peripheral countries the institutional precondition of the european autonomy standard would be sufficient. (33) De Facto Monetary Union of the Core Countries: In order to create a de facto monetary union of the core countries it is not necessary that the states involved abolish the fluctuation margins around the fixed central rates. It is sufficient to return to the narrow margins of the 'old EMS'. These margins and the corresponding central rates, however, have to be ultimately fixed. For a credible and sustainable intervention promise to protect the de facto monetary union's exchange rates in the markets the otherwise unchanged rule system of the old EMS has to be supplemented by a symmetrical, unconditioned, and unlimited intervention obligation of the central banks in the forward market. The spot intervention obligations of the 'old EMS' are not to be abolished but only completed by obligatory forward interventions. While maintaining the existing spot intervention rules, the intervention obligation in the forward markets has two different effects. It provides for an efficient mechanism for monetary policy coordination within the de facto monetary union as for a credible intervention mechanism to protect the exchange rates against speculative attacks:

• The latter is ensured because a forward intervention promise is sustainable for the central banks and, therefore, is credible for the markets. The unlimited interventions of the central banks necessary to discourage a speculative attack are defused in terms of direct expansive liquidity effects. In the course of an attack, however, the speculants inevitably suffer exchange losses of an amount equal to the intramarginal inter currency interest rate differences as indicated in the swap rates.

• The necessary interest rate coordination within the de facto monetary union is ensured by the certain combination of spot and foward interventions. The remaining asymmetry for financing spot interventions, forces the weak currency countries to activate the symmetrically designed forward intervention mechanism by establishing an intramarginal inter currency interest rate difference in favour of the weak currency. The interest rate coordination mechanism, therefore, would essentially remain market-determined. However, the risk of inadequate monetary adjustment constraints as a consequence of fundamentally irrational attacks is reduced to the establishment of intramarginal interest rate differences to activate the foward intervention mechanism.

The here suggested reform meets all criteria and preconditions required in this paper for the implementation of a stability-orientated fixed rate system. The transition from the de facto monetary union as a 'core EMS' to the third stage of monetary union could take place according to the procedure and timetable laid down in the Maastricht Treaty by 1999 at the latest.

(34) Modified Exchange Rate Mechanism with the Periphery: Those countries not yet able to meet the preconditions of monetary stability according to the ex ante agreed inflation standard should be tied to the core countries' de facto union by reestablishing the exchange rate mechanism of the 'old EMS' in an improved and strengthened version. The institutional convergence of the monetary autonomy standard, including the exchange rate management competency of the central banks within the rate mechanism, is the only precondition for participating in this modified exchange rate mechanism of the periphery. For countries which meet the citerion of institutional convergence, the exchange rate mechanism of the EMS should be re-established within the normal fluctuation margins of $\pm/2,25\%$. In order to find a convincing response to the far-reaching loss of credibility which the 'old EMS' suffered from the 1992/93 crisis, it is suggested to strengthen the intervention rules by introducing a case-by-case suspension competency should also be assigned to the EMI and should be decided by mutual consent of the central banks involved.

(35) <u>Final Remarks</u>: With the extended fluctuation margins of +/-15% the convergence criteria of the Maastricht Treaty have proved to be prohibitive for further progress towards the European Monetary Union. Therefore, in order to establish a monetary union by 1999 at the latest an additional reform strategy outside the EEC-Treaty is necessary to re-establish the EMS. A 'new EMS' proves to be a precondition for the transition to the third stage. The above suggested reform has the advantage to facilitate such a reform outside the EEC-Treaty without contravening its principles or requiring any modifications. It meets each of the required preconditions for a stability-orientated fixed rate system. In terms of a successful european integration policy, the rationality of realizing the European Monetary Union before the turn of the century is met, as is the central bank's rationality of preserving and even strengthen monetary stability. The proposal, therefore, proves to be the result of a rationality mix which is suitable to bring back the process of european monetary integration on the track of the Maastricht Treaty.

Introduction

Fixed rate systems are institutions with economic benefits (or damages) determined by their inherent economic mechanics, the so-called "rules of the game"¹.

In a fixed rate system, the 'rules of the game' are the result of the system's institutional design interacting with the prevailing conditions of the capital and foreign exchange markets. The market conditions can be described as the relevant environment of a fixed rate system. According to Mundell's terminology, a fixed rate system's set of rules is to its market conditions "like a constitution (...) to a political or electoral system"². The market conditions prove to be the 'modus operandi' of the rule system.

Currency crises as specific malfunctions of a fixed rate system are, like the systems' functioning, the result of its institutional design under given market conditions. Therefore, analysing currency crises and reform considerations to avoid them, also has to be orientated to the system's set of rules and its market conditions.

The European Monetary System (EMS) is an institutionalized fixed rate system. Its rule system was established in 1978/79 by contractual agreements between the governments and central banks involved. Except for a few modifications by the Basle/Nyborg-Agreement in 1987, the initial set of rules has remained unchanged. The extension of the bilateral exchange rate bands to +/-15% as a consequence of the currency crisis of July 1993, however, comes close to a de facto suspension of the systems' rules. It also fundamentally questions the way towards European Monetary Union scheduled in the Maastricht Treaty.

¹) The term is originally attributed to J.M. Keynes. In his "Economic Consequences of Mr. Churchill" (1925, p.220) Keynes describes the monetary adjustment measures of the Bank of England as "rules of the gold standard game"; see for corresponding references Bloomfield (1959, p.47) and Eichengreen (1985, p.14) and for systematically using the term to describe the economic mechanics of historic fixed rate systems McKinnon (1993).

²) Mudell (1972, p.92). Similarly, he distinguishes between currency system and currency order: "An order, as distinct from a system, represents the framework and setting in which the system operates"; ibid, p.92.

This report, therefore, is to develope reform strategies for the EMS in order to re-establish its functioning during stage two of the European Economic and Monetary Union (EEMU), which - on the basis of the Maastricht Treaty - is a prerequisite for the transition to the third stage by 1999 at the latest.

The current state of european monetary integration described in *chapter I* of the report is used as starting point and given condition for reforming the EMS. The second stage's institutional settings are considered, as are the regulations about liberalizing capital and exchange markets and other constituent principles of the Maastricht Treaty. It is assumed that the objectives and strategies of integration agreed on in Maastricht are given. All examined reform options, therefore, refer to additional measures not concerning the Union Treaty. These options can be passed and implemented by the governments and central banks involved without the necessity of modifying the treaty.

Chapter II works out the theoretical background for deducting various reform options. A general institutional setting for fixed rate systems is introduced and the various institutional design options are developed in detail. The functioning of a fixed rate systems is explained by the interaction of its rule system with the conditions of the capital and exchange markets. Currency crises as specific malfunctions of a fixed rate system are also interpreted as a necessary result of the system's rules and market conditions. Thereby, the theoretical patterns developed also become available for the analysis of reasons for those crises (chapter IV) and for corresponding reform considerations to avoid them (chapters V and VI).

However, *chapter III* first describes the institutional arrangement of the EMS as a specification of the general framework. Its functioning is explained by the interaction of the systems'rules which asymmetrically burden weak-currency countries and the conditions of initially still regulated, but since the late 1980s more and more liberalized capital and exchange markets. First, the systemically determined liquidity and reserve effects of the EMS's intervention and credit mechanism are derived to find out the systems' relevant symmetry characteristics. The formally symmetrical constructed intervention rules are dominated by one-sided asymmetrical reserve effects for the weak currency countries as a result of the intervention financing and settlement mechanism. The part of Mundell's

'electoral system' has been assigned to the markets. The markets alone determine whether a participating currency is regarded as being weak or strong according to the rules. The monetary adjustment constraints, which asymmetrically burden weak currency countries, then result from the liquidity and reserve effects of the intervention. These effects are triggered by the markets but the general structure setting out the burden sharing between hard and weak currencies is systemically determined by the specific construction of the relevant rules.

On the basis of a systematic understanding of the EMS, *chapter IV* analyzes also its malfunctions. The reasons for the currency crises of 1992/93 are analyzed as being mainly system-inherent consequences of the EMS's 'rules of the game'. With the liberalization of capital and exchange markets the system's functioning and stability became even more dependent on the market conditions than it used to be during the eighties. With the liberalization the rules' credibility for the markets became an indispensible condition for the EMS to exist. The political failure to make the EMS fit for the fundamentally changing market conditions by adequatly adjusting its rules is recognized as a principal reason for the increasing system-inherent instability of the EMS, as well as the changed political handling of existing rules. Fundamentally irrational capital and exchange market speculations initially led to a 'false' stabilization of fundamentally more and more inadequate exchange rates until mid-1992 (='convergence trading'). Then, during the currency crises since fall 1992, the speculants forced the de facto suspension of the EMS. In its essence the crisis can be described as a speculative asymmetry crisis of the specific fixed rate institution EMS.

With reference to the general institutional framework *chapter V* develops and evaluates different reform options to re-establish the EMS during the phase of transition to European Monetary Union. A high degree of monetary stability within the system, the protection from inflationary influences from other member states, and a sufficient protection from inadequate monetary adjustment constraints are derived as indispensible criteria for feasible reform strategies and are used as strict preconditions for the following considerations. Then, appropriate modifications of the EMS's set of rules are developed and analyzed with regard to the objective of restoring credible rules for the markets.

3

Out of this pool of feasible reform options a detailed reform strategy is formulated in *chapter VI*. Besides re-establishing a 'new EMS' that might work even under the conditions of fully liberalized capital and exchange markets, the proposed reform strategy proves to be suitable for the transition to the third stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union. In its core it proposes the implementation of a *European Autonomy Standard* for monetary policy with the beginning of the second stage. The autonomy standard is supplemented by a *two-track European Monetary System* with a de facto Monetary Union of the core countries and a modified exchange rate mechanism for the periphery. Thereby, the obstruction of the Maastricht Treaty within the extended exchange rate margins is removed and the scheduled transition mechanism is re-established without modifying the convergence-orientated monetary y stability criteria stipulated in the Treaty.

I. Current State of European Monetary Integration

The European Community has entered the second stage of the Economic and Monetary Union. This stage, which has started January 1, 1994, is a preparatory phase for the transition to the third. With the establishment of a European Central Bank and the introduction of a common european currency the third is the final stage of european monetary integration process.

With the beginning of the second stage the European Monetary Institute (EMI) has been founded. The EMI in an institutionalized form replaces the Committee of Central Bank Presidents which is disbanded with the beginning of stage two. The main responsibilities of the EMI are the coordination of the member states' monetary policies, the control and management of the European Monetary System, and the necessary technical and organizational preparations for entering the final stage. The decisive characteristic of the second stage as being a preparatory instead of a training phase results from the contractual requirement that during the phase of transition the monetary policy competency remains completely on the national level of the individual member countries:

"The EMI shall carry out the tasks and functions conferred upon it by this Treaty and this Statue without prejudice to the responsibility of the competent authorities for the conduct of the monetary policy within respective Member States ." (Art. 3.1; Protocol on the Statue of the European Monetary Institute; Treaty on European Union)

The Maastricht Treaty, therefore, has abstained from an institutionalized learning process in the course of a training phase for the future European Central Bank (ECB).

Besides the preparatory works for the third stage, the institutional upgrading of the Committee of Governors³ nevertheless explicitly schedules a "strengthening (of; R.V.) the coordination of monetary policies with a view to ensuring price stability" (Art. 2) already

³) The <u>main institutional innovations compared to the status quo of the Committee of Governors are that the</u> Council of the EMI is headed by a "full-time" president who is not at the same time a governor of one of the national central banks involved (art.9). The members of the Council act on their own responsibility and are not allowed to obtain or accept any directions from agencies or institutions of the Community or from the member states' governments (art.8).
for the course of the transitional phase. Concerning the EMS it is stipulated that, besides its control and management through the takeover of the European Monetary Cooperation Fund (EMCF), the EMI may present the governments council statements or recommendations concerning measures "which might affect the internal or external monetary situation in the Community and, in particular, the functioning of the EMS." (Art. 5.1).

Provided that measures of direct monetary policy coordination or modifications of the EMS's rule system prove to be necessary for a successful transition to the third stage, the Union Treaty predetermines and entitles the EMI for its conceptual preparation and implementation.

The beginning of the final stage is supposed to be determined in the course of stage two. If it is not agreed by the end of 1997, the third and final stage will start January 1, 1999. The European Council in the composition of the heads of state ro government has to decide by a qualified majority which countries fulfil the necessary conditions for entering the third stage. The qualifying standard for participating is whether the individual member states meet the convergence criteria specified in the treaty. For the design of the national monetary policies during the second stage it is of exceptional (but normally understated) importance, that, besides the four macroeconomic convergence criteria, the treaty requires as an additional *institutional convergence criterion* the adjustment of the national central bank legislation to the statutes of the European System of Central Banks (ESCB) in the course of stage two:

"Each Member State shall ensure, at the latest at the date of the establishment of the ESCB, that its national legislation including the statues of its national central bank is compatible with this Treaty and the Statue of the ESCB." (Art. 108, Treaty on European Union)

" During the second stage, each Member State shall, as appropriate, start the process leading to the independence of its central bank, in accordance with Art. 108." (Art. 109e.5, Treaty on European Union)

Since this criterion essentially demands the timely establishment of the national central bank's institutional convergence with the future ESCB's autonomy standard specified in the treaty, it will subsequently be called 'autonomy criterion'.

In order to enter the final stage, the third macroeconomic convergence criterion requires a country to keep its currency within the normal band in the EMS's exchange rate mechanism for at least the last two years before without a devaluation against another member currency:

"The criterion on participation in the exchange-rate mechanism of the European Monetary System (...) shall mean that a Member State has respected the normal fluctuation margins provided for by the exchange-rate mechanism of the European Monetary System without severe tensions for at least the last two years before the examination. In particular, the Member State shall not have devalued its currency's bilateral central rate against any other Member State's currency on its own initiative for the same period." (Art. 3; Protocol on the Convergence Criteria Referred to in Article 109j of the Treaty Establishing the European Community)

 $\sqrt{2}$

By respective EMS agreements the normal band is defined as a bilateral fluctuation margin of $+/-2,25\%^4$. The transition to the extended bands of +/-15% on August 1, 1993, therefore, is clearly contrary to the exchange rate criterion of the Maastricht Treaty. As long as a member state does not at least return to the normal band, it will be barred from entering the third stage⁵.

The de facto suspension of the EMS proves to a criteria- and, therefore, a contract inherent obstruction for the transition to the third stage. Returning to the normal band of the EMS becomes a necessary precondition for further progress of the Maastricht integration strategy. Hence it follows that the second stage's main focus should be to re-establish the EMS's exchange rate mechanism.

⁴) See the Agreement of March 13,1979 between the Central Banks of the Member States of the European Economic Community stipulating the operating procedures for the European Monetary System; printed in: Texts concerning the European Monetary System (1985,p.25-40). The introduction of the agreement says: "Whereas under the terms of the said Resolution (of the European Council of December 5,1978 on the establishment of a European Monetary System; R.V.)(...) fluctuation margins of 2.25% will be fixed around these bilateral central rates, although Member States not at present participating in the narrower margins mechanism may in the initial stage of the European Monetary System opt for wider margins of up to 6 per cent"; ibid p.24.

⁵) The argument not only derives from the legal position cited above but also from the economical and political dimension of the 'de facto floating' within the extended bands. Sooner or later necessarily occuring exchange rate fluctuations within the 30% margin will politically be interpreted as a proof for still insufficient convergence; the transition to stage three then becomes dependent on the exchange rate stability in the markets and is entirely subject to the 'dictate' of fundamentally irrational capital and exchange speculation. A direct transition from the 'de facto floating' to the final stage will prove to be impossible. Therefore, the return to a reformed and for market participants credible EMS becomes a necessary economic and political precondition for further progress toward European Monetary Union.

To avoid further modifications of the Union Treaty, which would need to be ratified by the national parliaments, the EMS reform should be implemented by using the EMI procedures and competencies without modifying the Treaty. The way of reforming the EMS by means of agreements between the governments and central banks involved is in accordance with the foundation as well as the further institutional adjustments the EMS since it was implemented in 1978/79. Its institutional core is based on agreements between the participating central banks which are not part of the EEC Treaty. Thereby a transfer of monetary competencies of the individual member states to community institutions can be avoided without endangering the reform essentials. The second stage is merely extended and efficiently used. However, its character as a preparatory phase with furthermore national monetary policy competencies remains unchanged. Thereby, from the central banks' point of view, an essential policy condition for supporting an EMS reform initiative is already fulfilled.

II. Fixed Rate Systems: A General Institutional Framework

"The choice in economic policy is a choice of institutions". (Coase 1984, p. 230)

The design of institutionalized fixed rate systems has essentially remained an exclusive issue of practical policy. Only recently it has become a subject of systematic theoretical analysis⁶.

Likewise the EMS is an exclusive result of policy initiatives without any worth mentioning theoretical assistance⁷. Only in recent years some theoretic work in institutional analysis of fixed rate systems has been done. With an improved understanding of the gold standard and the historic experience with the Bretton Woods System and the EMS, the essentials for a systematic analysis of institutionalized exchange rate systems can be derived⁸. Chapter II works out these essentials in a general framework for institutional analysis of fixed rate systems. The following chapters then apply the general framework to the EMS and deduct a systematic and theoretically sound analysis of various reform options.

2.1 Definitions

Rules and rule structures are important elements of economic institutions. Fixed rate systems are institutions which - as a politically intended and established rule system in interaction with its relevant envrionment - produces certain economic results. The relevant

⁶) An exception is of course J.M. Keynes who fundamentally contributed to the design of the world monetary order of the post war era with his theoretically motivated preparatory work during the Bretton Woods Conference in 1943/44; see Keynes (1943/69;1980,Bd.XXV + XXVI).

⁷) "To tell the truth we have to admit, that the politicians alone deserve the merits of the (EMS-; R.V.) success-story. None of the academic economists has guarded the cradle of the EMS and when it was christened most of them have been critics. Today they lead the procession against the European Monetary Union." Sievert, Olaf; Money that can not be self-created, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung of September 26,1992,p.13 (translated by R.V.). For the foundation and history of the EMS see Ludlow (1982) and from the perspective of the German Bundesbank Emminger (1986,p.356-372).

⁸) See Bofinger (1987; 1989; 1991), Bofinger/Gerberding (1988) and McKinnon (1993) which contains a comprehensive and current survey of the relevant literature. For similar attempts see Hasse (1984) and Miller/Eichengreen/Portes (1989). The terminology used in this study essentially follows Bofinger (1991).

environment of fixed rate systems is mainly determined by the conditions of the capital and exchange markets. Markets are also part of the economic institutional system. A fixed rate system's rule structure and its market conditions thus prove to be a suitable object of institutional analysis:

"If rules influence outcomes and if some outcomes are better than others it follows that to that extent that rules can be chosen the study and analysis of comparative rules and institutions become proper objects of our attention" (Brennan/Buchanan (1987), p.XI)

According to this basic ideas, chapter II developes a general institutional framework for fixed rate systems and their market conditions. In chapters III and IV this framework is applied to the EMS's problems in question. From the resulting pool of reform options (chapter V) a suitable institutional reform strategy for the EMS is proposed in chapter VI.

2.2. Basic Institutional Structure

The set of rules of a fixed rate system is essentially a mechanism for allocating its inherent monetary adjustment constraints. These adjustment constraints are triggered by market transactions. However, the intensity and direction of the market transactions' impact is essentially determined by the specific design of the rules. The rule structure can be

classified and described in five different categories of rules. Besides the monetary coordination mechanism, these categories contain the intervention rules, the financing mechanism (consisting of settlement rules and credit facilities), the reserve rules, and the exchange rate adjustment mechanism (s.fig.1)



Together with the financing mechanisms and the reserve rules, the intervention rules constitute the core of a fixed rate system. It determines the allocation and intensity of liquidity and reserve effects caused by interventions. The system's inherent monetary adjustment constraints are essentially resulting from these effects. Another constituent

element is the exchange rate adjustment mechanism. In contrast to a de facto monetary union, fixed rate systems explicitly preserve the option of regular central rate adjustments. Thereby member states can evade policy adjustment constraints by case to case adjustments of their exchange rates.

The allocation of monetary adjustment burdens among the participating member currencies is described by the system's symmetry characteristics. A fixed rate system of uncovered paper currencies can either be designed asymmetrically burdening hard currency countries $(='weak \ currency \ standard')$ or asymmetrically burdening weak currency countries $(='hard \ currency \ standard')$ or symmetrical $(='compromise \ standard')$. The symmetry characteristics determine the system's internal monetary stability standard⁹. In the following, the symmetry term is used on different system levels; however, the symmetry characteristics of the overall system result only from the interaction of the specific symmetry characteristics of its individual rule components. The dominant rule determines the overall result.

The symmetry characteristics of the inherent liquidity and reserve effects are resulting from the interaction of the several individual rule components. These rule-determined effects can be modified by the relative size of the member states concerning their foreign exchange reserves and monetary sterilization capacity. Activated by free market transactions evaluating the various member currencies, the resulting systemic liquidity and reserve effects then determine the actually effective monetary adjustment constraints and thereby define the symmetry characteristics of the overall system. Following this basic structure, the individual rule components and their interaction is analyzed in section 2.3.. Modified by the determinants of relative size of the participating states (section 2.4), the systemically determined liquidity and reserve effects can be described (section 2.5). Triggered by capital and exchange market transactions (section 2.6), these effects determine the actually effective monetary adjustment constraints of a fixed rate system (section 2.7).

(6)

⁹) Uncovered paper currency systems are ex definitionem lacking an external stability standard. The internal one is essentially a monetary policy standard. According to the distinction between external and internal standards we can speak of real (goods or gold standards) and nominal (paper standard) anchorage of a monetary system. Fixed rate systems of uncovered paper currencies only provide a nominal anchorage: the overall system is tied to the (nominal) monetary policy standard of individual member currencies. The structure of this "tying" is described by the system's symmetry characteristics.

2.3. Rule Components

Each rule component within the institutional structure of a fixed rate system contains a number of different design alternatives. Deducting the system's rules of the game we at first have to analyse the specific composition and interaction of the different rules and thereby taking into account their specific design details. An intervention rule A and a credit mechanism B in combination with a settlement rule C may cause different adjustment constraints and overall symmetry characteristics than the same combination of intervention rules and credit facilities with a settlement rule D. The different combinations of design alternatives can be summarized by defining various types of fixed rate systems characterized by different monetary stability and symmetry characteristics¹⁰.

2.3.1. Monetary Coordination Mechanism

Fixed rate systems can be described as mechanisms providing a coordination structure for national monetary policies. Nevertheless, monetary policy coordination in fixed rate systems seems to be means and end at the same time. Obviously the first objective of a fixed rate system is the stabilization of exchange rates. Coordinating the monetary policies of the member states is only necessary to the extent that is needed to maintain exchange rate stability. For our purpose, the monetary coordination mechanism is described in the following as an integrated component of a fixed rate system and not as the system itself.

The monetary policy coordination of a fixed rate system can either be effected ex post through the resulting adjustment constraints of the system. Coordination is then the result of the system's adjusment mechanics triggered by the markets. It can be described as a *market coordination* or indirect coordination of monetary policy. On the other hand, monetary coordination can also be effected ex ante as a direct monetary coordination of the responsible currency authorities. Analagous to market coordination, the direct coordination can be described as *authority coordination*. As an additional terminological distinction, the term

¹⁰) For such a typology of different systems see Bofinger (1991; p.153-179) and McKinnon (1993).

simple fixed rate system is used in the following in distinction to complex fixed rate systems when no mechanism for a direct coordination of monetary policy is provided.

Monetary coordination in *simple fixed rate systems*, therefore, is solely triggered by the markets, whereas complex fixed rate systems provide rules and/or procedures for a direct coordination of monetary policies. The institutional design alternatives of monetary coordination in simple fixed rate systems are accordingly limited to regulations of the capital and exchange markets to influence and ensure their proper functioning as an instrument for indirect monetary policy coordination. With fully liberalized capital and exchange movements the indirect coordination is completely dominated by free market transactions and speculation. The rationality of the monetary coordination mechanism then exactly corresponds to the fundamental rationality of the markets.

In complex fixed rate systems the central banks try to coordinate their monetary policies directly in order to realize the monetary convergence necessary for the stabilization of the exchange rate relations. With the ex ante coordination process they try to convince the markets of this convergence to thereby avoid market-determined ex post adjustment constraints. Designing a direct coordination process we have to choose among several alternatives in substance and organizational detail. In its substance a direct monetary coordination can either be conducted along certain ex ante agreed rules or follow a discretionary case to case strategy¹¹. Institutionally, it can be organized either without or within a defined 'governance structure'. Ultimately any direct authority coordination remains subject to a certain degree of indirect control since it is constantly tested by the markets. If it appears to be insufficient or implausible in the judgement of the markets, it will not provide ultimate protection against the systemic consequences of fundamentally irrational market speculations. Mechanisms for a direct monetary policy coordination may prove to be necessary for a successful stabilization of exchange rates but definitely they are not sufficient. As long as the monetary policy sovereignty remains on the national level, any kind of monetary coordination for stabilizing exchange rates remains dependent on the judgement and acceptance of the markets.

¹¹) For details see the standard texts of McKinnon (1984; 1988) and Williamson/Miller (1987).

2.3.2. Intervention Rules

The intervention rules of a fixed rate system should unambiguously stipulate the circumstances and extent the member states are obliged to intervene in order to keep the system's exchange rate promise. Besides the choice of an exchange rate standard it is necessary to define and establish the bilateral central rates, fluctuation margins and intervention points.

When choosing an *exchange rate standard* it is important to take into account the consequences of the various standards for the distribution of intervention obligations among the member currencies. The distribution of intervention obligations is an initial formal determinant of the system's symmetry characteristics. Besides the effect that a contradictory design of the fluctuation margins and/or the intervention points can (over-) compensate the symmetry implications of the formal intervention rules, the choice of an exchange rate standard nevertheless can be an important signal of the intended overall symmetry characteristics. Three different types of exchange rate standards can be distinguished:

The first option is the key currency standard. Here, all participating nations are obliged to establish a bilateral exchange rate of their currency towards the key currency. They have to defend this rate in the exchange markets by means of intervention. As an exeption of this rule the role of the key currency is characterized by it's passivity in defending the exchange rates in the markets. The key currency is not subject to any intervention obligations. Therfore, it's monetary authorities are not forced to accept any monetary adjustment constraints caused by liquidity and reserve effects due to interventions¹². The remaining monetary degree of freedom is in-

¹²) This clearly shows, that in the Bretton Woods System the dollar has become the de jure key currency of the system only with the suspension of the dollar's convertability into gold in August 1971 ('closing the gold window'). Until then the dollar had been subject to a gold intervention obligation like the other countries had been subject to a foreign exchange intervention obligation. Prior to 1971 the dollar's de facto key currency position was based on the irregular passivity of the USA in the foreign exchange markets. This passivity, however, was accepted by the other member states. In addition, most of the (n-1) participating countries generally renounced from redeeming their gold convertibility rights from the dollar reserves accumulated by intervening in support of the dollar. This conduct was an additional guarantee of the dollar's de facto key currency position.

stitutionally guaranteed by rule to the key currency as the n-th currency of the system¹³. Consequently, a key currency standard is designed entirely asymmetrically burdening the (n-1)-countries of the system.

- The bilateral parity grid is the second type of exchange rate standard. In a bilateral parity grid the central rates of the member currencies are established bilaterally, with n participating countries resulting in n(n-1)/2 bilateral central rates. For a bilateral parity grid symmetrical intervention obligations can be expected at least in a formal sense.
- As a third option, the central rates can be defined with respect to a *currency basket* in which each participating currency counts for a certain weight. The symmetry characteristics of a currency basket are more complicated since a currency's exchange rate towards the basket currency is the weighted average of its bilateral exchange rates towards the individual currencies participating in the basket. It, therefore, is conceivable that contradictory exchange rate fluctuations of individual currencies within the system offset each other and consequently are not reflected in its basket rate. In a currency basket standard, therefore, one can assume symmetry characteristics unilaterally burdening the currencies counting for the highest weights in the basket and whose exchange rate deviates the most from the basket average¹⁴.

Each of the various currency standards including the basket standard demands the explicit definition of bilateral central rates. Establishing bilateral central rates one can refer to normative models of defining the 'correct' exchange rate or simply follow the given market rates. An important aspect for defining the fluctuation margins is the criterion of *overlapping bands* in case of central rate adjustments. Overlapping bands can help to reduce the probability of 'one-way bets' in the markets. They reduce the predictability of the future

¹³) In accordance with the distinction between de jure and de facto key currencies, Matthes (1988; p.31) distinguishes "born" and "elected" key currencies. For the following we always use the term key currency according to a de jure key currency, whereas a market determined key currency is described as an anchor currency.

¹⁴) See Kleinheyer (1987; pp.48) for more detail.

spot rate within the new band because the spot rate does not necessarily have to fall below the lower limit of the former margin.

A fourth design detail of intervention rules is the specific construction of intervention points. If a currency reaches its intervention point, the system's intervention rules are automatically activated. The upper intervention point describes the maximum exchange rate, the lower intervention point describes the minimum rate of a currency within the system. At the upper intervention point a country is obliged to prevent a further revaluation of its currency by intervening in support of the weak currency. At the lower point of intervention, weak currency countries are obliged to support their own currency by purchasing it against the strong currency. We speak of symmetrical intervention points if the upper and lower point of intervention are in the same distance from the bilaterally defined central rate. With asymmetrically constructed intervention points, obligations to intervene exist either at the upper (='soft currency version') or at the lower (='hard currency version') intervention points. As an alternative design detail the intervention points' distance from the bilateral central rate can be defined differently for the two currencies involved. An example for asymmetrical intervention points is a currency basket standard in which individual currencies count for different weights. If such a basket standard is 'translated' into a bilateral parity grid, it results in asymmetrical bilateral fluctuation margins and intervention points.

Analyzing the intervention rules of fixed rate systems it is important to examine if and to what extent the symmetry characteristics of the intervention rules are concealed by the corresponding financing mechanism of the system. Even formally symmetrically designed intervention rules may result in asymmetrical systemic adjustment constraints due to the corresponding settlement rules. The intervention rule's formal symmetry characteristics by themselves only decide on the technical implementation of the interventions in the markets and may prove to be insignificant for the system's adjustment mechanics. Resulting already from the at first accidental distribution of intervention obligations among the central banks in the course of a currency crisis, it is not sufficient to stipulate only the technical aspect of carrying out the interventions in the markets. To prevent an accidential distribution of adjustment constraints resulting from the liquidity and reserve effects of interventions a corresponding intervention finance mechanism is required.

2.3.3. Mechanisms of Intervention Financing

The finance mechanism of a fixed rate system consists of credit facilities and settlement obligations. Although we will find identical design details for these two elements, they refer to very different aspects of the intervention financing and, therefore, are analyzed separately.

2.3.3.1. Credit Facilities

In order to relax the existing budget restriction for weak currency countries intervening at their lower intervention point, a fixed rate system with intervention obligations needs corresponding intervention credit facilities. The budget restriction of weak currency countries result from the limited funds of hard currency reserves as freely available intervention assets for defending the exchange rate at its lower intervention point. Intervention promises at the lower intervention point can only be kept and, therefore, be credible from the markets' point of view as long as the affected countries have access to appropriate hard currency intervention reserves. Only the central bank of the hard currency itself can guarantee these reserves unlimitedly. The certain extent of loosening the budget restriction through credit facilities depends on the facilities'particular conditions. Besides the overall amount of the credit facility the most important conditions are the maturity, interest rate, and the denomination of repayment obligations:

From the markets' point of view, the amount and maturity of credit facilities are the most important determinants for the credibility of a weak currency country's intervention promise. Any limitations - concerning both the amount and maturity - lead to the re-establish the budget restriction in the course of a currecy crisis. Thereby the intervention promise of the weak currency country becomes untrustworthy and an exchange rate adjustment corresponding to the market pressure will prove to be inevitable¹⁵.

¹⁵) However, this does not result in the simple rule that an intervention promise to be credible for the markets only requires unlimited mutual credit facilities. Intervention facilities of this kind do not take into account the monetary consequences of the liquidity effects associated with credit-financed interventions for the hard currency creditor countries. If the expansionary money base effects due to interventions exceeds their sterilization capacities the consequences of an unlimited intervention facility will become *unsustainable* from

The interest rate and currency denomination of the repayment obligations determine both the credit facility's costs and the allocation of the exchange rate risk connected with the credit.

Besides the credit mechanisms' importance in terms of intervention policy, it implies an additional financing aspect concerning the balance of payments. When intervention financing is demanded over a longer term it may become a credit for permanently financing fundamental balance of payments deficits. Longer maturities for international credit facilities, therefore, are normally 'conditional', i.e. they are bound to economic policy measures which are supposed to re-establish the conditions for a market-financed balance of payments.

2.3.3.2. Settlement Rules

In contrast to credit facilities, settlement obligations do not help to finance interventions of weak currency countries at their lower intervention limit but stipulate the financing of interventions carried out by a hard currency country reaching its upper intervention point. Interventions at the upper intervention limit are purchases in support of the weak currency against the own hard currency. As a consequence, the domestic money base of the hard currency increases in the amount of the intervention. At the same time, the central bank accumulates currency reserves denominated in the weak currency. In the context of settlement rules weak currency reserves of hard currency central banks accumulated by obligatory interventions establish a claim towards the central bank of the weak currency to reexchange the reserves into hard currency. The weak currency central bank, therefore, is obliged to redeem the hard currency central bank's weak currency reserves purchased in support interventions at its upper intervention point and to convert them into hard currency. *With settlement obligations the weak currency central bank is obliged to finance the hard*

a monetary policy perspective. The markets then will anticipate an *opting out* of the hard currency central bank. Intervention promises, therefore, have to be credible for the markets from the weak currency countries' perspective but at the same time they have to be sustainable from the monetary policy perspective of the hard currency countries (see appendix I).

*currency central bank's interventions*¹⁶. Since the central bank with the weak currency needs hard currency assets to meet its settlement obligations, settlement transactions are subject to the budget restriction of limited intervention reserves. They cause similar reserve effects as the central bank's own interventions. In the end, each support intervention, therefore, has to be financed by the weak currency country itself, regardless of which central bank involved has carried out the interventions in the market. As much as credit facilities contribute to the relief of the budget restriction, settlement obligations lead to its further tightening.

Similar to credit facilities, for designing a settlement obligation it is especially important to fix its amount, maturity, and the denomination of the settlement transactions.

- Amount and maturity both determine the course of the budget restriction and the degree to which it is tightened. Besides the quantitative dimension of limited or unlimited settlement obligations, their qualitative dimension is of importance, i.e. the question whether they are independent of or conditioned to certain reasons and circumstances of the interventions.
- Besides the allocation of the exchange rate risk, the denomination of the settlement transactions determines whether other reserve assets in addition to the hard currency can also be used to meet the settlement obligations. The use of additional reserve assets is a certain relief for weak currency countries since they can use the whole of their currency reserves (including gold and other reserve assets) for settling the balance and not only the part of its reserves denominated in the hard currency.

¹⁶) From the accounting point of view, interventions of hard currency central banks in fixed rate systems with settlement obligations are treated similar to a credit granted to the weak currency country. The exchange obligations deriving from the settlement process correspond to the repayment obligation of financing interventions by using the system's very short term credit facilities.

2.3.4. Reserve Rules

The purchase, holding, investment, and employment of intervention reserves can produce liquidity and other monetary policy effects for the reserve currency's central bank. Therefore, certain reserve rules should be agreed upon. Reserve rules determine in what form central banks are allowed to hold their intervention reserves in member currencies (='reserve investment rules') and to what extent they are allowed to accumulate those currencies (='reserve limitation rules'):

- Reserve investment rules are an important determinant of the liquidity effects resulting from interventions. Expansionary money base effects always occur when the currency reserves of the intervening central bank were previously invested at the central bank issuing the intervention currency. In comparison, intervention assets from market investments do not affect the central bank money circulation of the intervention currency and remain limited to liquidity effects to the broader non-bank liquidity aggregates of money supply.
- For the individual central banks, the amount of reserves denominated in intervention currencies is a decisive determinant of the remaining monetary degree of freedom within a fixed rate system. By using its intervention reserves a country can at least temporarily evade the system's monetary adjustment constraints or it can gain time for the implementation of suitable adjustment policies.

Obviously any central bank can purchase and invest unlimited currency reserves in the market by organizing their domestic money supply in the way of purchasing intervention currencies and hold them in liquid and always available market investments. They can practice their monopoly of issuing central bank money by purchasing foreign exchange. Nevertheless, the accumulation of those intervention reserves is limited by the instrumental and institutional conditions of domestic money supply policies. In principle, however, the individual central banks' scope of accumulating foreign exchange reserves is considerable. For an explicit limitation of this scope an agreement on reserve rules is necessary.

2.3.5. Exchange Rate Adjustment Mechanism

For each fixed rate system, the possibility of an exchange rate adjustment is a sort of loophole to evade the system's adjustment constraints or to forestall the markets' pressure towards such adjustment constraints. The institutional design and operation of the exchange rate adjustment mechanism, therefore, is an important determinant for the degree of system inherent economic adjustment pressure and the credibility of the exchange rate promise from the markets' point of view. Rule-determined or discretionary exchange adjustment mechanisms are the basic design alternatives:

■ Rule-determined adjustment mechanisms can also be described as *formula flexibility*. The changes in the exchange rates follow a specified rule or formula and are 'objectively' given for all countries involved. In technical detail, those adjustment automatisms are conceivable as either ex ante or ex post rules. Ex ante rules determine the course and extent of the exchange rate development already in advance, whereas in ex post rules, they follow a certain formula in the course of time. Ex post rules, therefore, facilitate the agreement on economically efficient adjustment rules in substance and not - like the ex ante rules - in an exclusively formal sense. Provided that the economic rationality of an adjustment formula is accepted by the markets, it substantially contributes to the credibility of the exchange rate promise and, therefore, to the stability of the overall system.

• As an alternative to the rule-determined formula flexibility exchange rate adjustment mechanisms can follow a discretionary case by case strategy. In principle, *discretionary adjustments* of the exchange rate can be carried out within a 'governance structure' or without being tied to specific procedural rules. Without procedural rules, each member state can autonomously and without being forced to reach a formal agreement with the other member countries involved adjust its central rate. Within a 'governance structure' exchange rate adjustments follow certain ex ante determined procedural rules and competencies. Thereby the most important institutional choice alternatives are whether the governments (=political exchange rate competency) or the central banks (=monetary exchange rate competency) have the exchange rate competency and in which way the institutionalized discussion and decision process within the 'governance structure' is organized.

2.4. Size of a Country

Besides the rule-determined symmetry characteristics, the relative size of the member states is important for the internal allocation of a fixed rate system's monetary adjustment constraints. A country's relative size within a fixed rate system is essentially determined by its monetary sterilization capacity and the amount of its freely available hard currency intervention reserves¹⁷:

- The sterilization capacity depends on the amount of a member country's domestic money base and the national monetary autority's capacity to control it. The more and flexible controllable the national money base proves to be the more easy a country can sterilize intervention-caused liquidity effects and avoid expansive monetary base effects resulting from unsterilized interventions at the upper intervention point.
- Intervention reserves provide a temporary buffer against the reserve effects of exchange interventions. If this buffer is exhausted, further pressure on the exchange rate will directly cause a tightening of the restrictive adjustment constraints or alternatively an adequate exchange rate adjustment according to the speculative market pressure.

Consequently, the bigger a country in terms of its sterilization capacity and its currency reserves, the more likely it can - at least temporarily - evade rule-determined liquidity and reserve effects and the resulting adjustment constraints. Intensity and direction of rule--determined symmetry characteristics, therefore, can be (over-)compensated by the relative size of the countries involved.

¹⁷) Such a limitation to exclusively 'nominal' determinants of a country's relative size refering to the intervention and sterilization capacities and the associated neglect of 'real' economic fundamentals is all the more justified the stronger the goods markets are dominated by the financial markets. Speculative attacks in fixed rate systems are essentially financial markets phenomena and, therefore, have to be analyzed more or less seperately from the developements in the goods markets as documentated in the trade balances and national income statistics.

2.5. Interim Summary of Liquidity and Reserve Effects

Institutional rules of a fixed rate system play an important, but not all-decisive part in determining the 'rules of the game'. At least in a formal sense, their part mainly consists in controling the liquidity and reserve effects' direction and intensity, which, as determinants of the economic adjustment constraints are of great importance for the functioning and monetary stability of the overall system. The adjustment constraints that become effective in the end, however, are not determined by the formal symmetry of the individual rule components but only by the actually effective liquidity and reserve effects of the system in action. Their formal (= rule-determined) symmetry characteristics can be (over-)compensated by sterilzing the intervention-caused money base effects or by a country's capacity of financing interventions from its own reserves. For identifying the *dominant rule*, we have to find out whether the liquidity effects resulting from the intervention and reserve rules or the reserve effects as a result of the financing mechanism dominate the allocation of adjustment constraints, and for that, a country's size can be of significant relevance. Figure II summerizes the systemic determinants of liquidity and reserve effects in an institutionalized fixed rate system as analyzed above:



2.6. The Part of Capital and Foreign Exchange Markets

The above analysis has indicated that the symmetry characteristics of systemical liquidity and reserve effects determine the allocation of economic adjustment constraints among hard and weak currency countries. The question of whether a currency is 'hard' or 'weak' according to the rules, however, remains open. The identification of hard and weak currencies within the system is dominated by the markets. The markets, therefore, take the part of a 'judge' who has to decide which of the member currencies are weak or strong according to the rules. The system's institutional settings are blind to this kind of identification problem. A currency, therefore, is by definition a hard currency when its exchange rate is subject to a revaluation pressure in the foreign exchange market. A currency is called weak when it is subject to a devaluation pressure. In case a currency is subject to revaluation or devaluation pressures, the intervention mechanism and with it the systemically determined liquidity and reserve effects are virtually automatically activated. For that a revaluation or devaluation pressure of the market is the necessary and sufficient condition at the same time, regardless of its underlying degree of fundamental rationality. Activating the adjustment constraints is entirely the job of the markets¹⁸.

2.7. The System's Overall Monetary Adjustment Constraints

It has been shown that the internal allocation of actually effective monetary adjustment constraints can only be identified by the interaction of a fixed rate system's institutional rules with the relative size of the countries involved and the conditions of the capital and exchange

¹⁸) Even if its rule system provides mechanisms for a direct coordination of national monetary policies a fixed rate system remains subject to the 'market's dictate'. Although ex ante coordinations of the monetary and interest rate policies may contribute to the stabilization of the market's expectations, they cannot provide a sufficient protection against speculative attacks. For example, a coordinated interest rate policy will only provide suitable protection against speculative attacks if it guarantees that at any point of time during the crisis the exchange expectations of the speculants are (over-) compensated by the inter currency interest rate differences. However, the necessary excessive volatility of short-term money market interest rates is unsustainable for the central banks and, therefore, implausible for the markets. Direct coordination mechanisms will only prove to be sufficient if they are credible for the markets and ex ante prevent the developement of speculative attacks by stabilizing the market's exchange rates remains dependent on the market's judgement (see appendix I).

markets. From that, figure III can be derived which contains an overall description of the 'rules of the game'. The figure shows the structural determinants of the system's economic mechanics as well as the way they are released by market transactions:



The set of rules and the relative size of the countries involved can be described as a fixed rate system's structural determinants. They determine the system-inherent liquidity and reserve effects which in turn trigger the monetary adjustment constraints. However, the system structures are activated solely by corresponding market transactions. The market transactions' fundamental rationality, therefore, determines at the same time the economic rationality of the overall adjustment constraints effectively resulting from the system's structures in action. A fixed rate system's constitution can only be as good as its 'modus operandi' in the shape of the markets.

III. The European Monetary System (EMS): Functioning, Symmetry Characteristics, Market Conditions

"To understand the crisis, it is first necessary to understand the European Monetary System." (Eichengreen 1993)

The EMS is an asymmetrically designed simple fixed rate system burdening weak currency countries, in which the part of the key currency is not determined by rules but is awarded by the capital and exchange markets. It, therefore, can be called a market-determined anchor currency system. Which member currency functions as the system's nominal anchor is exclusively market-determined and is decided according to the criteria used by the capital and exchange markets in evaluating the individual member currencies. The market forces alone decide which member currency is charged with adjustment constraints. The economic rationality of the monetary coordination mechanism within the EMS, therefore, corresponds to the degree of fundamental rationality of the capital and exchange markets. In the recent literature on the EMS, the systemic reasons of its inherent asymmetric adjustment constraints have remained largely unrecognized¹⁹. In its essence they are resulting from the specific composition of various rule components within the EMS's overall institutional arrangement. As an institutionalized fixed rate system, the EMS was founded in March 1979 by an agreement between the central banks involved, which followed earlier political guidelines of the European Council²⁰. Except for a few modifications by the Basle/Nyborg-Agreement of 1987 the initial set of rules has remained unchanged. The system's originally scheduled transition to its second, so-called institutional phase has not been realized. For the following the terms 'old' and 'new EMS'

¹⁹) Whereas the asymmetry of the EMS as empirically proved by the D-Mark hegemony has been broadly accepted, its explanation often remains unsatisfatory. It's not at first the size of Germany's real economy or the role of the D-Mark as an international transaction and reserve currency but its market-determined position as a leading investment currency and its relative size in terms of its intervention and sterilization capacity in interaction with the institutional structure of the EMS that provides the most relevant explanation for the D-Mark hegemony within the EMS.

²⁰) See the Resolution of the European Council of December 5, 1978 on the establishment of the European Monetary System (EMS) and the Agreement of March 13, 1979 between the central banks of the Member States of the European Economic Community stipulating the operating procedures for the EMS, in: Texts concerning the European Monetary System (1985, p.13-25 and p.23-42).

are nevertheless used; however, they exclusively refer to the modification of the system's market conditions as an important reason for the actual crisis and suitable reform options to make the system fit for the new market conditions of fully liberalized capital and exchange markets²¹.

3.1. The Set of Rules

Following the general framework of chapter II, the elements of the institutional arrangement determining the system's adjustment constraints are analyzed at first²². From that the systemically determined liquidity and reserve effects are derived. The concluding chapter then describes the monetary adjustment constraints triggered by market transactions under the new conditions of fully liberalized capital and exchange markets.

3.1.1. Indirect Coordination of Monetary Policy

The EMS is a simple fixed rate system. Mechanisms for a direct coordination of national monetary policies are not assigned. Consequently, the EMS's institutional arrangement does not contain any rules or provisions for a 'governance structure' to coordinate monetary policies. Still, the EMS in its core is a mechanism for monetary policy coordination in Europe²³. The coordination of monetary policy is managed indirectly by means of the system's inherent adjustment and coordination constraints. As the following will show, these constraints are designed almost entirely asymmetrically for the weak currency countries and are activated by market transactions. The monetary adjustment constraints within the EMS, therefore, are essentially market-determined. The currencies' hierarchy in the capital and exchange markets determine the allocation of the remaining degree of freedom. The market's

²¹) Compared to the 'old EMS', the 'new EMS' is characterized by a complete liberalization of the capital and exchange markets within the European Community and a simultanous renunciation of periodic exchange rate adjustments according to the accumulated inflation divergences as it used to be common practice until 1987. For introducing the term of the 'new EMS' see Giavazzi/Spaventa (1990) and Portes (1993).

²²) See for a general survey Commission (1979); Deutsche Bundesbank (1979; 1989), Bofinger (1991), Kleinheyer (1989), and Ypersele (1985). For the relevant resolutions and agreements see the Texts concerning the European Monetary System (1985).

²³) See Bofinger (1989; 1992).

investment and/or speculation decisions earmark which of the member currencies they consider to be strong or to be weak. The resulting revaluation and devaluation pressure leads, via activating the intervention mechanism through which then the system-determined asymmetrical liquidity and reserve effects are triggered, to unilateral adjustment constraints for the weak currency countries. The strongest currency is awarded for the key currency role and, thereby, determines the monetary stability standard of the overall system.

As long as the markets award the most stable currency of the system, a desirable convergence pressure towards the stability standard of the anchor currency country develops for the weak currencies. The EMS's success story during the 1980s was based on this convergence pressure, when the D-Mark functioned as stability standard and credibility anchor for the monetary policy of the traditional weak currencies. However, if the markets continue to devalue traditionally weak currencies with no regard to already succeding adjustment policies, an inherent *deflationary bias* for the 'supposed to be weak-currencies' may occur. They are then forced to compensate the markets' devaluation speculations by interest rate differences in favour of its irrationally attacked currency. In an economic downward trend with low inflation and growth rates, such a policy may lead to considerable inadequate macroeconomic adjustment costs²⁴. These market-determined inadequate adjustments and central banks involved) and implausible (from the markets' point of view).

3.1.2. Symmetrical Intervention Rules

De jure the EMS has two different intervention mechanisms related to different currency standards:

The first intervention mechanism follows the basic structure of a currency basket standard. It commits the interventions to divergences of the member currencies' daily ECU exchange rates in an amount of 75% of the maximum permissible fluctuation

²⁴) See for the virtually arithmetic interrelation between exchange rate expectations and their compensation in terms of interest rate differences Wyplosz/Eichengreen (1993; p.100).

around their central rates defined against the ECU (='indicator of divergence')²⁵.

The second intervention mechanism refers to the EMS's bilateral parity grid. It commits the intervention obligations to the maximum permissible fluctuation margin of +/-2,25% from the bilateral central rates.

As a consequence of the divergence indicator, especially those currencies that diverge the most from the system's average would be obliged to intervene. The adjustment constraints of such a currency standard are not sufficient to establish a standard for monetary stability within the system in the sense of an absolute level of stability. Always those countries are forced to adjust which deviate most from the average, regardless if the divergence is in the direction of more or of less stability. The monetary stability of a basket standard is determined only by the average inflation rate within the system and, therefore, only guarantees a relative instead of an absolute level of stability. However, the divergence indicator was irrelevant for the actual development of the EMS. This irrelevance can mainly be contributed to the lack of rule-determined consequences once a currency touches its ECU intervention points. Article 3.6 of the Resolution of the European Council of December 5, 1978 only says in a non-committal manner:

"When a currency crosses its 'threshold of divergence', this results in a presumption that the authorities concerned will correct this situation by adequate measure, namely (a) diversified intervention; (b) measures of domestic monetary policy; (c) changes in central rates; (d) other measures of economic policy.(...)" (Texts concerning the European Monetary System, p.15)

The intervention mechanism referring to the divergence indicator, therefore, has not influenced the actual intervention policy within the EMS. The indicator has only played a minor role as an informal "trigger for policy coordination"²⁶. This development could have been expected since the ECU currency basket standard of the EMS entered the agreement

²⁶) Rieke (1982, p.5).

²⁵) For details concerning the divergence indicator see Commission (1979, annex 3, p.88-94) and the dicussion in Kleinheyer (1987, pp.63). The normal fluctuation margin of the individual currencies around their ECU central rate are calculated in a way that their individual weights within the ECU basket do not influence their intervention obligations. The intervention points denominated in ECU are reached when an individual currency reaches its maximum divergence of +/-2,25% with respect to all the other currencies. The size of the divergence margin, therefore, decreases and increases respectively with the individual weight of a currency in the ECU basket.

only as a political compromise indicating symmetry and equality within the system in an at least informal and non-commital way. In practice, the intervention rules of a currency basket standard, which in principle cause symmetrical adjustment constraints towards an average stability standard, are not acceptable for the more stability-orientated hard currency countries²⁷.

By the so-called 'Belgium Compromise' the in practice relevant intervention obligations have been tied to the bilateral parity grid instead of the ECU indicator. The intervention obligations are committed to the upper and lower intervention points, which result from the agreed fluctuation margins of +/-2,25% around the bilateral central rates, and they are unlimited in amount:

"(...) These interventions shall be unlimited at the compulsory intervention rates. (...)" (Article 2.2 EMS-Agreement)

In a parity grid of this kind, two currencies reach their upper respectively lower intervention points simultaneously. The hard currency's bilateral exchange rate at the upper intervention limit exactly corresponds to the lower intervention limit of the weak currency. In this respect, at least the formal design of the EMS's intervention rules is entirely symmetrical.

As a result of this, the preliminary liquidity effects of the interventions become effective in both countries. The domestic money base of the hard currency country expands, whereas in the weak currency country it decreases²⁸. The adjustment constraints deriving from the preliminary liquidity effects, therefore, are at first symmetrical as it is indicated by the formal symmetry of the bilateral intervention obligations. However, the long-term liquidity effects are determined by the sterilization policy of the intervening central banks. Naturally, the weak currency countries' technical capacity for steriliz2

ing money base effects due to interventions are unlimited in amount. For hard currency

²⁷) See for the backgrounds Ludlow (1982), Bofinger (1992), and Emminger (1985).

²⁸) This holds for both obligatory and intramarginal interventions as long as they are not financed out of reserves which were held in market investments prior to the intervention and as long as the reserves accumulated by interventions are not re-invested in the markets. Only if one of these criteria is disregarded no direct money base effects will occur. Obligatory interventions are the unlimited intervention obligations at the intervention points. Intramarginal interventions are voluntary measures of the central banks within the fluctuation margins which are supposed to prevent a currency from touching its intervention points.

countries the sterilization policy is limited by their domestic sterilization capacities. As a result of this, the freedom to implement a restrictive monetary policy is for a hard currency central bank mainly determined by its monetary sterilization capacity and -policy but not by the intervention's preliminary liquidity effects as a direct consequence of the intervention transactions in the markets.

In contrast to the EMS's formal intervention obligations the adjustment impact of the individual member country's sterilization policy is asymmetrical. Whereas hard currency countries sterilize the primary liquidity effects of their interventions almost entirely, weak currency countries have only little inclination to sterilize²⁹. As a consequence of the asymmetrical sterilization behaviour the monetary policy of hard currency central banks is not weakenend by any expanding money supply and interest rate effects while the restrictive effects for the weak currencies lead to adjustment constraints for their monetary policy to follow the stability standard of the hard currency countries. The formal symmetry of the intervention rules is reversed because the asymmetrical sterilization policy dominates the interventions' preliminary money supply and interest effects³⁰.

Within the EMS a symmetrical adjustment constraint towards an average stability standard can only occur when the sterilization capacity of the hard currency central bank is exhausted³¹. In literature, the formal symmetry of the intervention obligations within the EMS has often lead to the view that the overall design of the EMS is symmetrical and, therefore, the de facto hegemony of the DM is to be attributed mostly to external factors

²⁹) See the similar empirical results of Mastropasqua (1988) and Bofinger (1992). For the sterilization policy of the Bundesbank see Deutsche Bundesbank (1993).

³⁰) We can speak of dominance when the weak currency countries' non-sterilization policy is not voluntary but inherently necessary to protect their own intervention reserves. With the reserve losses due to interventions the weak currency countries are facing the alternatives of devaluation or monetary adjustment to the hard currency country. The restrictive money supply and interest rate effects of the interventions then become a vital part of their monetary adjustment strategies.

³¹) This inability of sterilizing the money base effects of its support interventions corresponds to the scenario of the explicit opting out reservation of the Bundesbank in its role as the dominant hard currency central bank of the EMS; see Wyplosz/Eichengreen (1993a, pp.57). The sterilization capacity of the Bundesbank is approximately about 150 billion D-Mark even in the very short-term. According to its own statements this has proved to be sufficient to defuse the money base effects of even the worst of the EMS crisis including the 1992/93 crisis; see Deutsche Bundesbank (1993, pp.19).

not inherent to the system's institutional settings. The most important reason for this misjudgement was that the system's symmetry characteristics were solely derived from the intervention rules and not, as it is necessary, from their interaction with the sterilization policy and the other components of the EMS's set of rules³².

Another important EMS characteristic concerning the functioning of its intervention mechanism is the fact that most exchange rate adjustments exceeded the unilateral fluctuation margins of 2,25%. Thus, the exchange rate adjustments have fulfilled the criterion of 'overlapping bands' and, therefore, have increased the probability of successful speculative 'one-way bets' against existing margins.

3.1.3. Asymmetrical Financing Mechanism

Since the holding of intervention reserves in member currencies is limited to the level of agreed on 'working balances' and is supposed not to exceed the reserves necessary for payment transactions, for financing their interventions at the lower intervention point the central banks have to rely on the system's financing mechanisms. Core of the intervention financing mechanism of the EMS are the credit facilities of the very short-term financing and the settlement obligations.

3.1.3.1. Unlimited Credit Facilities

Besides the very short-term financing two additional facilites are available to the central banks of the EMS for financing their obligatory interventions:

In the short-term monetary support the EC central banks grant each other short-term foreign exchange credits for financing balance of payments deficits. These credits

³²) See Mayer (1988), Giavazzi/Giovannini (1987) as well as Herz/Röger (1992) and McKinnon (1993). For the opposite position of systemic-intentional asymmetry see Wyplosz (1989) as well as Bofinger (1989, 1991) and Matthes (1988, 1993).

have a maturity of three months and can be extended twice for three months each. The amount of the credit limits is restricted to exactly defined debtor and creditor quotas.

In the medium-term financial support the EC member states' mutual balance of payments credit facility have a limited maturity of three to five years. However, these credits are conditioned to economic adjustment policies in order to re-establish a market financed fundamental balance of payments equilibrium.

Neither facility has been used by the central banks for financing interventions since the EMS became effective. They, therefore, can be ignored in the further analysis.

In practice the intervention financing is limited to the mechanism of the very short-term financing. There, credits unlimited in amount are available to countries participating in the exchange rate mechanism. Hence in principle all member countries are able to comply with their unlimited intervention obligations at any time:

"To enable intervention to be made in Community currencies, the participating central banks shall open for each other very shor-term credit facilities, unlimited in amount, (...)." (Article 6.1. EMS-Agreement)

The resulting liabilities become due at the latest 2,5 months after the end of the month in which the facility was used. The budget restriction is only temporarily suspended for a maximum of 3,5 months. At the request of the debtor central bank, the credit limit can be extended up to an amount of twice the debtor's quota for another three months. Further extensions of the amount as well as a second extension of the maturity for another three months are dependent on the approval of the creditor central bank involved. All transactions of the very short-term financing are denominated in ECU and are entered in accounts with the European Monetary Cooperation Fund (EMCF)³³. The interest paid corresponds to a weighted average of representative interest rates of the ECU-basket currencies. Repayments can be denominated in the creditor's currency, in 'official' ECU, or in other reserve components; however, repayments cannot be made in the debtor's currency.

³³) For details see the Decision of the Board of Governors of the European Monetary Cooperation Fund (EMCF); in: Texts concerning the European Monetary System (1985, pp.49).

The mechanisms of the very short-term financing are sufficient to guarantee a temporary unlimited access to member currencies for financing the system's obligatory interventions. Therefore, the unlimited intervention promise of the weak currency countries is only credible for a limited period of time. Afterwards, their budget restriction of limited intervention reserves is re-established by the repayment obligations.

3.1.3.2. Unilateral Settlement Obligations

Due to the so-called settlement rules of the EMS a hard currency central bank's interventions at its upper intervention point are accounted like an intervention of a weak currency central bank at its lower intervention point drawing on its very short-term credit facility. When a hard currency central bank intervenes at its upper intervention point, the acquired weak currency assets are routinely transferred to the EMCF. There, they establish corresponding ECU-assets for the hard currency central bank and ECU-liabilities for the weak currency central bank. This arrangement, which is decisive for the symmetry characteristics of the overall system, is mainly based on the regulations of article 6.2 of the EMS-Agreement:

The settlement of the resulting balances follows the same mechanisms as the repayment of drawings on the very short-term credit facility. Interventions of hard currency central banks are treated like credit-financed interventions of the central bank with the weak currency.

From the weak currency central banks' point of view, it is obviously not important by which central bank the intervention is carried out in the markets. In the end it is always the central bank of the weak currency which has to finance all interventions according to the procedures of the very short-term financing. The budget restriction of the weak currency countries is extended to the interventions of the hard currency countries and, therefore, is considerably tightened. In contrast to the formally symmetrical design of the intervention mechanism the finance mechanism is almost entirely asymmetrical. The system's reserve

[&]quot;The financing operations concluded in this connection shall take the form of spot sales and purchases of Community currencies against the crediting or debiting of accounts denominated in ECUs with the European Monetary Co-operation Fund (...)." (Texts concerning the European Monetary System, p.27)

effects, therefore, are also asymmetrical in the end. The mechanism of the very short-term credit facility merely leads to a temporary suspension of the asymmetric financing obligations. From the markets' point of view, however, this suspension stands under the reservation of a limited maturity of at most 3,5 months.

As a result the credibility of the central banks' intervention promise for the markets is only low. Keeping the promise in case of unlimited interventions is implausible for the markets because, after a short period of time, all interventions have to be (re-) financed by the weak currency countries. Even in times of speculative attacks of the markets against fundamentally justified exchange rates their budget restriction is only temporary suspended; however, it is not revoked in principle.

3.1.4. Restrictive Reserve Rules

The EMS rules do not provide any exactly quantified reserve rules. While it is lacking any reserve investment rules, at least a certain procedure has been agreed, how to fix reserve limitation rules as upper limits for the holding of intervention reserves in member currencies:

"The central banks may hold working balances in Community currencies within the limits laid down by the Committee of Governors. These limits may be exceeded only with the consent of the central bank concerned." (Article 15, EMS-Agreement)

A strict limitation of reserve holdings in member currencies to working balances would have meant a considerable tightening of the budget restriction of limited intervention reserves. Thereby the intervention promise of the weak currency countries would have been subject to an additional loss of credibility. In practice, however, the procedure is handled less restrictive as one may expect from article 15. Still, the accumulation of intervention reserves denominated in member currencies remains subject to the consent of the issuing central bank concerned.

In contrast to the more or less restrictive reserve accumulation rules the central banks are free in deciding on the way they prefer to hold their intervention reserves; they can either invest them directly in market assets or deposit them at the issuing central bank involved. The investment decision is an important determinant of the money base effects deriving from interventions financed out of existing reserve holdings. Only in case of intervention reserves previously deposited at the hard currency central bank the interventions of the weak currency country at its lower intervention point bring about expansive money base effects for the hard currency. With intervention reserves directly invested in market assets the interventions do not affect the hard currency's central bank money circulation at all³⁴. Therefore, in the extreme case of an exhausted sterilization potential of a hard currency countries may have the ability of increasing the symmetry of the system's adjustment constraints by financing interventions out of reserves previously deposited at the central bank of the hard currency³⁵. Analogously, the intervention of a hard currency only if it invests the thereby accumulated weak currency reserves at the central bank issuing the weak currency. The resulting restrictive money base effects, however, can be sterilized routinely and unlimited in amount. Therefore, they are irrelevant for the system's monetary adjustment constraints.

As a result of this, the institutional rules and procedures for the accumulation and investment of intervention reserves in the EMS do not seem to be decisive determinants of its monetary symmetry characteristics. However, by tying the accumulation of reserves denominated in member currencies to the consent of the issuing central bank concerned, article 15 has the effect of tightening the asymmetrically designed financing mechanisms and the resulting asymmetrical reserve effects of the system.

3.1.5. Political Exchange Rate Competency

The relevant resolution of the European Council explicitly provides for discretionary adjustments of the bilateral central rates. Nevertheless, the agreement between the central

³⁴) See chapter 3.1.2.

³⁵) It is assumed that the sterilization capacity of the hard currency country is exhausted before the weak currency country reaches its budget restriction of limited intervention reserves. This assumption is extremely unrealistic for the EMS because the sterilization capacity of the traditional anchor currency D-Mark by far exceeds the intervention capacity of the weak countries.

banks does not contain any further arrangements on the rules and procedures for deciding such central rate adjustments in practice. Thereby it is already indicated that the exchange rate competency within the EMS is completely political. It is solely assigned to the European Council and not to the central banks. For details of the political exchange rate competency, the Council's resolution merely states:

"Adjustments of central rates will be subject to mutual agreement by a common procedure which will comprise all countries participating in the exchange rate mechanism and the Commission." (Article 3.2. of the Resolution of the European Council of December 5, 1978)

The EMS rules, therefore, do provide neither definite economic criteria nor binding procedural regulations for a decision on discretionary exchange rate adjustments. In practice, realignment decisions are negotiated and prepared by the Monetary Committee of the European Community. In the end, however, mutual political consent of the responsible Council of Ministers is required³⁶.

Therefore, the realignment procedure's decisive characteristics are that the exchange rate competency within the EMS is political and unanimous mutual consent is required. Together, the two characteristics ensure a political veto for each member country involved. Therefore, the realignment decision remains subject to a politically dominated process of negotiation.

Appendix on the Basle/Nyborg Agreement 1987

On September 8, 1987, the Committee of Governors of EC Central Banks decided on certain modifications of the intervention rules and financing procedures within the EMS. The general intention was to increase the cooperation among central banks. The agreement's main objective was to enhance the EMS's resistance against disturbing influences of short term money movements by improving the coordination of interest and intervention policies. It can be described as an attempt to adjust the EMS's rule system according to the rapidly changing market conditions of more liberalized capital and exchange markets within the EC and toward the US-Dollar. Therefore, the focus was on providing improved protection

³⁶) See for a detailed description of the realignment decisions Kees (1987).

against speculative attacks of the markets. Therefore, the following three aspects of the EMS's intervention and financing rules were adjusted³⁷:

- To improve the finance mechanism it was agreed to extend the settlement maturity from 2,5 to 3,5 months. In addition, the amount for an automatic extension of repayment maturities in the settlement procedure was doubled to twice the level of the respective debtor quota.
- As another measure to facilitate settlement procedures, it was agreed that debtor central banks can repay up to 100% of their intervention liabilities in 'official' ECU. The original rules obliged the creditor central banks to accept only a maximum of 50% of the settlement payments in ECU.
- For a more efficient design of the intervention rules, access to the the very short-term facility was extended to the financing of intramarginal interventions, as long as the creditor central banks concerned do not explicitly object and the drawings do not exceed twice the debtor quota of the intervening country. Intramarginal interventions are carried out for preventive purposes before the central rates have reached an intervention point at which the central banks would be obliged to intervene.

To summarize the results, the Basle/Nyborg Agreement has contributed to a more efficient design of the intervention procedure within the EMS. Especially the preventive intramarginal interventions were strengthened. The system's basic symmetry characteristics, however, remained unchanged³⁸.

³⁷) See for the corresponding adjustments of article 6.1 of the EMS-Agreement the press statement of the EC central bank governors and the EMCF in: Texts concerning the European Monetary System (1985, supplement). For a detailed description and comment see Deutsche Bundesbank (1987, p.66-72).

³⁸) The same holds for the money base effects of intramarginal interventions. As far as they are financed by drawing on the very short term facility the resulting liquidity effects are at first symmetric. In the end however, intramarginal interventions remain dependent on the consent of the creditor central bank involved and, therefore, can be denied if the creditor's sterilization capacity is exhausted.

3.1.6. Interim Summary of Liquidity and Reserve Effects

As long as the analysis is limited to the intervention's preliminary liquidity effects directly deriving from the central bank's intervention transactions in the markets, the systemically determined money base effects seem to be assymmetrically burdening the hard currency countries. This view however, considers neither the compensating liquidity effects of credit repayments and settlement obligations nor the reserve investment and sterilization policy of the central banks involved. Limiting the analysis to the formal rules, therefore, is insufficient and leads to the misjudgement of asymmetrical or at least symmetrical liquidity effects of EMS interventions for the hard currency countries. In contrast to that, an adequate analysis of the overall liquidity effects shows that the formal symmetry is dominated by the hard currency countries' sterilization capacities, as well as by the - at least partial - reversal of the preliminary money base effects in the settlement process. As a result, interventions in the EMS will only cause expansive monetary adjustment constraints for the hard currency country if the intervention volume financed through drawings on the very short-term facility exceeds its sterilization capacity³⁹.

With a short delay, the reserve effects asymmetrically burdening the weak currency countries become effective. Those reserve losses are not only resulting from the repayments of their own credit-financed interventions but also from the settlement obligations deriving from the hard currency country's interventions. As long as the hard currency countries' sterilization capacity exceeds the intervention reserves of the weak currency countries, the adjustment constraints are dominated by the reserve effects. Because of this dominance of the reserve effects, the EMS is a systemically asymmetrical fixed rate system. The adjustment constraints are asymmetrically burdening the currencies valued in the markets as being weak.

³⁹) For a detailed analysis of the intervention-related liquidity effects within the EMS see Bofinger (1991).

3.2. Working Conditions of the Capital and Foreign Exchange Markets

3.2.1. Recent Developments

Since the mid-1980s, the international capital and exchange markets are characterized by *liberalization* and *globalization* trends as well as by a *securitization* of international credit relations. These trends have considerable consequences for the problem of stabilizing exchange rates within an institutionalized fixed rate system. In two different aspects, they have fundamentally changed the conditions of global exchange markets:

- In international portfolios with currency diversification the exchange rate has become an autonomous component of the return calculation. Already marginal fluctuations of the exchange rates can decisively change the return of a foreign currency portfolio calculated in the domestic currency and can (over-)compensate existing interest rate divergences. Besides interest rates and prices (= bond rates), exchange rate gains are a profit component of their own in international portfolio investments. Portfolio restructurings as a result of changing currency preferences, therefore, can at the same time become both a reason for and a result of exchange rate fluctuations. The spot market price effects of portfolio restructurings as a result of changing exchange expectations are consequently the first channel through which the new conditions of the capital and exchange markets can make the central banks' effort to stabilize the exchange rates more difficult.
- The increasing importance of the exchange rate risk has simultanously lead to the development of derivative markets where market participants can hedge their uncovered currency positions. Derivative financial instruments, however, are not soleley used for hedging currency risks but also for establishing open currency positions without the necessity of using liquid speculation capital. Repercussions from this kind of currency speculation without capital on the spot market are the second channel through which the changed market conditions make it more difficult for the central banks to stabilize exchange rates.

With the exchange rate as a part of their currency portfolio's return and the derivative instruments of currency speculation without capital, the markets' incentive for and capability of successful speculative attacks against central banks increases.

3.2.2. Speculative Attacks

Return-orientated speculative attacks on the exchange rate promises of institutionalized fixed rate systems can be performed by the capital and exchange markets in two different ways:

On-balance-sheet attacks are capital backed speculations. They are carried out directly via the spot markets. The speculators hold their uncovered currency positions as hard currency deposits or investments. The hard currency is directly purchased in the spot market. For financing the spot purchases, weak currency assets are sold or additional weak currency credit facilities are used. These on-balance-sheet attacks have a twofold effect on the central banks involved. At first, as a result of their intervention obligations they are forced to take the counter position in the speculative spot sales of the attacked currency. The liquidity and reserve effects resulting from the spot interventions automatically lead to the corresponding system-inherent monetary adjustment constraints. Secondly, the weak currency's central bank in its function as 'lender of last resort' is forced to refinance the speculative credit expansions at an interest rate which is acceptable from the perspective of the national economy as a whole in order to maintain orderly conditions in the domestic money markets. This means that the central banks are at first obliged to provide the demanded hard currency and at the same time have to guarantee the speculant's refinancing in the weak currency at conditions which are justifiable from the domestic point of view of the national economy as a whole. In addition, they have to accept the liquidity and reserve effects and the resulting adjustment constraints as well as corresponding exchange losses from (re-) exchanging the speculative currency postions in case of a devalutation of the attacked currency⁴⁰.

⁴⁰) See for a detailed description of speculative on-balance-sheet attacks appendix I of this study.
Off-balance-sheet attacks are currency speculations without underlying liquid capital positions. They are carried out by forward sales of the weak currency in the forward markets. Their transmittance into the spot market takes place indirectly via routinely conducted cover transactions of the banks contracting the speculative forward deal. Again, the central banks have to take the counter position in the spot market and are responsible for refinancing both the spot and the swap part of the cover transaction. The further course is then identical to an on-balance-sheet attack. The single difference between the two is that in an off-balance-sheet attack, the speculative position is not established in the spot market but in the forward market. Since the establishment of uncovered forward positions is technically easier and, therefore, favourable in terms of transaction costs, speculators usually will switch to the spot market only if the forward markets become inflexible in terms of liquidity⁴¹.

Therefore, independent on whether the speculative attacks are carried out via the spot or the forward markets, the central banks of the attacked currencies are the inherent losers all along the line:

- They provide the speculatively demanded hard currency spot amounts by intervening in the markets and have to face the resulting liquidity and reserve effects;
- as lender of last resort, they refinance the weak currency's expansion of the credit volume to finance the speculative positions;
- after a forced realignment according to the speculative market pressures, they have to take the currency losses and thereby finance the speculant's profits.

3.3. Overall Symmetry Characteristics of the EMS

The EMS is a market-determined asymmetrical fixed rate system. Under the prevailing conditions its intervention promise is not credible for the markets. The intervention mechanism is neither sufficient to protect the system's exchange rates against speculative attacks nor does it provide for an efficient protection against economic irrational market valuations

⁴¹) For details, see ibid.

of certain member currencies. The triggering and direction of the system-inherent macroeconomic adjustment constraints is entirely determined by the markets. The degree of the system's adjustment constraints' economic rationality, therefore, only corresponds to that of the capital and exchange markets. Speculative attacks of the markets lead either to economically unjustified exchange rate adjustments, or to macroeconomic costs of inadequate adjustment constraints. The second alternative makes the first one all the more likely and leads to a further loss of credibility of the exchange rate promise.

The general analysis of the 'rules of the game' in the EMS has revealed systemic and, therefore fundamental shortcomings of the EMS' institutional setting. This directly leads to an adequate analysis of reasons for the currency crises which is more closer to reality than the previous convergence discussions (section IV) and at the same time reveals appropriate ideas for reform (section V + VI).

IV. Reasons for the Currency Crisis

For deducting adequate reform options, it is indispensable to conduct an analysis of reasons for the crisis of the 'old EMS' which is in touch with the markets' reality; a successful therapy always requires a correct diagnosis. In the following, the EMS crisis is analyzed as being mainly inherent to the system's institutional design and, therefore, as a result of its institutional structure under the new conditions of completely liberalized capital and exchange markets. It is described as a *systemically determined asymmetry crises following fundamentally irrational market speculations*. Thereby the fundamental approach of explaning the crisis as a result of economic convergence deficits can only play a minor part because it only applies to individual member countries but not for all the currencies attacked in the course of the 1992/93 crisis.

4.1. Convergence Crisis

Assuming fundamental rationality of the markets, currency crises are by definition convergence crises. They then would be a welcome result of fundamental economic divergences revealed by the markets and obviously 'no reason to mourn'⁴².

The European currency crisis of 1992/93 has also been described as a convergence crisis⁴³. It was said that the capital and exchange markets' speculation had merely revealed existing fundamental divergences among the member states and thereby had forced governments and central banks to actually face the necessary adjustment policies. The fundamental convergence necessary for giving up exchange rate adjustments within the EMS, it was said, has been realized only insufficiently. Existing differences of national inflation rates and mentalities in the individual member states were still too large⁴⁴. In the following, it will be demonstrated that the fundamental approach is at best of secondary importance for the EMS crisis of 1992/93. The convergence hypothesis lacks both theoretical backing and

⁴²) Blanchard et al (1993).

⁴³) For such an interpretation see Tietmeyer (1992), Krüger (1992), and Scharrer (1992).

⁴⁴) See Krüger (1992) as well as an early opposite position Vehrkamp (1992).

empirical evidence. The EMS crisis was mainly the result of speculative attacks of the markets. According to the economic rationality inherent to the EMS of orientating necessary exchange rate adjustments to the state and development of existing national inflation divergences the economic rationality of the market's speculative attack remains at least questionable for most of the member currencies⁴⁵.

The basic difficulty of the convergence approach is the lack of an unambiguous definition of the underlying criteria for economic convergence. For the analysis of currency crises it usually refers to certain fundamental economic data as for example growth, inflation and the balance of payments. It is said that a divergent development of certain fundamentals lead to corresponding exchange rate fluctuations and within fixed rate systems to either discretionary official central rate adjustments or to currency crises. Usually, however, neither an obvious and conclusive interaction of certain fundamentals with the exchange rate is described nor an explanation of the actual transmittance of fundamental convergence divergences in the exchange markets is provided.

In exchange rate theory, the macro-economic pluralism of different models is sufficient to give ex post explanations for almost any exchange rate fluctuation. Therefore, fundamental exchange analysis usually misses the point because it neglects referring to the reality of the markets. Often, they are only used to add to the microeconomic rationality of speculative capital and exchange markets the same degree of macroeconomic rationality. However, the microeconomic rationality of profit maximizing speculation does not automatically follow a macroeconomic rationality of the same degree (see chapter 4.2.).

In this context it has to be pointed out that the economic rationality of the Maastricht convergence criteria is also based on the assumption of fundamentally rational capital and exchange markets. The first two criteria of inflation convergence and the deficit quotas are normative standards in the sense of fundamental economic convergence. Its fulfillment is required as a prerequisite for the transition to the third stage. In contrast to the fundamental criteria, the other criteria of interest and exchange rate convergence are market-determined. The four criteria as a whole will only be consistent if the markets are rational according to the fundamental criteria. This means, that the markets have to orientate their interest and exchange rate determination to the development of inflation divergences and budget targets:

⁴⁵) See Vehrkamp (1992) as well as Wyplosz/Eichengreen (1993).

Provided that these conditions are met the four convergence criteria prove to be consistent; however, they obviously prove to be redundant. The fulfillment of the market criteria is a derivative of the fundamental criteria.

On the other hand, in case of fundamentally irrational speculations the criteria prove to be inconsistent and, therefore, prohibitive for the transition to the third stage. The market judgement alone decides independently of an explicitly defined fundamental rationality standard on the beginning of stage three.

Only if irrational speculative attacks as a determinant of interest and exchange rates can be ruled out for the EMS by an ex ante credible exchange rate and intervention mechanism, the criteria inconsistency could be dissolved. The market criteria would still be redundant; however, they would not be able to prevent as a fundamentally irrational barrier for the transition to the third stage. In the 'old EMS', this condition of a credible ex ante protection against speculative attacks by a credible exchange rate and intervention mechanism is not met. A direct consequence of this is the formal blockade of the Maastricht integration strategy by the extended fluctuation margins. Again, returning to the narrow margins in a 'new EMS' with a credibly designed intervention mechanism proves to be a necessary prerequisite for a further progress towards European Monetary Union⁵².

Despite the macro-theoretical ambiguity in identifying suitable fundamental convergence indicators for exchange rate fluctuations, the economic exchange rate criterion is unambiguously determined within the EMS. The market-determined coordination mechanism of the national monetary policies requires the markets to refer to the inflation criterion. For the EMS, the criterion of inflation divergences as a suitable standard for the exchange rates does not only result from the relative purchasing power parity as a normative standard for exchange rate adjustments but directly from the system's market mechanism of the indirect monetary policy coordination. Compared to inflation divergences, however, it turns out that the fundamental approach of explaning the EMS crises is limited to only a few individual currencies involved⁵³.

⁵²) See the analysis of the criteria-orientated integration strategy of the Maastricht Treaty in Bofinger (1993b) and Petschnigg (1993).

⁵³) For more empirical details see Vehrkamp (1992). This analysis has been confirmed by the ministers and central bank governors of the European Community. In their joint communique on the extension of the fluctuation margins to +/-15% of August 2, 1992 it is said: "This limited measure is a reaction to the speculations which are exceptional in both their amount and their type. Considering the economic situation in the Member States of the European Monetary System, the current parity grid is absolutely justified. The ministers and central bank governors, therefore, confirm that they support the current parities and trust in the market rates coming closer to these parities. Communique of the European Community of August 2, 1993; in: Deutsche Bundesbank (1993a, p.20).

It follows that, at least compared with the criterion of fundamental rationality deriving from the indirect monetary coordination mechanism within the EMS, the currency crisis was the result of market failure.

4.2. Market Failure

The conditions of financial markets largely correspond to the standards of a 'perfect market'. This is especially true for the highly efficient foreign exchange markets. At first, therefore, it seems to be unjustified to speak of a capital and exchange markets' failure.

Indeed the market failure in the course of the EMS crises does not consist in microeconomic malfunctions as a result of imperfect markets but in the lacking fundamental rationality of the monetary adjustment constraints within the EMS which are themselve dominated by the markets. One can speak of a lack of fundamental rationality according to the EMS if the market valuations of the individual member currencies are not sufficiently orientated to the monetary stability criterion. If currencies with a high level of stability (= low inflation rate) are subject to fundamentally irrational devaluation speculations of the markets, a deflationary adjustment pressure will automatically occur for those countries. As a consequence the attacked countries have to carry considerable macroeconomic costs of inadequate policy adjustment. In times of speculative attacks, the disciplinary mechanism of sanctioning expansive inflation policies is turned into a mechanism producing inadequate monetary adjustment constraints. The adjustment mechanism then has a deflationary bias⁴⁸. Thereby speculative attacks grow up to asymmetry crises of the overall system⁴⁹. The market failure then consists in its insufficient performance as the 'modus operandi' of the system's indirect mechanism of national monetary policy coordination.

⁴⁸) Inadequate adjustment constraints within the EMS are as a direct consequence of the system's asymmetry are always deflationary. The system, therefore, grants sufficient protection against inflationary infection but not against deflationary adjustment constraints as a consequence of speculative attacks. For a further discussion of this see chapter 5.1..

⁴⁹) For the term 'asymmetry crisis' see Matthes (1992).

A market failure of this kind has been observable both before and during the currency crises and has become one of its most important reasons. Before the crisis, the market failure consisted in the relaxation of the system's disciplinary constraints due to the so-called 'convergence trading' in the markets. At that time the markets did not force any central rate adjustment despite further accumulating monetary convergence deficits for individual currencies⁵⁰. The exchange rate illusion has led to a predominant orientation of capital investment and exchange trading decisions to the nominal interest rate differences. Thereby it has additionally revalued or at least stabilized the exchange rate of countries with a relatively higher inflation rate and correspondingly higher nominal interest rates⁵¹. The nominal interest divergences within the EMS were no more interpreted by the markets as representing premiums for inflation-related devaluation risks, but, while ignoring the exchange rate risk, as a real return advantage denominated in domestic currency. The 'convergence trading' was followed by a second type of market failure in the course of the currency crises. The re-discovery of the exchange rate risk led to speculative 'undershooting' phenomenons and domino effects within and outside the system. Thereby the market failure of the 'convergence trading' was substituted by the market failure of fundamentally irrational speculative attacks. The actual overvaluation of individual currencies during the phase of the market's 'convergence plays' was followed by an speculative 'undershooting' in the course of the crises.

The market failure as the most important reason of the crises, therefore, consists at first in the failure of the market-determined mechanism of indirect monetary policy coordination. The systemically determined consequences of this for the working of the overall system are described in the following section.

4.3. System Failure

On the one hand, in speculative attacks the EMS's exchange rate promise has proved to be implausible for the markets and, on the other hand, the rules did not provide sufficient

⁵⁰) See International Monetary Fund (1992, p.8-11) and Group of Ten (1992, pp.11).

⁵¹) For an early analysis of this problem see Deutsche Bundesbank (1989).

protection against *inadequate monetary adjustment constraints* as a consequence of market speculations. Both deficiancies are described as failures of the specific fixed rate institution EMS. The credibility deficits of the exchange rate promises result from the fact that the various instruments to defend the exchange rates in the markets are not credible. This is true for the interest as well as the intervention mechanism:

The use of interest rates to defend exchange rates against speculative attacks stands under the priority of the domestic economy. It becomes implausible if the interest rates necessary for defending the exchange rate exceeds a level acceptable for the domestic economy. The experience of the EMS crises has proved the limited credibility of this instrument even in a short-term perspective⁵². In its core, the exchange rate promise of the central banks, therefore, is an intervention promise.

But also the intervention promise obviously is not credible in the market's judgment. The lack of credibility is mainly due to the asymmetrical design of the intervention financing mechanism with the settlement obligations of the weak currency countries as its core element. All interventions have to be financed soleley by the attacked weak currency central bank 3,5 months after the end of the intervention month at the latest; the same goes for interventions which at first were carried out by a hard currency central bank. The settlement obligations lead to a further tightening of the already existing budget restrictions for the weak currency central banks. Concerning the markets' judgement, the settlement obligations turn the intervention mechanism of the EMS into an "elaborated bluff of the central banks"⁵³. An additional reason for the implausibility of the intervention promise are the intervention's direct money base effects for the hard currency countries. When its sterilization capacity is exhausted, the hard currency central bank may face considerable restrictions in its ability to control the domestic central bank money supply and the short term interest rates in the money markets. In such a situation the scenario of an opting out of the hard currency central bank from the system's exchange rate and intervention mechanism is

⁵²) For the swedish experience with an excessive use of the interest rate instrument to fight speculative attacks see Sveriges Riksbank (1993).

⁵³) A market participant as quoted by the Neue Zürcher Zeitung of September 29/30, 1992.

anticipated by the markets and heavily weakens the intervention promise's credibility in the course of a speculative attack⁵⁴.

The lack of protection for weak currency countries against the costs of inadequate monetary policy adjustments as a consequence of speculative attacks is also a result from the unconditional application of the settlement rules. The one-sided monetary adjustment constraints for the weak currency countries triggered by the settlement obligations become effective irrespective of the particular degree of economic rationality underlying the speculative attack. It is not feasible nor desirable for any of the participating currencies to submit to economical inadequate adjustment constraints for a longer period of time. Thereby the exchange rate promise becomes more and more implausible in the course of a crisis and leads to a self-aggravating loss of credibility for the system.

The system's failures described are a specific result of the EMS's set of rules. Consequently, they can be avoided by appropriate modifications of the rules involved. The same is true for the policy failure that is analysed as the fourth important reason for the EMS crisis in 1992/93. Policy failure is of importance because in a core element of its institutional structure, the system has remained subject to political negotiation processes.

4.4. Policy Failure

Although the rules of the EMS as agreed between the national central banks guarantee a considerable objectivity of the system's functioning, the political exchange rate competency remains in the sphere of direct influence of the national governments. In addition to the management failures of the central banks involved, the political exchange rate competency has proved as an additional source of political mismanagement of the system's rules especially in the course of the most recent EMS crisis.

Obviously, the individual governments' power to veto a realignment negotiation has contributed to the development that fundamentally justified adjustments of individual central

⁵⁴) See Wyplosz/Eichengreen (1993) and Emminger (1986).

rates did not occur. Appropriate adjustment requests of the central banks involved have been declined by the governments of both the potential devaluation and the potential revaluation countries. The governments' obstruction of exchange adjustments in time has been determined by a mixture of countable economic rent seeking and psychological prestige considerations concerning the own currency's image. In connection with the Maastricht exchange rate criterion as a prerequisite for the third stage of European Monetary Union, prestige considerations concerning the own currency's standing in the markets have played an important part especially in several weak currency countries. For the potential revaluation currencies, the occuring exchange rate adjustments were postponed by the governments involved largely because of elections for the national parliament taking place at the same time. Some governments of weak currency countries were also interested in maintaining convergence trade related capital imports to facilitate the external financing of the growing internal budget deficits. The thereby accumulating need of adjustment for some currencies then spilled over to other member currencies solely due to crisis-inherent domino effects that finally brought about a situation in which the de facto suspension of the exchange rate and intervention rules had become unavoidable.

By leading to an inconsistent distribution of the adjustment instruments between the governments and central banks, the political exchange rate competency leads to an additional loss of credibility. Whereas the exchange rate adjustment mechanism is subject to political negotiation procedures, the interest rate and intervention instruments are controlled by the central banks. More credible according to a consistent distribution of the adjustment pressure between the three available instruments would be to concentrate them in one hand.

The main management failure of the central banks was the repeatedly occuring stimulation of the market's speculative phantasy by uncoordinated and sometimes even adverse public statements of central bank officials. The German/English discords directly associated with the crisis of the British pound are only the most distinct example for this. Inadequate policy coordination in the course of a crisis is encouraged by the lack of a sufficient mechanism of direct coordination among the central banks; they could have been avoided much more easily within a more explicit 'governance structure' as it is now provided by the EMI.

Summary

The crisis of the EMS in 1992/93 can in its essence be described as a *speculation-caused* asymmetry crisis. It was the necessary result of fundamentally irrational market speculation in interaction with the systemically determined asymmetrical monetary adjustment constraints for the weak currency countries and - from the markets' point of view - the system's exchange rate and intervention promise being not credible nor sustainable in the course of a speculative attack.

As a minimum requirement for suitable reform options, the system's institutional structure has to be extended for certain precautions against deflationary effects of inadequate adjustment constraints as well as for an intervention mechanism which is credible for the makets.

V. Reform Options

5.1. Preliminary conditions

For being acceptable for all member governments and central banks involved, adequate reform options have to meet certain preliminary conditions. These conditions can directly be derived from the original econcomic and political objectives of the system, the given institutional settings and strategies of the Maastricht Treaty, and from the systemical reasons of the actual EMS crisis that has led to its de facto suspension in August 1993.

The main objective of establishing the system in 1979 was a zone of monetary stability in Europe. The EMS was supposed to contribute both to the stability of the national price levels in the countries involved and to the exchange rate stabilization among them. Achieving exchange rate stability on the expense of the stability of national price levels, therefore, has been explicitly ruled out from the start. This obvious priority for the objective of monetary stability also corresponds to the monetary policy standard agreed on in the Maastricht Treaty as a precondition for the transition to the third stage of the European Monetary Union. Furthermore, the necessity to protect weak currency countries frcm inadequate macroeconomic adjustment costs as a consequence of systemically determined speculative asymmetry crisis is an additional precondition for successfully reforming the 'old EMS'.

The following three preliminary conditions can be summarized:

• Stability Criterion:

For hard currency countries it has to be ensured that the systemical adjustment constraints are orientated to the standard set by the lowest inflation rate within the system. Concerning the monetary stability policies, the disciplinary effect of the anchor currency mechanism may not be relaxed. Since the EMS as an exchange rate regime of uncovered national paper currencies does not provide a real anchorage, the 'nominal anchor' of the most stable currency has to dominate the stability standard of the system as a whole.

Protection against Opportunism I (=protection against 'inflationary infection'):

For the stability-orientated countries precautions have to be taken protecting them from opportunistic behaviour of less stability-orientated states within the system. An 'inflationary infection' has to be ruled out. At least in case of rational market valuations of the member currencies (= absence of speculative attacks), the asymmetry has to remain effective.

• Protection against Opportunism II (=protection against speculative attacks)

Under the prevailing conditions of economical irrational exchange speculations attacked currencies have to be sufficiently protected against inadequate monetary adjustment costs. The protection against 'inflationary infection' for the hard currency countries has to be completed by a complementary protection for the weak currency countries against deflationary adjustment constraints in the consequence of speculative attacks.

Besides the stability criterion, the protection from 'inflationary infection', and the protection from speculative attacks, an EMS reform has to consider the transition to the third stage by 1999 at the latest as scheduled by the Maastricht Treaty. Following the additional *criterion of institutional efficiency*, the required EMS-reform in the phase of transition should use the given institutional structure of stage two. The core institutional innovation of the second stage is the EMI as the nucleus of the future ECB.

Corresponding to the above analyzed market and system failure, the *market conditions* and the *EMS's set of rules* may serve as appropriate starting points for reform options. The analysis so far has shown that the market and system failures are not only interdependent but prove to be even self-aggravating in the course of a crisis. This interaction has to be taken into account for reviewing the various reform options. The fact that the market conditions of speculative attacks have proved to be one of the reasons for and at the same time a consequence of the system failure may justify the focus on institutional reform options in the following. Re-establishing credible system rules, therefore, is an important contribution to improve the market conditions. For reforming the EMS, the adjustment of its rule system to the market conditions of fully liberalized capital and exchange markets proves to be necessary and sufficient at the same time. With a credible and sustainable system a re-regulation of the markets will become superfluous.

5.2. Direct Coordination of Monetary Policy

The above analysis has shown that the EMS as a simple fixed rate system has failed under the conditions of speculative attacks. The market mechanism of indirect monetary policy coordination has proved to be inefficient. From the point of view of the attacked currencies, a sufficient protection against fundamentally irrational monetary adjustment contraints as a systemic consequence of market speculations is not guaranteed.

Supplementing the EMS with a mechanism of direct monetary policy coordination, therefore, is a feasible starting point for reform. The market coordination could be supplemented or even being replaced by a direct coordination of the authorities.

Proposals on a direct coordination of monetary policies within the EMS have to provide solutions for at least two different problems:

- A suitable *institutional arrangement* has to be implemented;
- Efficient *policy rules* for conducting the direct coordination in every day practice have to be agreed.

Both the institutional as well as the policy aspect of a direct coordination should follow the criterion of efficient institution and rule formation. Establishing new institutions or monetary policy concepts exclusively for the limited duration of stage two, therefore, would prove to be inefficient. Any direct coordination of the national monetary policies within a 'new EMS' consequently should evolve from the given institutional arrangement of the EMI agreed on in the Maastricht Treaty and already established at the beginning of stage two.

In defining the institutional framework for a direct monetary policy coordination one has to decide weather a certain institutionalized 'governance structure' proves to be helpful and weather the all day conduct of policy coordination should follow a certain policy rule or should be handled discretionary.

55

A discretionary coordination without governance structure is almost identical to the conditions of the indirect market coordination within the 'old EMS'. Without explicit rules and procedures, the monetary coordination will only be accepted by the markets if the (n-1) member states are unconditionally accepting the resulting hegemonic coordination structure dominated by the de facto key currency of the system. In a structure of this kind, the (n-1)-member states would have to give up their monetary policy autonomy in favour of the remaining degree of freedom for the key currency country. In contrast to an asymmetrically designed fixed rate system like the EMS, a hegemonic structure is not market-determined but based on voluntary coordination obligations of the individual countries. The hegemonic coordination is likely to increase a system's credibility although a common 'governance structure' does not exist⁵⁵.

However, tying one's hands by submitting to a hegemonic coordination structure implies certain risks concerning the hegemonic policy standard set by the key currency. If for example the key currency is for domestic reasons performing an expansionary monetary policy and thereby dragging the system's anchor or, in the opposite case, is performing an exessively restrictive policy the (n-1) countries are forced to follow irrespective of their own domestic situation. A hegemonic coordination structure, therefore, is completely dependent on the key currency's performance and policy decisions. Besides this, neither the absolute stability standard of the system nor the credibility of the voluntary adjustment for the markets is guaranteed. Like any other procedure of direct coordination, the hegemonic coordination structure remains subject to the markets' judgment. As long as different national monetary policies exist, no direct coordination procedure can guarantee a complete protection for the exchange rates against the market's dictate.

Still, a direct coordination of the monetary policy in the EMS is desirable for other reasons concerning the intervention policy. A direct coordination of exchange interventions, interest rates, and liquidity management by the central banks would increase the probability

⁵⁵) Successful examples of a hegemonic coordination structure without a corresponding 'governance structure' are the monetary policy concepts of Austria outside the EMS and of the Netherlands within the EMS. Both countries have achieved an almost perfect stabilization of their exchange rates through unconditionally tying their interest rate and liquidity policy to the policy of the anchor currency central bank.

and credibility of a consistent use of these instruments to discourage speculative attacks. However, for reasons of institutional efficiency one should abstain from a gradual transfer of national monetary competencies. A monetary training period for the ECB is neither necessary nor desirable. To assure an in time transition to the third stage, one should refrain from complicating and extending the second. An early monetary autonomization of national central banks would serve as a significant credibility gain for a direct monetary coordination procedure within the given 'governance structure' of the EMI. Through its increased credibility, the EMI as a 'Council of Autonomous Central Bank Governors' could significantly reduce the monetary adjustment costs of a discretionary coordination. The loss of reputation for individual central banks unwilling to cooperate would serve as an indirect sanctioning mechanism for a direct monitoring and coordination of national monetary policies within the EMI. Additionally equiped with the exchange rate management competency within the EMS, the EMI will evolve towards a 'European Autonomy Standard' in which the credibility of exchange rate promises can be restored, too⁵⁶.

As well as the 'governance structure' the definition of a suitable policy rule for the direct policy coordination is subject to the criterion of institutional efficiency. Introducing new monetary policy procedures for the phase of transition has to be ruled out for being inefficient⁵⁷. The policy rule of monetary coordination within the EMS should, therefore, refer to a likely monetary concept of the future ECB. Common money supply and price level standards as well as corresponding procedures of the interest rate and liquidity management would be conceivable⁵⁸:

The McKinnon rule (1984) suggests a common monetary targeting for the entire currency area. The central banks involved should follow national targets which in their aggregate are compatible with the common target. In order to ensure the

⁵⁶) For more details see chapter 6.1.

⁵⁷) For such proposals on a european minimum reserve conception for the transitional phase see Ciampi (1989) and Gros (1990) as well as the dicussion of the proposals in Bofinger (1993a).

⁵⁸) See for the basics McKinnon (1984) and the Council of Economic Advisers (1976). For a detailed discussion of the proposals see Bofinger (1991, p.203-267; 1993, pp.167)

compatibility of the common monetary target with national intervention obligations, McKinnon suggests a sterilization ban and corresponding reserve investment rules. Thereby entirely asymmetrical and, with regard to the aggregate, self-compensating liquidity effects of the interventions are guaranteed. The common meta monetary targeting is not disturbed by liquidity effects of exchange interventions.

The German Council of Economic Advisors (1976) has proposed a coordination procedure in which the national central banks have to manage an identically defined money supply (e.g., monetary base) according to ex ante agreed targets. In contrast to the McKinnon rule, the determination of the national targets does not result from disaggregating a meta rule but with respect to different national industrial production capacities, different growth rates and so-called unavoidable national inflation rates. The intervention obligations are supposed to be designed in a way assuring that liquidiy effects do not endanger the achievement of the national targets, otherwise, the intervention obligations are to be suspended.

With regard to the integration of direct monetary policy coordination mechanisms in the EMS during stage two, however, both of the above mentioned coordination rules have serious shortcomings. Whereas the McKinnon rule assumes a common monetary target and is thereby violating the national monetary policy autonomy explicitly guaranteed in the Maastricht Treaty, the coordination procedure of the Council of Economic Advisors does not provide for a credible intervention mechanism to curb speculative attacks.

In order to establish a credible intervention mechanism while simultaneously maintaining national monetary autonomy it is therefore suggested to combine a common policy rule for direct monetary coordination within the EMI with a conditional temporary suspension competency of the EMS's settlement obligations⁵⁹:

Concerning monetary coordination, the member states should ex ante agree on standards for national money supply or price level targets according to the above mentioned proposal of

⁵⁹) For a more detailed discussion of this proposal see chapter 6.1.

the Council of Economic Advisors. Thereby neither the agreement of a common monetary policy conception is required nor is the autonomy of national monetary management being restricted. It is only necessary to mutually accept the specific national targets on a common level as providing a suitable guarantee for the monetary stability within the system as a whole. The national targets should be agreed on by mutual consent within the EMI-council of autonomous central bank governors⁶⁰.

The monetary coordination mechanism should be supplemented by the council's competency to suspend the settlement obligations. However, this competency remains limited to situations of clearly identifiable fundamentally irrational attacks of the capital and exchange markets. The ex ante agreed on monetary coordination targets serve as appropiate fundamental identification criteria for speculative attacks. If a country meets its ex ante targets and nonetheless becomes subject of a speculative attack, the EMI may decide the suspension of the settlement obligations for support interventions in favour of the attacked currency. The resulting unlimited intervention obligation of the hard currency countries without corresponding settlement mechanisms burdening the attacked currencies provides for a credible intervention mechanism to curb speculative attacks once they occur or even prevent their emergence from the start. The suspension competency may be combined with a sterilzation ban and corresponding reserve investment rules following the McKinnon concept⁶¹.

In addition, the proposed combination of an ex ante coordination of national monetary policies with a conditional suspension competency of the settlement obligations meets all of the above required preconditions for a successful EMS reform during stage two. The *stability criterion* is met by the monetary standard agreed on in the voluntary monetary ex ante coordination of national monetary targeting. A sufficient 'protection against inflationary infection' is ensured by the asymmetric intervention mechanism of the 'old EMS' which remains unmodified. As an additional reform innovation the conditional suspension competency of the settlement obligations provides sufficient protection against speculative attacks

⁶⁰) The rule of mutual consent corresponds to the rule of unanimity, in which all members have to agree; see Bofinger (1991, pp.192).

⁶¹) For an application of such a reform strategy see chapter 6.2.2..

and their systemical consequences of inadequate adjustment constraints. In such a scenario additional institutions are not necessary for the transitional phase, whereby the criterion of *institutional efficiency* is also satisfied. The already existing institutions are merely supplemented and more efficiently used.

5.3. European Intervention Fund (EIF)

Together with the foundation of the EMS in 1978/79, a European Monetary Fund (EMF) was scheduled to be found as the core element of the so-called institutional phase two already two years after the system's implementation. In its concluding notes the European Council conference of July 6 and 7, 1978 says in point 4 of the annex:

"Not later than two years after the start of the scheme, the existing arrangements and institutions will be consolidated in a European Monetary Fund."

The European Council's resolution of December 5, 1978 laid down that the second phase as the final stage of the system should entail besides the establishment of the European Monetary Fund the unlimited utilization of the ECU as a reserve asset and as a means of settlement. The fund's most important objective was the institutional integration and consolidation of the existing credit mechanisms within the system. For years there has been a broad discussion based on these statements of intention about the design of the final institutional stage of the EMS. Despite the clear allowances, the discussion came to nothing for political reasons. It failed mainly because the governments were not ready to admit a supra-national institution with monetary competencies within the EC besides the national central banks. In accordance to that, neither the Maastricht Treaty provides for any transference of national monetary sovereignty to a supra-national institution. Our criterion of institutional efficiency has confirmed this strategy as being rational. Still, the idea of a European Monetary Fund should be reconsidered with regards to a more credible design and performance of intervention policies within the EMS.

The institutional analysis of the EMS has shown that from the hard currency countries' point of view the liquidity effects of interventions make the intervention promise becoming unsustainable in the course of a crisis. When their sterilization capacity is exhausted the interventions lead to an irreversible expansion of the money base and, therefore, to a

considerable loss of efficiency in controlling the domestic monetary aggregates. However, the only reason for this is the fact that the central banks carry out their interventions via the existing central bank accounts of the banks involved. Thereby, the interventions have a direct expasionary effect on the national central bank money circulation⁶².

Intervention-caused money base effects could be avoided if the interventions are taken out of the accounts of the central banks by transferring the execution of interventions in the markets to an external fund established exclusively for that purpose. From the accounting point of view, the fund's enforcement of interventions would not affect the domestic central bank money circulation.

Shifting the interventions 'out of the central bank's account'⁶³ is attainable by founding a *European Intervention Fund (EIF)*, for example. As a commonly established and managed fund, the central banks would provide the EIF with sufficient intervention deposits or intervention credit facilities. The EIF then establishes its own accounts with the banks involved in the foreign exchange trading, through which all interventions would be carried out. Such an arrangement is sufficient to guarantee that interventions are separated from the national central bank money circulations.

Of course, such an intervention fund would also involve liquidity effects for the banking system as a whole. The important difference to conventional central bank interventions is that the fund's liquidity effects become effective not on the basic level of the central bank money supply (= money base) but only on the broader level of the non bank liquidity. Interventions by the EIF would be completely neutral for the central bank money supply and,

⁶²) In our context, central bank money is the equivalent of the commercial bank's deposits at the central bank. Central bank money circulations are institutionally self-contained deposit circulations which are entirely subject to the central bank's control. The overall amount of central bank money is adjustable only through direct transactions with the central bank. The commercial banks can trade central bank money among themselves (=money market transactions), but they cannot extend its volume. The demand of the commercial banks for central bank money is controlled by the central bank's reserve rules. The central banks, therefore, dominate both the supply and demand of central bank money. This power to control the central bank money markets is in fiat money systems the basis of the central bank's ability to conduct a monetary targeting. To the degree a central bank is obliged to intervene in the exchange markets its control over the money markets is loosened because the interventions are accounted via the banking system's central bank money deposits.

⁶³) See Deutsche Bundesbank (1993, p.23).

therefore, do not restrict the efficiency of domestic money supply control.

The expensive construction of such an intervention fund exclusively for the transitional phase, however, is an important disadvantage from the perspective of institutional efficiency. A strategy of central bank interventions in the forward market which is developed in the following seems to be much more efficient. A foward intervention strategy allows to retain the avoidance of expansive money base effects without having to accept the disadvantages of institutional inefficiencies during the phase of transition.

5.4. Interventions in the Forward Market

"...there is much to the argument that pure speculation, completely unjustified by any adverse fundamentals in trade and normal capital movements, could not defeat a bold, resolute, and if necessary unlimited forward support policy." (Yeager; 1976, p.281)

"Alle Beteuerungen der Währungsbehörden eines Landes, daß die Parität seiner Währung unter keinen Umständen verändert werde, klingen kaum sehr glaubhaft, wenn man sich gleichzeitig weigert, die Terminkurse durch offizielle Interventionen zu stützen." (Sohmen; 1971, p.131)

Central bank interventions in the spot markets always and automatically involve direct liquidity and reserve effects. That is why unlimited spot intervention promises of the central banks are inherently implausible for the markets. They are perceived as being *self-defeating*. Within the EMS this mainly results from the expansive liquidity effects of spot interventions for the hard currency countries and from the budgedt restrictions of financing the interventions for the weak currency countries:

Unlimited spot intervention promises of a hard currency central bank are only credible as long as the expansive money base effects of the interventions do not exceed its sterilization capacity and thereby dominate its central bank money supply. With it's sterilization capacity being exhausted, further exchange interventions would lead to an ultimate loss of the central bank's control over domestic money market conditions. For the entire system the nominal stability anchor is dragging and, due to speculation, the monetary adjustment constraints become more symmetrical or even asymmetrical for the intervening hard currency country. In such a situation,

market participants realistically anticipate an opting-out of the hard currency central bank⁶⁴. The attacked currency will unavoidably be devalued in the markets. The speculants then will have the possibility to re-exchange their speculative currency positions with the central banks and thereby take considerable exchange profits. Therefore, unlimited spot intervention promises of the hard currency countries tend to be self-defeating by even aggravating the market's speculations instead of depressing them.

At the same time unlimited spot interventions of weak currency countries become fishy when their budget restriction of limited hard currency intervention reserves is reached or anticipated by the markets for the near future as a consequence of the mounting settlement and repayment obligations. The shorter the repayment and settlement maturities, the faster the credibility loss will occur. In addition, interventions of weak currency countries do also cause expansive liquidity effects for the hard currencies provided they are financed out of reserves which had previously been deposited at the hard currency central bank or by drawings on the hard currency country's credit facility.

Overall it has become clear, that unlimited spot intervention promises are implausible because in the worst case of speculative tests by the markets they cause monetary policy costs which rationally are unacceptable for any of the central banks involved⁶⁵. Therefore, spot interventions cannot be *credible* because they are not *sustainable*.

In order to avoid intervention-caused liquidity and reserve effects and the resulting loss of credibility, an extension of the central banks' intervention policy from the spot to the

⁶⁴) This is called to be realistic, because the opting-out behaviour of the Bundesbank as the traditional hard currency central bank of the EMS is following such a pattern. Already the final suspension of the dollar intervention obligation of the Bretton Woods System in March 1973 has been justified by the Bundesbank with its unacceptable expansive liquidity effects. The transition to flexible exchange rates, therefore, is also a direct result of an opting-out of the Bundesbank forced by speculations. For this and the explicit opting-out reserveation of the Bundesbank within the EMS see Emminger (1986, pp.361). For the empirical relevance of this during the EMS's 1992/93 crisis see Wyplosz/Eichengreen (1993, pp.57).

⁶⁵) This is confirmed by the already cited market judgement describing the EMS's intervention mechanism as an "ellaborated bluff of the central banks". See Neue Zürcher Zeitung September 29/30, 1992, p.14.

forward market is suggested⁶⁶. Interventions of central banks in the forward market have the important advantage of avoiding any direct liquidity and reserve effects. Furthermore, forward interventions are not underlying a budget restriction because no liquid spot reserves are necessary. Since they are also neutral in terms of liquidity, forward interventions compared to spot interventions are the more credible strategy from the speculant's perspective to guarantee an intervention promise. Only the unlimited willingness of the central banks to intervene in the forward market can prove to the markets that the central banks themselves believe as much in their own exchange rate promise as they expect the market participants to do.

In principle, two different mechanisms are conceivable for forward interventions in order to ensure the exchange rates it the spot market:

- In the off-balance-sheet variant of a speculative attack, the central banks directly take the counter position of speculative foward sales of the attacked currency by intervening in the foward markets. With that, the transmittance of the speculative forward sales into the spot market is interrupted. The central banks avoid the necessity of corresponding spot interventions which would inevitably become necessary in case of a speculative free market foward sale of the attacked currency that afterwards has to be covered by the contracting bank and thereby is transmitted in the spot market⁶⁷.
- On-balance-sheet attacks are carried out directly by sales of the attacked currency in the spot market; however, they can be kept off just as off-balance-sheet attacks by interventions of the central banks in the forward market. Whenever a currency is under pressure in the spot market, the central banks can stabilize its spot rate by taking a long position in the forward market. As a result of this, the contracting bank is facing a foward risk which routinely has to be offset. Thereby the central bank's

⁶⁶) For the theory of foward interventions see the discussion of the relevant literature in Yeager (1976, p.279-285) and Sohmen (1973, p.83-131).

⁶⁷) This is confirmed by the IMF's analysis of the mechanics of speculative attacks within the EMS: "If a central bank's foward purchase matches a foward sale of some other customer in the banking system, all the swap and spot transactions of the banking system will cancel; specifically, spot exchange sales will be matched with puchases at the parity exchange." International Monetary Fund (1993, p.41).

forward intervention is transmitted into the spot market⁶⁸.

Crucial objections against forward interventions are the possibly greater intervention volumes compared to a strategy of direct interventions in the spot market and the argument that the liquidity and reserve effects of spot interventions are not really avoided but only delayed to the maturity date of the forward contract⁶⁹. Both objections, however, are flawed because they continue to assume the possibility of an exchange rate adjustment. Their relevance is, therefore, limited to the case of forward interventions in flexible exchange rate systems respectively fixed rate systems with explicit central rate adjustment reservations. Here, however, it is proposed to use forward interventions as an instrument to guarantee a de facto core currency union in which the fluctuation margins for the spot rates continue to exist but the bilateral central rates are irrevocably fixed. Forward speculation against central banks is only rational from the speculants' point of view in so far they can expect the future spot rate to be lower than the central bank's forward intervention rate. If fluctuation margins and central rates remain unchanged, however, the delivery of speculative forward contracts will always and automatically involve speculative losses of an amount equal to the inter currency interest rate difference as it is represented in the swap rate. The speculants themselves have to take these losses. Since forward interventions - unlike interventions in the spot market - do not force central banks to give up their exchange rate guarantee as a consequence of excessive liquidity and reserve effects, the central banks' promise to keep central rates and fluctuation margins unchanged remains credible even in times of speculative attacks, because the speculants are punished with unavoidable occurring losses and are thereby discouraged from the start.

Forward interventions, therefore, are the suitable strategy for the EMS to protect a de facto monetary union of the core countries which are already today in a position to meet the necessary convergence criteria as agreed preconditions for entering the final stage of EMU. However, to establish a de facto monetary union it would be neither necessary nor useful to abandon the fluctuation margins. It is sufficient to ultimately fix the central rates. Therefore,

⁶⁸) For a detailed description see appendix I.

⁶⁹) For a discussion of this argument see Fischer-Erlach (1991, p.82-88).

the old margins of +/-2,25% should be re-established while at the same time the exchange rate adjustment reservations with regard to the central rate and the corresponding intervention limits are irrevocably given up. Maintaining the fluctuation margins around the for ever fixed central rates facilitates a sensible installation of a forward intervention promise. In addition, the margins will help to guarantee a sufficiently liquid spot market as well as a certain flexibility for national interest rate policy⁷⁰. The asymmetrical spot intervention mechanism of the 'old EMS' is supplemented by unlimited and symmetrically designed forward intervention obligations of the central banks involved.

In an arrangement like this the credibility of the fluctuation margins is guaranteed by the unlimited forward intervention promises. In principle, the development of the spot rate within the margin remains market-determined; however, it may be influenced by spot interventions and interest rate adjustments of the central banks. The asymmetrically designed spot market intervention mechanism should be kept unchanged because it is domesticated by the foward interventions. Therefore, it can serve as a suitable mechanism of coordinating and disciplining national interest rate policies. Whenever a currency is under pressure in the spot markets, the central banks concerned are at first obliged to support it by interventions are becoming unsustainable, the central banks will start to support their spot intervention policy by interest rate difference will prove to be sufficient to arouse interest arbitrage orientated capital movements and thereby assure the desired stabilization of the spot rate (for further details see box I).

In the course of a speculative attack, with a foward intervention obligation the central banks are able to refrain from an excessive use of the interest instrument by allowing the forward rate falling down to the lower intervention point and then absorbing the speculative attack by unlimited forward interventions. In addition, the central banks may stimulate the

⁷⁰) This argument was already mentioned by J.M. Keynes who, as the founder of the foward theory, proposed in his Tract interventions in the foward market in order to extend the marginal leeway for a national monetary and interest rate policy even in a gold standard with fully liberalized capital and exchange transactions. See Keynes (1923, p.94-115).

Interaction of Interest Rate and Intervention Policies in Fixed Rate Systems with Forward Interventions

In a 'new EMS' following the suggested reform strategy, the spot intervention mechanism of the 'old EMS' serves as an efficient instrument to coordinate the intramarginal interest rate policies within the system, while the additionally introduced unlimited and symmetrically designed forward intervention obligations will credibly guarantee the fluctuation margins. The interaction of interest rate and intervention policies in the course of a speculative attack can be described as follows:

1. Phase: In the beginning a stable equilibrium is assumed in which the spot rates more or less correspond to the bilateral central rates. Slight deviations of the spot rates around the central rates are purely caused by 'normal' transactions, a speculative pressure of the markets does not exist. Because of the stability of expactations concerning the future exchange rates the spot rates are equal to the foward rates: the inter currency interest rate difference tends to be zero; a uniform interest rate prevails for all currencies involved.

2. Phase: As result of an exogenous destabilization of the exchange expectations speculative pressure occurs in the spot market. At first, the central banks concerned will try to damp down the pressure by spot interventions. If those intramarginal spot interventions prove to be insufficient to stabilize the spot rates, the strategy will be supplemented by establishing an intramarginal inter currency interest rate difference in favour of the weak currency. The attacked currencies are even forced to do so because the spot intervention mechanism of the 'old EMS asymmetrically burdens the weak currency countries. Already the unavoidable reserve effects as a consequence of spot interventions are sufficient to force the weak currency countries to use the intramarginal interest rate policy as a defence mechanism against the speculative market pressure.

3. Phase: If the intramarginal inter currency interest rate difference does prove to be insufficient to stimulate interest arbitrage motivated capital movements in favour of the weak currency, foward interventions will become necessary for ultimately combating the atttack. With the forward rate dropped to the lower intervention point, the unlimited and symmetrically designed forward intervention obligation is activated. A further falling of both, the spot and the foward rate is thereby stopped. The intervention strategy does not incur any costs for the central banks because

 $\sqrt{}$





with forward interventions no liquidity and reserve effects are conected. Maturing foward contracts, however, inevitably lead to exchange losses for the speculants in an amount equal to the swap rate. Besides that, the central bank can stimulate the spot supply in hard currency necessary for sterilizing the liquidity effects in the consequence of maturing foward interventions by simply prolongating their foward positions in the market. By aggressivel forward interventions slightly above the lower intervention point the central banks can even activate covered interest arbitrage already before the interventions become obligatory at the intervention point.

4. Phase: With the increasing losses of the speculants the market pressure diminishes: ... 'the central banks need only keep their nerves'. Their intervention strategy is not associated with any 'costs' in terms of unsustainable liquidity and reserve effects and, therefore, is credible for the markets. With the restabilization of market expactations covered interest arbitrage is strengthened and leads toward a new equilibrium.

5. Phase: When the stabilization process is finished, the initial equilibrium is restored. The successful fight of the attack prevents its reemergence because the system is self-stabilized by the 'learning' of rational speculants.

spot supply of hard currency necessary for stabilizing the spot rate by so-called *aggressive* forward interventions⁷⁷. The resulting cover and arbitrage reactions of the markets will then transfer the foward supply of the attacked currency into a spot supply. Even in the worst case of a speculative attack, therefore, unsustainable liquidity and reserve effects can be avoided. The liquidity effects remain limited to the broader level of the non-bank liquidity; a direct influence on the monetary base is shut out⁷². In the course of a speculative attack the central banks do not face any constraints to give in to the markets' pressure by realigning the exchange rate in the end.

Forward intervention strategies to guarantee exchange rate margins around ultimately fixed central rates, therefore, prove to be sustainable even in the worst case scenario of a speculative attack. Anyway, those attacks become unlikely because, due to the forward intervention mechanism, the markets' arbitrage is stabilizing the central bank's exchange rate promise instead of destabilizing it as it was likely for the spot intervention promise of the 'old EMS'. For speculants to wait and see during a speculative attack is inevitably associated with current financing costs whereas for the central banks - again in contrast to spot interventions - no costs in terms of unsustainable liquidity and reserve effects arise which in the end could force them to opt out.

Consequently, an EMS forward intervention promise would be credible and sustainable at the same time. It is, therefore, the suitable strategy to protect and guarantee ultimately fixed exchange rate margins. For the hard currency countries forward intervention promises have the advantage of minimizing the monetary policy risks in terms of liquidity effects of spot interventions. For weak currency countries the budget restriction of limited intervention reserves is eliminated and the maximum use of the interest rate instrument is limited to the

⁷¹) Agressive foward interventions can also be described as being intramarginal because the central banks are intervening at a rate slightly above the lower forward intervention point. This kind of foward interventions offer riskless profits to the interest arbitrage. It also ensures the transmittance of the foward intervention into the spot market even for the unlikely case of foward interventions at the lower intervention point alone are proving to be insufficient to stabalize the spot rates.

⁷²) For the mechanics of speculative attacks within an EMS supplemented by unlimited foward interventions see the discussion in app=ndix II.

establishment of minimal inter currency interest rate differences within the margins. Excessive risk premiums due to economic irrational market speculations are cut down to intramarginal interest rate differences for motivating arbitrage capital flows. From the speculant's perspective, no rational incentives remains to speculatively test the central bank's exchange rate promise because even unlimited foward interventions are riskless and, therefore, sustainable for the central banks: "The authorities need only keep their nerves."⁷³

5.5 Suspension of the Settlement Rules

The above analysis of the EMS's rule system (see chapter III) has demonstrated that the systemical asymmetry for the weak currency countries is mainly resulting from the system's settlement obligations. Under the conditions of speculative attacks the settlement produces costs in terms of inadequate policy adjustment constraints and massive reserve losses only for the attacked currencies. The criterion of sufficient protection against inadequate monetary policy adjustments as a consequence of irrational market speculations ('protection against opportunism II') is not fulfilled for the attacked countries.

In the course of a crisis a loss of credibility for the entire system automatically occurs because its core of keeping the exchange rate promise by unlimited interventions in the spot markets becomes implausible. The implausibility of the intervention promise mainly results from the settlement obligations anticipated by the markets. For the markets, the unlimited intervention promise of an attacked central bank which has to finance not only its own reserve- and credit-financed interventions but also the interventions carried out by the hard currency central bank is implausible from the start.

Consequently, the suspension of the settlement obligations seems to be a suitable reform option. Suspending or even revoking the settlement rules while at the same time maintaining

⁷³) Yeager (1976, p.280). Further it reads: "Honoring a massive volume of contracts made under the foward support policy would prove costly to the authorities if they lose their nerve and finally devalue. In effect, then, they lose their freedom to devalue; but, on an optimistic view, this nearly ironclad guarantee against devaluation and itself further deters speculation." Ibid, pp.280. This optimistic view is the only realistic for the case of ultimately fixed rates in a de facto monetary union.

the other parts the system's institutional setting including the financing rules, would lead to an unlimited obligation for the hard currency central banks to finance both, the own as well as the weak currency's spot interventions⁷⁴.

Such a mechanism of intervention financing would be credible for the markets because the hard currency central bank is the only institution which is able to create the hard currency intervention reserves in an unlimited amount. This credibility gain of the intervention promise, however, is overcompensated by decisive disadvantages of an unconditioned suspension of the settlement rules:

- The precondition of monetary stability could be violated because the asymmetrical adjustment constraints for the weak currency which is rational in the case of diverging inflation rates would be dropped. An unconditioned suspension of the settlement rules would, therefore, excuse the weak currency countries from monetary policy adjustments even if they prove to be necessary for preserving the monetary stability of the overall system. During the 1980s, the settlement obligations have been the crucial mechanism forcing the countries with high inflation rates to ward a nominal convergence with the anchor currency. For that reason, one should not in principle refrain from the potentially disciplining settlement obligations.
- From the hard currency countries' perspective, an unconditioned revocation of the settlement rules would also violate the criterion of a sufficient protection against opportunistic behaviour of currencies with higher inflation rates. Following an expansive monetary policy and financing the resulting balance of payments deficits by obligatory interventions of the hard currency countries would be an example for opportunistic behaviour of weak currency countries⁷⁵. As a consequence of the

⁷⁴) For a discussion of case by case suspensions of the settlement obligations see Bofinger (1991, p.373-376; 1993b) and Collignon (1993, p.170-173). The proposals of a mutual holding of EMS currencies made by Balladur (1987) and the French Commisariat General du Plan (1993) as well as the strategy of broadening the anchor through additional and unlimited long-term credit facilities suggested by Collignon (1993) de facto also imply the suspension of the settlement rules. For a discussion see ibid (1993, p.167-169; p.170-173; pp.174).

⁷⁵) This problem also arises with a de facto suspension through introducing an additional and unlimited long-term intervention facility as suggested by Collignon. The proposal explicitly leads to unlimited bilateral credit facilities for financing interventions. Thereby a country could finance its balance of payments deficits.

intervention financing the hard currency countries have to face the risk of an inflationary adjustment deriving from the interventions' liquidity effects if those exceed their sterilisation capacity. The danger of opportunistic behaviour in the absence of settlement obligations, therefore, is a result of at the same time remaining unrestricted autonomy of the national monetary policies.

Who nevertheless seeks to establish a vital protection against fundamentally inadequate adjustment constraints, a conditioned suspension competency of the settlement obligations should be considered⁷⁶. To minimize the risks of opportunistic behaviour the suspension competency could be assigned to the EMI and tied to the precondition of a prior autonomization of the national central banks according to the institutional requirements laid down in the Maastricht Treaty. For defining the conditions that have to be fulfilled for activating the suspension competency certain rules for a direct coordination of national monetary policies are necessary⁷⁷. Furthermore it is obvious, that if the hard currency central bank can veto or even revoke a suspension decision, the probability of opportunistic behaviour among the central banks involved will be minimized. In detail the suspension competency should be organized as follows:

- a) The temporary and conditioned suspension competency is assigned to the EMI. Within the EMI it is tied to the precondition of the institutional autonomy standard for monetary policy laid down in the Maastricht Treaty. The suspension competency can be activated only in mutual consent of the central banks involved and can unilaterally be revoked at any time.
- b) In terms of monetary stability the suspension competency remains limited to situations of clearly identifiable speculative attacks. The degree of meeting the money

A monetary adjustment constraint to assure interest rate conditions sufficient to finance the deficits in the markets without suffering market pressures on the exchange rate would no longer exist; see Collignon (1993, pp.174).

⁷⁶) See Vehrkamp (1992, pp.645).

⁷⁷) For a discussion of the interrelation between a suspension of the settlement obligations and a direct monetary coordination see chapter 5.2.

supply and price level targets mutually agreed as part of the ex ante direct monetary policy coordination within the EMI serves as a suitable identification criterion for the speculative character of market pressures on exchange rates within the given margins.

Overall it has been demonstrated that a temporary and conditioned suspension of the settlement obligations is sufficient to make the system's intervention promise credible for the markets. In order to meet all of the above required preconditions for a successful EMS reform, however, the merits of a suspension competency depends on a corresponding efficient mechanism for direct monetary policy coordination. Therefore, this proposal is clearly inferior to the forward intervention strategy discussed in chapter 5.4. With forward interventions the monetary coordination mechanism would remain market determined, while at the same time inadequate adjustment constraints in case of speculative attacks are eleminated. With forward interventions the establishment of a mechanism for direct monetary policy coordination during the phase of transition as it has proved to be necessary for reforming the system by introducing a suspension competency could be avoided.

5.6. Exchange Rate Management Competency of the Central Banks

Transferring the exchange rate management competency within the EMS to the central banks would be an important contribution for objectifying the existing rules of the system. The exchange rate adjustment mechanism could then be used more efficiently as an additional instrument of a direct monetary policy coordination than it was allowed for with the political exchange rate competency of the governments within the 'old EMS'. The exchange rate management competency could become an integrated part of the governance structure for direct monetary policy coordination. As a result of that, a credible and consistent use of the interest rate, intervention, and exchange rate adjustment instruments within the EMS would be guaranteed. The protection against opportunistic behaviour of individual governments is considerably improved. From the more political point of view, this should also increase the central banks' willingness to enhance the cooperation of national monetary policies. Anyway, for the system as a whole a considerable credibility gain is to be expected.

72

To avoid political disadvantages in terms of the Maastricht integration schedule shifting the exchange rate management competency to the central banks has to be limited to the allday management of central rate adjustments within the system. The basic institutional government competency of modifying the exchange rate regime in general would not be affected. Deciding the if, when and how of the member states' return to the normal fluctuation margins as well as the final decision of entering the third stage remains an exclusive domain of national government's and parliament's involved. The suggested split of the exchange rate competency *(regime competency of the governments and management competency of the central banks)* fulfils both the political integration objective of the governments and the monetary stability objectives of the central banks. The pace of monetary integration would still be determined politically; however, with a divided exchange competency it would not be necessary to give up the advantages of a rate management competency of the central banks⁷⁸.

⁷⁸) For the integration strategy presented in chapter VI such a splitting the exchange rate competency means that the decision of entering the third stage remains political, whereas the central rate management for the course of stage two is transferred to the central banks.

VI. A Strategy for Stage Two

The following suggests a reform strategy for the European Monetary System (EMS) in the course of the second stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union (EEMU). Based on the integration schedule and procedure of the Maastricht Treaty, the proposals facilitate a criteria-orientated transition to the third and final stage by 1999 at the latest.

First, the establishment of a *monetary autonomy standard* for Europe is suggested by improving and strenghening the institutional framework of the European Monetary Institute (EMI). The autonomy standard of the EMI should be orientated to the criterion of institutional convergence of the central banks involved according to the Maastricht Treaty. The monetary autonomy standard will be supplemented by a *two-track EMS*. For the core countries a *de facto monetary union* can be established by ultimately fixing the fluctuation margins. The core countries of the de facto monetary union remain tied to the countries of the periphery through a *modified exchange rate mechanism* which is considerably strengthened compared to the 'old EMS'. As an institutional link between the monetary autonomy standard and the two-tier European Monetary System the exchange rate management competency of the central banks is also transferred to the EMI.

6.1. European Autonomy Standard

As laid down in the Maastricht Treaty, the monetary policy autonomy of the national central banks is a prerequisite for entering the third stage. Its implementation, therefore, is scheduled for the course of the second stage. In addition to the four macroeconomic convergence criteria, we can speak of a fifth criterion of institutional convergence. Even the standards of the required autonomization are already given by the statute of the ESCB and are, therefore, also a vital part of the Treaty.

For our purposes it is suggested that the monetary autonomization of the national central banks according to the institutional standard of the ESCB is realized already at the beginning of stage two. As a 'Club of Autonomous Central Bank Governors', the EMI would be a credible forerunner of the ESCB. A *european autonomy standard* would be established.

The proposal is based on the considerable advantages of an early institutional convergence for each individual country. The credibility gain of a stability orientated monetary policy associated with the institutional convergence would considerably reduce the economic costs of its realization especially for the former weak currency countries. Furthermore, the european autonomy standard would provide for an efficient 'governance structure' for a more credible direct coordination of national monetary policy within the 'new EMS' and, thereby, could also serve as a conceptual preparation of the third stage of the monetary union.

Concerning the exchange rate policy, the autonomy standard is supplemented by the exchange rate management competency within the 'new EMS' transferred to the EMI. Thereby, the three available instruments for keeping the exchange rate promise would be concentrated within the EMI. Defending the exchange rates in the markets, the EMI then could autonomously decide on a suitable combination of the interest rate, intervention, and exchange rate adjustment instruments. The probability of a consistent and, therefore, credible use of these instruments would be maximized and problems of political coordination could be avoided. In order to create sufficient incentives for the national governments to give up the exchange rate management competency within the 'new EMS', its transference to the EMI, as the prior autonomization of the central banks, should become a precondition for the participation in one of the two institutional arrangements of the new two-track EMS.

6.2. A Two-Track European Monetary System for the Transitional Stage Towards Monetary Union

The integration strategy laid down in the Maastricht Treaty already implies a multi-track Europe for the further monetary integration on its way to monetary union. The strategy of a criteria-orientated transition to the third stage inevitably determines a multi-speed transition for the individual countries. In this respect the following proposal of a two-track EMS for the course of stage two is in accordance with the scheduled multi-track strategy for the transition to the third stage. The necessity of a two-track EMS is mainly a consequence from the still existing economic convergence deficits in terms of monetary stability policy for some of the member states. Besides the precondition of institutional convergence with regard to the autonomy standard, the actually realized level of monetary stability should serve as the criterion for joining the *de facto monetary union* of the core countries. A price level rule in terms of an absolute inflation target has proved to be an economic rational precondition for joining the de facto union. Such a rule would require that each individual state has not exceeded the absolute inflation standard (e.g. 3%) for the average of an agreed period of time (e.g. 3 years) before joining the de facto union. For participating in the *modified exchange rate mechanism of the peripheral countries* the institutional precondition of the european autonomy standard would be sufficient because continuing inflation divergences can furthermore be balanced by occasional exchange rate adjustments.

6.2.1. De Facto Monetary Union of the Core Countries

In order to create a de facto monetary union of the core countries it is not necessary that the states involved abolish the fluctuation margins around the fixed central rates. It is sufficient to return to the narrow margins of the 'old EMS'. These margins and the corresponding central rates, however, have to be ultimately fixed. For a credible and sustainable intervention promise to protect the de facto monetary union's exchange rates in the markets the otherwise unchanged rule system of the old EMS has to be supplemented by a symmetrical, unconditioned, and unlimited intervention obligation of the central banks in the forward market. The spot intervention obligations of the 'old EMS' are not to be abolished but only completed by obligatory forward interventions.

While maintaining the existing spot intervention rules, the intervention obligation in the forward markets has two different effects. It provides for an efficient mechanism for monetary policy coordination within the de facto monetary union as for a credible intervention mechanism to protect the exchange rates against speculative attacks:

The latter is ensured because a forward intervention promise is sustainable for the central banks and, therefore, is credible for the markets. The unlimited interventions of the central

banks necessary to discourage a speculative attack are defused in terms of direct expansive liquidity effects. In the course of an attack, however, the speculants inevitably suffer exchange losses of an amount equal to the intramarginal inter currency interest rate differences as indicated in the swap rates.

The necessary interest rate coordination within the de facto monetary union is ensured by the certain combination of spot and foward interventions. The remaining asymmetry for financing spot interventions, forces the weak currency countries to activate the symmetrically designed forward intervention mechanism by establishing an intramarginal inter currency interest rate difference in favour of the weak currency. The interest rate coordination mechanism, therefore, would essentially remain market-determined. However, the risk of inadequate monetary adjustment constraints as a consequence of fundamentally irrational attacks is reduced to the establishment of intramarginal interest rate differences to activate the foward intervention mechanism.

Therefore the suggested reform meets all criteria and preconditions required in this paper for the implementation of a stability-orientated fixed rate system (see chapter 5.1.). It is sustainable and, therefore, credible at the same time. It guarantees for an exchange rate stabilization around the level of the ultimately fixed central rates. The system's interest rate standard is set by the market-determined anchor currency of the system. Although fluctuation margins continue to exist, this part of the 'new EMS' can be described as a de facto monetary union.

The transition from the de facto monetary union as a 'core EMS' to the third stage of monetary union could take place according to the procedure and timetable laid down in the Maastricht Treaty by 1999 at the latest.

6.2.2. Modified Exchange Rate Mechanism with the Periphery

Those countries not yet able to meet the preconditions of monetary stability according to the ex ante agreed inflation standard should be tied to the core countries' de facto union by reestablishing the exchange rate mechanism of the 'old EMS' in an improved and
strengthened version. The institutional convergence of the monetary autonomy standard, including the exchange rate management competency of the central banks within the rate mechanism, is the only precondition for participating in this modified exchange rate mechanism of the periphery.

For countries which meet the citerion of institutional convergence, the exchange rate mechanism of the EMS should be re-established within the normal fluctuation margins of +/-2,25%. In order to find a convincing response to the far-reaching loss of credibility which the 'old EMS' suffered from the 1992/93 crisis, it is suggested to strengthen the intervention rules by introducing a case-by-case suspension competency of the settlement obligations. The extended EMS should not in principle refrain from the settlement rules as an efficient coordination mechanism of monetary policies in case of furthermore diverging inflation standards. During the 1980s, it has proved to be the decisive mechanism to discipline national policies in line with the monetary standard of the anchor currency. Still, the criterion of protection against the costs of inadequate monetary policy adjustment caused by speculative attacks requires the introduction of a suspension competency of the settlement obligations at least in cases of clearly identified speculative attacks. For reasons of institutional efficiency, the suspension competency should also be assigned to the EMI and should be decided by mutual consent of the central banks involved.

In interaction with the exchange rate management competency of the EMI a consistent and, therefore, credible use of the interest rate, intervention, and exchange rate adjustment instruments would be ensured for the protection of the in principle furthermore adjustable fluctuation margins. The modified exchange rate mechanism would already be more credible than in the 'old EMS' because it is institutionally strengthened by the autonomy standard for national monetary policies. The transition from the modified exchange rate mechanism to the de facto monetary union should depend on a sufficient fulfillment of the monetary stability criterion and can be decided individually.

Final Remarks

With the extended fluctuation margins of +/-15% the convergence criteria of the Maastricht Treaty have proved to be prohibitive for further progress towards the European Monetary Union. Therefore, in order to establish a monetary union by 1999 at the latest an additional reform strategy outside the EEC-Treaty is necessary to re-establish the EMS. A 'new EMS' proves to be a precondition for the transition to the third stage.

The above suggested reform has the advantage to facilitate such a reform outside the EEC-Treaty without contravening its principles or requiring any modifications. It meets each of the required preconditions for a stability-orientated fixed rate system from the hard currency countries' perspective ('stability criterion' and protection against 'inflationary infection') as well as from the weak currency countries' perspective ('protection against speculative attacks'). In its essence, merely an earlier implementation of certain measures which are anyway scheduled for the course of the second stage is proposed. In terms of a successful european integration policy, the rationality of realizing the European Monetary Union before the turn of the century is met, as is the central bank's rationality of preserving and even strengthen monetary stability. The proposal, therefore, proves to be the result of a rationality mix which is suitable to bring back the process of european monetary integration on the track of the Maastricht Treaty.

Appendix I:

The Anatomy of Speculative Attacks

The Anatomy of Speculative Attacks

The EMS is a fixed rate system with symmetrical fluctuation margins of +/-2,25% around the bilateral central rates and a politically determined central rate adjustment mechanism. In such a system speculative one-way bets tend to occur when the market participants anticipate central rate adjustments in an extent which ensures, that the upper intervention point of the new margin will be fixed below the lower intervention point of the former margin, and that the financing costs of the speculation do not overcompensate the expected devaluation profits. To perform a speculative attack, the speculants predominantly use the traditional exchange trading instruments in the spot and swap markets¹. Two alternative ways of performing a speculative attack can be distinguished²:

1. Off-Balance-Sheet Attacks

Off-balance-sheet attacks are *forward speculations*. The market participants sell the attacked currency against a hard currency in the foward markets. If the currency has been devalued before the maturity date of the forward deal, the speculants can expect to be able to purchase the spot amount of the weak currency necessary to meet the forward obligation at a rate which is cheaper than the agreed forward price.

2. On-Balance-Sheet Attacks

On-balance-sheet attacks are *spot speculations*. Market participants sell the attacked currency in the spot market against hard currency. When the currency has been devalued, they might expect to purchase it at a rate which is far enough below the former rate to overcompensate the financing costs of the speculative spot position.

¹) This is confirmed for the 1992/93 EMS crisis by a G-10 report based on interviews with market participants: "Options and other derivatives do not appear to have played a special role in the episode. (...) Most of the action was in traditional spot, swap, and outright forward instruments, and was the direct result of concious decisions to alter exposures in currencies viewed as devaluation risks." G-10 (1993, p.17).

²) See International Monetary Fund (1993), especially the appendices IV an V on the mechanics and economics of speculative attacks during the EMS-crisis 1992/93, p.40-43 and p.44-48.

In both variants, the central banks, according to their spot intervention obligations, are forced to take the counter position of both the speculative spot and/or forward sales by intervening in the spot markets. Furthermore, they have to refinance the non-bank credit expansion necessary to finance the speculative investments. In order to demonstrate that it is insignificant for the central banks in which variant the markets are performing a speculative ve attack the following will give a detailed describtion of both. The description is illustrated by corresponding accounting charts.

A) The Dynamics of an Off-Balance-Sheet Attack³

Step 1: The speculant sells the attacked currency (100 FF) forward to bank A for hard currency (30 DM):

Tab. 1A-1	Spec	culant	Ban	ık A
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
1.Step: <u>Speculative forward deal</u> one month forward sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to bank A	30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)

Without using any liquid capital, the speculant has established his uncovered foreign currency position denominated in the currency which he suspects to be revalued. For him, no direct financing costs in terms of interest payments arise. In order to realize a speculative exchange profit it is sufficient that the future spot rate, at which the speculant will cover his forward position prior to the maturity date, is cheaper than the agreed forward rate⁴. Profit and risk of the speculant, therefore, are based on the expected difference of the future spot

³) See the summary of the following individual accounting charts in table 1A of this appendix.

⁴) For the foward speculant indirect financing costs arise because his foward rate deviates from the effective spot rate in an amount that equals the inter currency interest rate difference, because the so-called covered interest rate arbitrage always guarantees the exact equalization of the swap rate, as the difference between the spot and the foward rate, with the inter currency interest rate difference. The indirect financing costs of the foward speculant, therefore, are equal to the direct financing costs of a spot speculant who first raises a credit in the attacked currency and then invests the amount of the credit in hard currency. Concerning the overall profits, spot and foward speculations, therefore, lead to exactly the same results. Selecting the instruments during a speculative attack mainly depends on the criteria of availability and liquidity, and not on return calculations.

rate to today's forward rate. By contracting the speculative forward deal a corresponding currency risk inevitably arises for bank A.

Step 2: Unintentional arising uncovered currency positions in the banking system are routinely covered by the individual bank involved. Covering a forward position can be reached by combining a contrary spot- with a swap transaction:

Tab. 1A-2	Bar	nk A	Ba	nk B	Centra	l Bank
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
 2.Step: <u>Covering bank A</u> a) spot purchase of 30 DM against 100 FF from the central bank b) swap with bank B: spot sale of 30 DM against 100 FF in two days and re-purchase in one month 	30 DM (In two days) 100 FF (In two days) 30 DM (In one mentik)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one math)	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one month)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in two days)	30 DM (In two days)

First, the short spot position is offset in terms of the currency risk involved by a spot purchase of the hard currency (30 DM) against the currency which is suspected to be devalued (100 FF). The remaining maturity inconsistency is balanced by an additional swap transaction. The purchased spot amount in hard currency is exchanged against a corresponding forward position. In that way, bank A is balanced in terms of both, uncovered currencies in amount and maturity. According to the spot intervention obligations, the central banks have to match the spot transaction whereas the swap is routinely contracted with another bank B. As a consequence of the spot intervention the central banks are facing the systemically determined liquidity and reserve effects⁵. They at first activate the corresponding asymmetrical monetary policy adjustment constraints and finally, if the liquidity and reserve effects become unsustainable from the central banks' perspective, unavoidably lead to a devaluation of the attacked currency.

⁵) Within the EMS interventions usually imply symmetrical liquidity effects (=expansive money base effects in the hard currency versus restrictive money base effects in the weak currency) and asymmetrical reserve effects for the weak currency central bank (=direct loss of hard currency intervention reserves respectively repayment or settlement obligations deriving from drawings on the system's credit facilities or interventions carried out by the hard currency country). In our example, the expansive DM- and restrictive FF-money base effects due to the spot interventions arise simultaneously at bank A because, for reasons of simplification, one can refrain from both, distingushing between the DM- and FF-banking system and between the DM- and FF-central banks. The simplification seems to be suitable because otherwise the analysis is considerably complicated, however, it would not alter its results.

Step 3: As a consequence of its swap transaction bank B needs to earn interest on the hard currency spot amount received in the spot leg of the transaction. The bank, therefore, invests the spot amount for the duration of the forward:

Tab. 1A-3	Ba	nk B	Ban	nk C
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
3.Step: <u>Investment bank B</u> a) investment of 30 DM for one month	30 DM (in one month)	30 DM (in two days)	30 DM (in two days)	30 DM (in one month)

Bank B, therefore, is also balanced in terms of maturity.

Step 4: With the liquidity effects of the central banks' spot interventions, the central banks are faced to sterilize the intervention-related expansive DM- and restricitve FF-money base effects. Besides they have to refinance the central bank money demand of the banking system resulting from the speculative DM-investments. Therefore, the hard currency central bank has to contract a restrictive open market transaction equal to the spot intervention (30 DM) with bank A. With that, the expansive money base effect of the spot intervention is completely sterilized. For the FF-central bank an expansive open market transaction in the same amount as the intervention with bank B is necessary in order to sterilize the restrictive FF-money base effect of the intervention. For the purpose of satisfying the additional demand for DM-central bank money arising from the additional DM-investment of bank B (see footnote 6), the DM-central bank has to contract an expansive open market transaction with bank C in an amount equal to r(30 DM):

Tab. 1A-4	Ban	k A/C	Centra	l Bank
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
 4.Step: <u>Sterilization and refinancing</u> a) ster. of the expansive DM m.b. effect (**) b) ster. of the restrictive FF m.b. effect (***) c) ref. of the DM investment (****) 	30 DM (ref. assets) 100 FF (c.b. money) r(30 DM) (c.b. money)	30 DM (c.b. money) 100 FF (ref. assets) r(30 DM) (ref. assets)	30 DM (c.b. money) 100 FF (ref. assets) r(30 DM) (ref. assets)	30 DM (ref. sssets) 100 FF (c.b. money) r(30 DM) (c.b. money)

(**) Intervention-caused expansive DM money base effects automatically arise when the interventions are directly carried out by the DM central bank or the FF central bank's intervention reserves have previously been deposited at the DM central bank. (***) Intervention-caused restrictive FF money base effects automatically arise when the interventions are directly carried out by the FF central bank or the DM central bank's intervention reserves have previously been deposited at the FF central bank. (****) An additional demand for DM central bank money arises from the DM investment only in case of the DM central bank has failed to sterilize the expansive DM money base effects. If the sterilization of the intervention-related expansive DM-money base effect is cleared with the additional central bank money demoand of the banking system from the DM-investment, a net amount of (30-r30)DM remains for the DM-central bank to be sterilized⁶. Therefore, additional to the expansion of the non-bank liquidity equal to the speculative investments, the currency attack leads to an expansion of the bank liquidity (= money base) equal to r(30DM) for the DM-central bank even after the sterilization and refinancing transactions are finished⁷. While the expansion of the non-bank liquidity has to be accepted as inevitable from the central bank's perspective, it could refrain from refinancing the speculative investments. However, if the hard currency central bank refuses to refinance the speculative investments, the resulting increases of the domestic money market interest rates will automatically lead to an aggravation of the speculative attack. The thereby reduced inter currency interest rate in favour of the attacked currency decreases the financing costs of the speculants and, therefore, further increases the incentive to speculate. For that reason, the DM-central bank is realistically forced to refinance the non-bank liquidity expansion. A corresponding de facto obligation to sterilize can be derived for the liquidity effects of the interventions. In case of unsterilized spot interventions, the hard currency central bank would, in terms of interest rate and liquidity policy, completely lose its control over domestic money markets⁸. However, its ability to fulfil the de facto obligation to sterilize is limited to the amount of its sterilization capacity.

Corresponding to the above analysis the weak currency central banks are liable to a de facto obligation to sterilize the intervention's restrictive money base effects. If a central bank would refuse to do so, at first the interest rates in the weak currency's domestic money market are likely to increase. Thereby the financing costs of the speculants are increased

⁶) A uniform reserve quota for all bank liabilities is assumed; due to the short-term view, multiplier effects are not considered.

⁷) For this distinction between the effects on the bank liquidity (=money base) and the non-bank liquidity see Deutsche Bundesbank (1993, p. 19-34).

⁸) For a further discussion see chapter 5.4.. The actual sterilization obligation can already be derived from the fact that otherwise an unlimited intervention promise of the hard currency central bank is not credible for the markets because the central bank would give up its monetary policy autonomy. A complete renunciation of sterilization policy, therefore, is extremely implausible from a perspective following the theory of bureaucratic behaviour. Central banks are not likely to voluntary commit political sucide.

which might help to lessen the attack because the devaluation expectations of the speculants are over-compensated by their interest costs. However, the extremely high interest rates necessary for that become implausible even in the short- and medium-term because no central bank can passively accept the deasastrous consequences of speculative exessive interest rates for the economy as a whole. In the end, the central bank as the lender of last resort has to guarantee economically acceptable interest rates, and this is what the market participants anticipate⁹.

Summary: The result of intervening in the spot markets to fight a speculative offbalance-sheet attack is unsatisfying for the central banks in every respect:

For the hard currency country, the speculative increase of the non-bank liquidity and the expansive money base effects of the interventions lead to a gradual loss of policy control over the domestic money markets. Historical experiences with speculative currency crisis clearly show that the hard currency central bank will opt out and permit a devaluation of the attacked currency at the latest when its sterilization capacity is exhausted. The speculative attack has then been successful for the speculants.

Besides the reserve losses the weak currency country is facing severe economic costs in terms of increasing interest rates in the domestic money market. These interest rate increases directly result from the restrictive monetary base effects of the spot interventions, at least as long as they are not sterilized. On the horns of a dilemma, the central bank either aggravates the speculative attack through the sterilization policy by keeping the interest costs of the speculants low, or it passively accepts the economic costs of exessive interest rates. Both alternatives improve the prospects of a successful attack for the speculants and, therefore, lead to an aggravation of the speculants' market pressure. The historical experience proves that with the accumulating reserve losses even the weak currency central banks are forced to opt out. From this perspective, again, the speculative attack is in the end successful for the speculants.

⁹) See the basic and still valid explanations of Bagehot (1873).

After the forced devaluation of the attacked currency the speculative currency positions are re-exchanged with the central banks. Again, from the perspective of the central banks involved, one can speak of a de facto obligation to re-exchange the speculative positions. This obligation results from the policy objective of re-establishing normal conditions for the domestic money markets, from the necessity of replenishing the intervention reserves and, last but not least, from the intervention obligations at the devalued currency's upper intervention point of the new margin. All this leads us to the perverse consequence that in the end the central banks have to finance the speculants' exchange profits¹⁰. Therefore, in speculative attacks the central banks become the exploitable resource of the system¹¹.

B) The Dynamics of an On-Balance-Sheet Attack¹²

Step 1: The speculant sells the attacked currency against hard currency in the spot market. The counter position of the speculative spot transaction is directly taken by the central banks following their intervention obligations:

Tab. 1B-1	Spec	culant	Centra	l Bank
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
1.Step: <u>Speculative spot deal</u> spot sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to the central bank	30 DM (in two days)	100 FF (in two days)	100 FF (in two days)	30 DM (in two days)

The speculant intends to hold his uncovered spot position in hard currency until he is able to profitably sell it after a devaluation of the attacked currency for the new spot rate (e.g. 30 DM against 110 FF). As long as the thereby realized exchange profit exceeds the interest costs from financing the speculative currency position, the speculation has been profitable. For the central banks, the spot interventions cause corresponding liquidity and reserve

¹⁰) The distribution of the overall loss among the member central banks mainly derives from the denomination rules of the settlement procedure; for details see Committee of Governors (1993, p.6).

¹¹) This already results from the foreign exchange trading as a closed system being a zero-sum game; the profit of the one is the loss of another. In speculative one-way bets the central banks inherently have to take the loss position. See Grabbe (1991, p.287).

¹²) See the summary of the accounting charts in table 1B) of this appendix.

effects. The overall result exactly corresponds to the first and second steps of an off-balance-sheet attack. The only difference is, that the transmittance of the speculative foward transaction into the spot market is not necessary because in an on-balance-sheet attack the central bank is directly contracting the spot position with the speculant.

Step 2: The speculant invests his speculative hard currency spot amount in order to earn interest:

Tab. 1B-2	Spe	culant	Ba	nk B
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
2.Step: <u>Investment by the speculant</u> a) investment of 30 DM for one month	30 DM (in one month)	30 DM (in two days)	30 DM (in two days)	30 DM (in one month)

The thereby realized interest returns help to reduce his direct financing costs from borrowing in the attacked currency to the inter currency interest rate difference¹³. They, therefore, are exactly equal to the indirect financing costs of a forward speculant as being represented by the swap rate.

Step 3: For the central banks, the sterilization and refinancing requirements resulting from a spot intervention are the same as in case of a forward speculation:

Tab. 1B-3	Ban	k A/B	Centra	l Bank
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
3.Step: <u>Sterilization and refinancing</u> a) ster. of the expansive DM m.b. effects (*) b) ster. of the restrictive FF m.b. effects (**) c) ref. of the DM investment (***)	30 DM (ref. assets) 100 FF (c.b. money) r(30 DM) (c.b. money)	30 DM (c.b. money) 100 FF (ref. assets) r(30 DM) (ref. assets)	30 DM (c.b. money) 100 FF (ref. assets) r(30 DM) (ref. assets)	30 DM (ref. assets) 100 FF (c.b. money) r(30 DM) (c.b. money)

(*) Intervention-caused expansive DM money base effects automatically arise when the interventions are directly carried out by the DM central bank or the FF central bank's intervention reserves have previously been deposited at the DM central bank. (**) Intervention-caused restrictive FF money base effects automatically arise when the interventions are directly carried out by the FF central bank or the DM central bank's intervention reserves have previously been deposited at the FF central bank. (***) An additional demand for DM central bank money arises from the DM investment only in case of the DM central bank has failed to sterilize the expansive DM money base effects of the interventions.

¹³) See footnote 4 of this appendix.

The only difference is that with spot speculations the speculative expansion of the hard currency's non-bank liquidity is a direct consequence of the speculant's transactions, wherereas in case of an off-balance-sheet attack it follows from the swap contracting bank's investment of the swap's spot amount.

For the central banks the implications of a spot intervention obligation are identical for on-balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet attacks. In both cases the central banks take the counter position of the speculants by intervening in the spot market. The corresponding liquidity and reserve effects at first trigger the almost entirely asymmetrical monetary adjustment constraints for the weak currency countries. Due to the accumulating reserve losses the budget restriction of limited intervention reserves forces the weak currency countries to shift their efforts in fighting the attack from the intervention to the interest rate instrument. An opting-out of the weak currency countries becomes unavoidable when a further use of the interest rate instrument becomes unsustainable for the economy as a whole. In case that both, intervention and interest rate instruments have become implausible, the only way out is a devaluation according to the speculative market pressures. For the weak currency countries, the inherent implausibility of the unlimited spot intervention promise directly result from their budget restriction of limited hard currency intervention reserves. The very short-term financing in the EMS does only temporarily suspend this budget restriction and with the asymmetric settlement obligation for the weak currencies it is even extended to the interventions carried out by the hard currency countries.

The intervention promise of a hard currency country becomes implausible for the markets when its sterilization capacity is exhausted and the hard currency central bank, therefore, loses its monetary policy control over domestic money market conditions. With the sterilization capacity exhausted, the symmetry characteristics of the entire system are changing. The monetary adjustment constraints become more symmetrical or even asymmetrical for the hard currency countries which are then forced to adjust to the interest rates and monetary policy of the weak currency country. The market participants, therefore, will anticipate an opting-out of the hard currency central bank at the latest when its sterilization potential is exhausted.

89

Final remarks: The mechanics of speculative attacks show that exchange rate promises within the 'old EMS' are inherently implausible because the instruments for keeping the promises are lacking credibility. The markets anticipate that both, the intervention and interest rate instruments are not sustainable. Consequently, the one-way bets of speculative attacks seem to be promising even when the exchange rates are in accordance with economic fundamentals. The inherent implausibility of the system alone has proved to be sufficient to provoke speculative attacks of the markets. Following their profit-maximizing rationality the markets sooner or later realize the potential profit of a speculative attack. *Anybody who gives exchange rate promises has to guaranatee them by means and instruments being credible for the markets*. This condition is not fulfilled for the 'old EMS'.

Speculations)
(Forward
Attacks
ff-Balance-Sheet
e 1A: <i>O</i>
Table

	Spec	ulant	Bar	ık A	Bar	ık B	Centra	l Bank
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
1.Step: <u>Speculative foward deal:</u> one month foward sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to bank A	30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in ore month)				
 2.Step: 2.Step: Covering bank A a) spot purchase of 30 DM against 100 FF from the central bank b) swap with bank B: spot sale of 30 DM against 100 FF in two days and re-purchase in one month 			30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM 100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in two daya) 100 FF	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in two days)	30 DM (in two days)
3.Step: <u>Investment bank B</u> a) investment: of 30 DM for one month (*)					30 DM (in one month)	30 DM (in two days)		
4.Step: Sterilization and refinancing a) ster. of the expansive DM m.b. effect (***) b) ster. of the restrictive FF m.b. effect(***) c) ref. of the DM investment (****)			30 DM (ref. asses) 100 FF (c.b. incorey)	30 DM (c.b. money) 100 FF (ref. macu)	r(30 DM) (c.b. money)	r(30 DM) (ref. uneu)	30 DM (c.b. money) 100 FF (nef. asses) (nef. asses) (nef. asses)	30 DM (ref. asses) 100 FF (c.b. monuy) r(30 DM)
(*) For example at a bank C. (**) Intervention-caused c the the FF central bank's intervention reserves have pre when the interventions are directly carried out by the F An additional demand for DM central bank money arise the interventions. C.b. = central bank; $r = minimum r$	expansive DM n eviously been de FF central bank es from the DM reserve quota fo	noney base effects posited at the DN or the DM centr investment only r DM investment	s automatically M central bank. al bank's interv in case of the I s; m.b. = mon	arise when the ir (***) Interventic ention reserves M central bank ey base; ref. =	iterventions are on-caused restri- have previously has failed to ste refinancing; stei	directly carried o stive FF money b been deposited a srilize the expansi c. = sterilization.	out by the DM co ase effects autor tt the FF central ive DM money t	entral bank or natically arise bank. (****) base effects of

Speculations)
(Spot
Attacks
ce-sheet
On-balan
1B:
Table

	Spec	ulant	Ban	lk A	Bar	ık B	Centra	l Bank
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Rayment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
1.Step: <u>Speculative spot deal</u> spot sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to the central bank	30 DM (in two days)	100 FF (in two days)					100 FF (in two days)	30 DM (in two days)
2.Step: <u>Investment by the speculant</u> a) investment of 30 DM for one month	30 DM (in one month)	30 DM (in two days)			30 DM (in two days)	30 DM (in one month)		
3.Step: <u>Sterilization and refinancing</u> a) ster. of the expansive DM m.b. effects (*) b) ster. of the restrictive FF m.b. effects(**) c) ref. of the DM investment (***)			30 DM (ref. anech) 100 FF (c.h. money)	30 DM (c.b. many) 100 FF (ref. waev)	r(30 DM) (c.b. money)	r(30 DM) (ref. 1000)	30 DM (c.b. money) 100 FF (ref. aneca) (ref. aneca)	30 DM (acf. aureu) 100 FF (c.b. monuy) (c.b. monuy)
(*) Bank A as the speculant's bank. Intervention-caused or the FF central bank's intervention reserves have pre when the interventions are directly carried out by the FF additional demand for DM central bank money arises fre	I expansive DM eviously been de F central bank o om the DM inv	money base effe posited at the DM or the DM central estment only in c	cts automaticall: M central bank. I bank's interver ase of the DM o	y arise when the (**) Interventio ntion reserves ha central bank has	interventions a n-caused restric ve previously b failed to steriliz	re directly carrier tive FF money b cen deposited at 1 c the expansive l	d out by the DM ase effects autor the FF central by DM money base	f central bank natically arise ank. (***) An effects of the

interventions. C.b. = central bank; r=minimum reserve quota for DM investments; m.b. = money base; ref. = refinancing; ster. = sterilization.

Appendix II:

Forward Interventions in Speculative Attacks

Forward Interventions in Speculative Attacks

Compared to interventions in the spot markets, forward interventions have the decisive advantage not to involve any direct liquidity and reserve effects for the intervening central bank. The following will show that those effects can be avoided even if the central bank's forward transactions actually have to be delivered. Besides that, it will be demonstrated that it is irrelevant for the effectiveness of forward interventions if the speculative attack is performed as an on-balance-sheet attack or as an off-balance-sheet attack. Forward interventions prove to be an efficient defence mechanism against both of them². In both cases the credibility problems inherent to spot intervention strategies can be avoided.

A) The Dynamics of Forward Interventions in Off-Balance-Sheet Attacks

Variant 1: In the first variant of a forward intervention strategy, the intervening central bank directly takes on the counter position of the speculant's forward sale of the attacked currency:

Tab. 2A-1	Spee	culant	Central	Banks
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
<u>1. Variant</u> 1.Step: <u>Speculative foward deal</u> one month foward sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to the central bank	30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)

If the central bank has managed to contract its foward intervention directly with the speculant, the currency position of the commercial bank system is not affected by the speculative attack. Thereby the transmittance of the speculative foward deal into the spot market is already interrupted at the speculant's initial transaction. For the central banks, therefore, no liquidity or reserve effects arise from interventions in the course of the attack. Those effects are only conceivable - analogous to a spot intervention - when the forward transaction is effectively delivered at the maturity date. An effective delivery of speculative forward

²) In the follwing a forward intervention strategy similar to the one suggested in chapter 5.4. is assumed. The proposal provides for simultaneous intervention obligations in the spot and foward markets. For the interaction of spot and foward interventions see box I in chapter 5.4.

transactions with the central banks, however, can be regarded as being extremely unlikely because it always automatically involves a loss for the speculant of an amount equal to the inter currency interest rate difference as represented in the swap rate. The proposed intervention strategy obliges the central banks to unlimited foward interventions only when the foward rate has reached the lower intervention point of a currency. With a remaining asymmetrical spot intervention obligation for the weak currency country, to activate the symmetrical foward intervention mechanism the attacked central bank is forced to establish a positive interest rate difference in favour of its own currency, because otherwise it would be the spot rate that first touches the lower intervention point and thereby release only the asymmetrical spot intervention obligation. Within the 'new EMS' the furthermore co-existing spot intervention mechanism of the 'old EMS' proves to serve as an efficient mechanism of coordination for the national interest rate policies. It guarantees for a positive interest rate difference in favour of the attacked currency as a first line of defence against a speculative attack, because such a difference is a precondition to activate the symmetric foward intervention mechanism. Thereby, for the central banks and speculants the tables are turned in the course of a speculative attack:

- For central banks, the liquidity and reserve effects arise from the beginning. They are forced to face the 'costs' of their spot interventions during the entire course of the attack. Spot interventions, therefore, are viewed to be self-defeating from the market's perspective. In contrast to the central bank's dilemma with self-defeating spot interventions, the indirect financing costs of the speculants arise only at the end of a speculative attack. This temporal non-congruence of cost-taking between the central banks and the speculants is a major reason for the inherent unsustainability of spot intervention strategies as a defence mechanism against speculative attacks.
- With forward interventions this temporal non-congruence of cost-taking is reversed in favour of the central banks. No 'costs' in terms of exessive liquidity and reserve effects arise in the course of an attack. A spot transaction of the central banks can only become necessary to deliver a foward contract and would be inevitably connected with a corresponding loss-taking by the speculants. An actual delivery of foward interventions is, therefore, unlikely to happen in reality. The central banks

are no longer forced to opt out as a consequence of unavoidably arising liquidity and reserve effects. The vicious circle of inherently implausible spot interventions is broken; with forward intervention strategies the speculants have to defray the inevitable losses instead of the central banks.

This mechanism alone should prove to be sufficient to stimulate arbitrage transactions to stabilize the exchange rates already before the lower forward intervention point is touched. Even if the central banks have to deliver the foward intervention at the maturity date, they can sterilize the associated liquidity and reserve effects in the spot markets without being restricted by limited sterilization capacities. The central banks can ensure the supply of spot amounts in hard currency to deliver its initial foward intervention by so-called *agressive forward interventions*. The agressive foward intervention is then transmitted into the spot market by the contracting banks covering their unintentional arising foward positions. The intervening central banks are thereby prolongating their initial forward intervention's delivery - by which the speculants are unavoidably taking a loss - is neutralized.

Variant 2: Instead of contracting his speculative forward transactions with the central bank, the speculant is contracting it with bank A:

Tab. 2A-2/1	Spe	culant	Bar	ik A
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
2. Variant 1.Step: <u>Speculative foward deal</u> one month foward sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to bank A	30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)

Thereby an unintentional uncovered forward position arises for Bank A. The bank will routinely offset the currency risks involved by contracting a contrary spot deal in combination with a swap. If the central bank has not been able to take on the foward position directly from the speculant, it can obtain the same result by contracting both, the spot and the swap transaction with bank B:

Tab. 2A-2/2	Bai	nk A	Centra	l Banks
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
 2.Step: <u>Covering bank A</u> a) spot purchase of 30 DM against 100 FF to bank A b) swap: spot sale of 30 DM against 100 FF to the central bank and re-purchase in one month 	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one month)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in two days)

Bank A, therefore, has balanced its position in terms of currencies and maturities. The bank's function was only the neutral transmittance of the uncovered forward position from the speculant to the central bank. Again, the central bank has succeeded in taking on the counter position of the speculant not in the spot market but in the forward market. The further course of the speculative attack then exactly corresponds to variant 1. However, if the central bank does not succeed in taking on the swap part of the bank's covering transactions, it will have to face the consequence of an isolated spot intervention. In order to nevertheless escape the self defeating dynamics of spot interventions, the central bank can fall back on the above described instrument of aggressive forward interventions. Its use will be required anyway if the attack is performed as an on-balance-sheet attack from the beginning.

B) The Dynamics of Forward Interventions in On-Balance-Sheet Attacks

When speculative attacks are performed in the spot markets, the central banks do not have the opportunity of directly contracting the speculative position in the forward market. In order to nevertheless avoid spot interventions, they are forced to intervene preventively in the forward markets. As in case of the above mentioned agressive foward interventions, the central banks thereby ensure the necessary spot supply in hard currency to meet the speculants' demand by the spot and swap transaction of the banking system covering the foward intervention and thereby transmitting it into the spot market. By that, the central banks avoid the dilemma of self-defeating spot interventions. In contrast to forward interventions in off-balance-sheet attacks, however, they are forced to refinance the speculative hard currency investments. Step 1: The central bank 'aggressively' intervenes in the forward markets by purchasing the attacked currency forward against hard currency from bank B:

Tab. 2B-1	Centr	al Bank	Ban	nk A
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
1.Step: <u>Aggressive forward intervention</u> one month foward sale against 30 DM to bank A	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)

Thereby the central bank has established its forward position while at the same time an unintentional uncovered currency position arises for the contracting bank A. Of course the bank will routinely offset its uncovered position by combining a contrary spot with a swap transaction.

Step 2: With bank A covering its open foward positon, the speculant matches the spot transaction while the swap part is contracted with bank B:

Tab. 2B-2	Bank A		Ba	nk B	Spec	ulant
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
 2.Step: <u>Covering bank A</u> a) spot sale of 30 DM against 100 FF to the speculant b) swap: spot purchase of 30 DM against 100 FF from bank B and re-purchase in one month 	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one menth)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in case month)	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in case month)	30 DM (in zwei Tagen)	100 FF (in swei Tagon)

Thereby the speculant has established his desired long spot position in hard currency. Bank A has transmitted the central bank's intervention from the forward into the spot market. It has, therefore, made available the spot supply in hard currency required by the speculant without the necessity of spot interventions by the central bank.

Step 3: Both, the speculant and bank B, invest their spot amounts to earn interest:

Tab. 2B-3	Bar	nk A	Ba	nk B	Spec	ulant
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
3.Step: <u>a) Investment by the speculant</u> one month investment of 30 DM at bank B <u>b) Investment by bank B</u> one month investment of 100 FF at bank A	100 FF (iz two days)	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month) 100 FF (in two days)	30 DM (In one month)	30 DM (in two days)

By that, the speculant reduces his financing costs to a level equal to the inter currency interest rate difference. His speculative return calculation then corresponds to one of an off-balance-sheet forward speculation. For bank B the investment of its spot FF amount is necessary in order to balance the maturity inconsistency between the spot and the foward leg of its swap position.

Step 4: The resulting expansion of the non-bank liquidity aggregates have to be refinanced by the central banks:

Tab. 2B-4	Centr	al Bank	Bai	nk A	Baı	nk B
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
4.Step: <u>Refinancing</u> a) refinancing of the DM investment b) refinancing of the FF investment	r(30 DM) (ref. assotis) r(100 FF) (ref. assotis)	r(30 DM) (c.b. moony) r(100 FF) (c.b. moony)	r(100 FF) (c.b. mousy)	r(100 FF) (ref	r(30 DM) (c.b. monsy)	r(30 DM)

Those refinancing transactions become necessary only in case of investments in assets underlying a reserve duty. The additionally arising demand for central bank money to meet the required additional reserve holdings has to be financed by the central banks. The central banks are even facing a de facto obligation to refinance the speculative investments because of the otherwise automatically occurring exessive interest rate increases in the domestic money markets.

An on-balance-sheet attack, therefore, can successfully be combated by agressive forward interventions of the central banks. The only difference between the dynamics of forward interventions in speculative off-balance-sheet attacks and foward interventions in onbalance-sheet attacks is the minor expansion of the non-bank liquidity which has to be refinanced by the central banks. Still, the direct money base and reserve effects can be avoided and the cost-taking in the course of an attack is passed on to the speculants. Thereby the inherent self defeating dynamics of speculative attacks is turned against the speculants and not - as with spot intervention strategies - against the intervening central banks. **Final remarks:** Unlimited forward intervention obligations have proved to be a credible defence mechanism against speculative attacks. For the central banks no costs arise which could finally force them to give up their exchange rate and intervention promise. This credibilility itself should be sufficient to prevent the development of speculative attacks. If nevertheless attacks of the markets occur, the central banks with forward interventions will have the power to outplay the speculants. Forward interventions, therefore, prove to be a necessary instrument for the EMS in order to establish a sustainable and credible exchange rate and intervention promise.

Forward Speculations)
Attacks (
Balance-Sheet
s in <i>Off</i> -
Intervention
Forward
Table 2A:

	Spec	culant	Bar	ık A	Banl	k B	Centra	l Banks
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
<u>1. Variant</u> 1.Step: <u>Speculative forward deal</u> one month forward sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to the central bank	30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)					100 FF (in as month)	30 DM (in oce month)
 Variant Step: Speculative forward deal one month foward sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to bank A 	30 DM (in our month)	100 FF (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)				
 2.Step: 2.Step: Covering bank A a) spot purchase of 30 DM against 100 FF from the central bank b) swap: spot sale of 30 DM against 100 FF to the central bank and re-purchase in one month 			30 DM (in two days) [.00 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one month)			100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in oce month)	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)

	Centry	al Bank	Ban	lk A	Bar	ık B	Speci	lant
	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment	Receipt	Payment
1.Step: <u>Aggressive forward intervention</u> one month forward sale of 100 FF against 30 DM to bank A	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)	30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in one month)				
2.Step: <u>Covering bank A</u> a) spot sale of 30 DM against 100 FF to the speculant b) swap: spot purchase of 30 DM against 100 FF from bank B and re-purchase in one month			100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in two days) 100 FF	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)	100 FF (in two days) 30 DM (in one month)	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF	30 DM (in two days)	100 FF (in two days)
3.Step: a) Investment by the speculant one month investment of 30 DM at bank B b) Investment by bank B one month investment of 100 FF at bank A			100 FF (in two days)	100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in two days) 100 FF (in one month)	30 DM (in one month) 100 FF (in two days)	30 DM (in occ month)	30 DM (in two days)
4.Step: <u>Refinancing</u> a) refinancing of the DM investment b) refinancing of the FF investment	r(30 DM) (ref. assei) r(100 FF) (ref. assei)	r(30 DM) (c.b. maay) r(100 FF) (c.b. maay)	r(100 FF) (c.b. money)	r(100 FF) (ref. 2000)	r(30 DM) (c.h. mooy)	r(30 DM) (nf. aseu)		

Table 2B: Aggressive Foward Interventions in On-Balance-Sheet Attacks (Spot Speculations)

REFERENCES

- BAGEHOT, W. (1873); Lombard Street, A Description of the Money Market, London.
- BALLADUR, E. (1988); Il faut aller vers une monnaie commune en Europe, Interview, Le Figaro, Ausgabe v. 14. Jan. 1988.
- BLANCHARD, O. et al (1993); No reason to mourn, in: Financial Times, August 6, 1993.
- BLOOMFIELD, A. (1959); Monetary policy under the international gold standard 1880-1914, Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
- BOFINGER, P. (1993b); Währungsintegration durch eine Währungsunion in den EG Kernländern, Bayerische Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg, Wirtschaftswissenschaftliche Beiträge des Volkswirtschaftlichen Instituts.
- BOFINGER, P. (1991); Festkurssysteme und geldpolitische Koordination, Schriften zur Monetären Ökonomie, Band 29, Baden-Baden.
- BOFINGER, P. (1989); The EMS and Monetary Policy Coordination in Europe, SUERF Papers on Monetary and Financial Stability No.7, Tilburg.
- BOFINGER, P. (1993c); The crisis of European monetary integration: causes and therapies, Paper prepared for a conference on Oct. 7/8, 1993, Universität Passau.
- BOFINGER, P. (1987); New Rules for the European Monetary System?, Working Papers No.5, Institut für Geld und Währung an der Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität Frankfurt.
- BOFINGER, P., Gerberding, C.(1988); EMS: A Model for a World Monetary Order?, in: Intereconomics, Vol.23, S.212-219.
- BOFINGER, P. (1993a); Geldpolitische Koordination durch das Europäische Währungsinstitut (EWI), in: Duwendag, D., Siebke, J., Europa vor dem Eintritt in die Wirtschafts- und Währungsunion, Schriften des Vereins für Socialpolitik, Neue Folge Band 220, Berlin, S.159-179.
- BOFINGER, P., COLLIGNON, S., LIPP, E.-M. (1993); Währungsunion oder Währungschaos - Was kommt nach der D-Mark?, Wiesbaden.
- BRENNAN, G., BUCHANAN, J.M. (1987); The Reason of Rules, London.
- CIAMPI, C.A. (1989); An Operational Framework for an Integrated Monetary Policy in Europe, in: Committee for the Study of Economic and Monetary Union, S.225-232.
- COASE, R.H. (1984); The New Institutional Economics, in: Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics, Vol.140, S.229-331.

- COLLIGNON, S. (1993); The EMS in Transition, A Study prepared at the request of the European Parliament on behalf of the Association for the Monetary Union of Europe, Paris.
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES (1979); The European Monetary System, Brüssel.
- COMMITTEE OF GOVERNORS of the Central Banks of the Member States of the European Community (1993), The implications and lessons to be drawn from the recent Exchange Rate Crisis, Basel.
- DEUTSCHE BUNDESBANK (1993a); Die jüngsten geld- und währungspolitischen Beschlüsse und die Entwicklungen im Europäischen Währungssystem, in: Monatsbericht 8/1993, S.19-27.
- DEUTSCHE BUNDESBANK (1989); Wechselkursentwicklung im Europäischen Währungssystem - Erfahrungen nach 10 Jahren -, in: Monatsbericht 3/1989, S.30-38.
- DEUTSCHE BUNDESBANK (1987), Geschäftsbericht.
- DEUTSCHE BUNDESBANK (1979); Das Europäische Währungssystem Aufbau und Arbeitsweise -, in: Monatsbericht 3/1979, S.11-18.
- DEUTSCHE BUNDESBANK (1993); Zum Einfluß von Auslandstransaktionen auf die Bankenliquidität, Geldmenge und Bankkredit, in: Monatsbericht 1/1993, S.19-34.
- EICHENGREEN, B. (1993); How to Save the EMS, University of California at Berkley, unpublished paper, 21 S..
- EICHENGREEN, B., Wyplosz, C. (1993); The unstable EMS, Centre for Economic Policy Research, Discussion Paper Series No.817, London.
- EICHENGREEN, B., Wyplosz, C. (1993a); The unstable EMS, Brookings Papers on Economic Acctivity, 1:1993, Washington.
- EMMINGER, O. (1986); D-Mark, Dollar, Währungskrisen, Stuttgart.
- EWS-TEXTSAMMLUNG (1985); Ausschuß der Präsidenten der Zentralbanken der Mitgliedstaaten der Europäischen Währungsgemeinschaft, o.O..
- FISCHER-ERLACH, P. (1991); Handel und Kursbildung am Devisenmarkt, Stuttgart.
- FRATIANNI, M., VON HAGEN, J., WALLER, C. (1991); From EMS TO EMU, CEPR Discussion Paper No.618, London.
- GIAVAZZI, F., SPAVENTA, L. (1990); The New EMS, in: De Grauwe, P., Papademos, L., The EMS in the 1990s, London.

- GIAVAZZI, F., GIOVANNINI, A. (1987); Models of the EMS: Is Europe a Greater Deutsche Mark Area?, in: Bryant, R., Portes, R., Global Macroeconomics: Policy Conflict and Cooperation, London, S.237-276.
- GRABBE, O. (1991); International Financial Markets, second edition, New Jersey.
- GROS, D. (1990); Towards a Common Monetary Policy Rule in the Transition: The Role of the ECU and Required Reserves, mimeo.
- GROS, D., THYGESEN, N. (1988); The EMS Achievements, Current Issues and Directions for the Future, London.
- GROUP OF TEN (1993), International Capital Movements and Foreign Exchange Markets, A Report to Ministers and Governors by the Group of Deputies, Rome.
- HASSE, R. (1984); Multiple Währungsreserven, Probleme eines Währungsstandards mit multiplen Devisenreserven, Stuttgart/New York.
- HERZ, B., RÖGER, W. (1992); The EMS is a greater Deutschmark area, in: European Economic Review 36, S.1413-1425.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND (1993); International Capital Markets, Part I. Exchange Rate Mangement and International Capital Flows, World Economic and Financial Surveys, Washington.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND (1991); Determinants and Systemic Consequences of International Capital Flows, Occasional Paper 77, Washington.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND (1992); A Note on Recent Trends and Developments in International Financial Markets and International Capital Flows, in: Group of Ten (1993), International Capital Movements and Foreign Exchange Markets, A Report to Governors and Finance Ministers by the Group of Deputies, Rome.
- KEES, A. (1987); The Monetary Committee of the European Community, in: Kredit und Kapital 2/1987, S.258-268.
- KEYNES, J.M. (1980); Activities 1940-44, Shaping the Post-War World: The Clearing Union, The collected writings of J.M. Keynes, Vol.XXV, London.
- KEYNES, J.M. (1923/1971); A tract on monetary reform, The collected writings of J.M. Keynes, Vol.4, London.
- KEYNES, J.M. (1943/1969); Proposals for an International Clearing Union, in: The international monetary fund 1945-65, Vol.III: "Documents", Washington.
- KEYNES, J.M. (1925/1972); The economic consequences of Mr. Churchill, The collected writings of J.M. Keynes, Vol.9, London, S.207-230.

- KLEINHEYER, N. (1987); Die Weiterentwicklung des EWS, Überlegungen zur stabilitätsorientierten Ausgestaltung der "Zweiten Stufe", Veröffentlichungen des Instituts für empirische Wirtschaftsforschung, Band 24, Berlin.
- KRÜGER, M. (1992); Was dem EWS geschehen ist, in: Wirtschaftsdienst 1992/X, S.516-519.
- LUDLOW, P.(1982); The Making of the European Monetary System, London.
- MASTROPASQUA, C., et al. (1988); Interventions, Sterilization and Monetary Policy in EMS Countries, in: Giavazzi et al., The European Monetary System, New York, S.252-287.
- MATTHES, H. (1992); Währungsunion mit der Perepherie, in: Wirtschaftsdienst 1992/XII, S.630-638.
- MATTHES, H. (1988); Entwicklung des EWS mit Blick auf 1992, in: Duwendag, D., Europa-Banking, Schriften zur Monetären Ökonomie, Nr.27, Baden-Baden, S.85-109.
- MATTHES, H. (1993); Einheitlicher Markt einheitliche Währung, in: Neue Zürcher Zeitung, Ausgabe Nr.236 vom 19.Nov. 1993.
- MAYER, J. (1988); Intervention Mechanism and Symmetry in the EMS, EUI Working Paper No.88/344, European University Institute Florenz.
- McKINNON, R.I. (1984); An International Standard for Monetary Stabilization, Institute for International Economics, Policy Analyses in International Economics, No.8, Washington.
- McKINNON, R.I. (1993); The Rules of the Game: International Money in Historical Perspective, in: Journal of Economic Literature, Vol.XXXI (March 1993), S.1-44.
- McKINNON, R.I. (1988); Monetary and Exchange Rate Policies for International Financial Stability: A Proposal, in: Journal of Economic Perspectives, Vol.2, S.83-104.
- MILLER, M., EICHENGREEN, B, PORTES, R. (1989); Blueprints for exchange rate management, Cambridge.
- MONETARY COMMITTEE of the European Community (1993), Lessons to be drawn from the disturbances on the foreign exchange markets, Brussels.
- MUNDELL, R.A. (1972); The Future of the International Financial System, in: Acheson, A.L.K., Chant, J.F., Prachowny, M.F.J., Bretton Woods revisited, Toronto, S.91-103.
- O.V. (1992); Grossbritanniens Probleme mit dem Währungsverbund, in: Neue Zürcher Zeitung, Ausgabe v.29./30.9.1993.
- PETSCHNIGG, R., (1993); Die Konvergenzkriterien des Unionsvertrages Eine kritische Interpretation, in: Wirtschaftspolitische Blätter 1/1993, S.43-50.

PORTES, R. (1993); EMS and EMU After the Fall, in: The World Economy 16, S.1-16.

- RIEKE, W. (1979); The Emerging European Monetary System, in: Deutsche Bundesbank (Hrsg.), Auszüge aus Presseartikeln v. 23. Mai 1979.
- ROTH, C. (1991); Introduction to Foreign Exchange, Euromoney Publication, London.
- SACHVERSTÄNDIGENRAT (1976); Zeit zum Investieren, Jahresgutachten 1976/77, Stuttgart und Mainz.
- SCHARRER, H.-E. (1992); Die EG nach den Währungswirren, in: Wirtschaftsdienst X/1992, S. 498-499.
- SIEVERT, O. (1992); Geld, das man nicht selbst herstellen kann, in: Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, Ausgabe v. 26.September 1992, S.13.
- SOHMEN, E. (1973); Wechselkurs und Währungsordnung, Tübingen.
- SVERIGES RIKSBANK (1993); The Struggle to Turn the Swedish Krona into a Hard Currency, Arbetsrapport Nr.8, Stockholm.
- TIETMEYER, H. (1992); Aktuelle Fragen der währungspolitischen Integration in Europa, in: Auszüge aus Presseartikeln der Deutschen Bundesbank, Nr.73, S.1-7.
- TYGIER. C. (1988); Basic Handbook of Foreign Exchange, A guide to foreign exchange dealing, Euromoney Publication, London.
- UNGERER, H., HAUVONEN, J.J., LOPEZ-CLAROS, A., MAYER, T. (1990); The European Monetary System: Developments and Perspectives, International Monetary Fund, Occasional Paper No. 73, Washington.
- VEHRKAMP, R. (1993); Ein Vorschlag zur Reform des Europäischen Währungssystems, unveröffentlichtes Diskussionspapier, Witten, 13 S.
- VEHRKAMP, R. (1992); Die Lehren der Währungskrise, in: Wirtschaftsdienst XII/1992, S.639-645.
- VERTRAG ÜBER DIE EUROPÄISCHE UNION (1992); in: Bulletin des Presse- und Informationsamtes der Bundesregierung, Nr.16, S.113-184.
- VON HAGEN, J, FRATIANNI, M. (1993); The Transition to European Monetary Union and the European Monetary Institute, mimeo.
- WAMSLEY, J. (1992); The Foreign Exchange Guide, New Jersey 1992.
- WILLIAMSON, J., MILLER, M.H. (1987); Targets and Indicators: A Blueprint for the International Coordination of Economic Policy, Policy Analyses in International Economics, No.22, Washington.

- WYPLOSZ, C. (1989); Asymmetry in the EMS: Intentional or Systemic?, in: European Economic Review 33, S.310-320.
- WYPLOSZ, C., Eichengreen, B., (1993, 1993a); s. Eichengreen/Wyplosz.
- YEAGER, L.B. (1976); International Monetary Relations: Theory, History, and Policy, New York.
- YPERSELE van, J., KOEUNE, J.-C. (1985); Das EWS: Geschichte, Funktionsweise und Aussichten, Brüssel-Luxemburg.

Economic Papers

The following papers have been issued. Copies may be obtained by applying to the address mentioned on the inside front cover.

- No. 1 EEC-DG II inflationary expectations. Survey based inflationary expectations for the EEC countries, by F. Papadia and V. Basano (May 1981).
- No. 3 A review of the informal Economy in the European Community, By Adrian Smith (July 1981).
- No. 4 Problems of interdependence in a multipolar world, by Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa (August 1981).
- No. 5 European Dimensions in the Adjustment Problems, by Michael Emerson (August 1981).
- No. 6 The bilateral trade linkages of the Eurolink Model : An analysis of foreign trade and competitiveness, by P. Ranuzzi (January 1982).
- No. 7 United Kingdom, Medium term economic trends and problems, by D. Adams, S. Gillespie, M. Green and H. Wortmann (February 1982).
- No. 8 Où en est la théorie macroéconomique, par E. Malinvaud (juin 1982).
- No. 9 Marginal Employment Subsidies : An Effective Policy to Generate Employment, by Carl Chiarella and Alfred Steinherr (November 1982).
- No. 10 The Great Depression: A Repeat in the 1980s ?, by Alfred Steinherr (November 1982).
- No. 11 Evolution et problèmes structurels de l'économie néerlandaise, par D.C. Breedveld, C. Depoortere, A. Finetti, Dr. J.M.G. Pieters et C. Vanbelle (mars 1983).
- No. 12 Macroeconomic prospects and policies for the European Community, by Giorgio Basevi, Olivier Blanchard, Willem Buiter, Rudiger Dornbusch, and Richard Layard (April 1983).
- No. 13 The supply of output equations in the EC-countries and the use of the survey-based inflationary expectations, by Paul De Grauwe and Mustapha Nabli (May 1983).
- No. 14 Structural trends of financial systems and capital accumulation : France, Germany, Italy, by G. Nardozzi (May 1983).
- No. 15 Monetary assets and inflation induced distorsions of the national accounts conceptual issues and correction of sectoral income flows in 5 EEC countries, by Alex Cukierman and Jorgen Mortensen (May 1983).
- No. 16 Federal Republic of Germany. Medium-term economic trends and problems, by F. Allgayer, S. Gillespie, M. Green and H. Wortmann (June 1983).
- No. 17 The employment miracle in the US and stagnation employment in the EC, by M. Wegner (July 1983).
- No. 18 Productive Performance in West German Manufacturing Industry 1970-1980; A Farrell Frontier Characterisation, by D. Todd (August 1983).
- No. 19 Central-Bank Policy and the Financing of Government Budget Deficits : A Cross-Country Comparison, by G. Demopoulos, G. Katsimbris and S. Miller (September 1983).
- No. 20 Monetary assets and inflation induced distortions of the national accounts. The case of Belgium, by Ken Lennan (October 1983).
- No. 21 Actifs financiers et distorsions des flux sectoriels dues à l'inflation: le cas de la France, par J.-P Baché (octobre 1983).
- No. 22 Approche pragmatique pour une politique de plein emploi : les subventions à la création d'emplois, par A. Steinherr et B. Van Haeperen (octobre 1983).
- No. 23 Income Distribution and Employment in the European Communities 1960-1982, by A. Steinherr (December 1983).

- No. 24 U.S. Deficits, the dollar and Europe, by O. Blanchard and R. Dornbusch (December 1983).
- No. 25 Monetary Assets and inflation induced distortions of the national accounts. The case of the Federal Republic of Germany, by H. Wittelsberger (January 1984).
- No. 26 Actifs financiers et distorsions des flux sectoriels dues à l'inflation : le cas de l'Italie, par A. Reati (janvier 1984).
- No. 27 Evolution et problèmes structurels de l'économie italienne, par Q. Ciardelli, F. Colasanti et X. Lannes (janvier 1984).
- No. 28 International Co-operation in Macro-economic Policies, by J.E. Meade (February 1984).
- No. 29 The Growth of Public Expenditure in the EEC Countries 1960–1981 : Some Reflections, by Douglas Todd (December 1983).
- No. 30 The integration of EEC qualitative consumer survey results in econometric modelling : an application to the consumption function, by Peter Praet (February 1984).
- No. 31 Report of the CEPS Macroeconomic Policy Group. EUROPE : The case for unsustainable growth, by R. Layard, G. Basevi, O. Blanchard, W. Buiter and R. Dornbusch (April 1984).
- No. 32 Total Factor Productivity Growth and the Productivity Slowdown in the West German Industrial Sector, 1970–1981, by Douglas Todd (April 1984).
- No. 33 An analytical Formulation and Evaluation of the Existing Structure of Legal Reserve Requirements of the Greek Economy : An Uncommon Case, by G. Demopoulos (June 1984).
- No. 34 Factor Productivity Growth in Four EEC Countries, 1960–1981, by Douglas Todd (October 1984).
- No. 35 Rate of profit, business cycles and capital accumulation in U.K. industry, 1959–1981, by Angelo Reati (November 1984).
- No. 36 Report of the CEPS Macroeconomic Policy Group. Employment and Growth in Europe : A Two-Handed Approach by P. Blanchard, R. Dornbush, J. Drèze, H. Giersch, R. Layard and M. Monti (June 1985).
- No. 37 Schemas for the construction of an "auxiliary econometric model" for the social security system, by A. Coppini and G. Laina (June 1985).
- No. 38 Seasonal and Cyclical Variations in Relationship among Expectations, Plans and Realizations in Business Test Surveys, by H. König and M. Nerlove (July 1985).
- No. 39 Analysis of the stabilisation mechanisms of macroeconomic models : a comparison of the Eurolink models by A. Bucher and V. Rossi (July 1985).
- No. 40 Rate of profit, business cycles and capital accumulation in West German industry, 1960–1981, by A. Reati (July 1985).
- No. 41 Inflation induced redistributions via monetary assets in five European countries : 1974–1982, by A. Cukierman, K. Lennan and F. Papadia (September 1985).
- No. 42 Work Sharing: Why ? How ? How not ..., by Jacques H. Drèze (December 1985).
- No. 43 Toward Understanding Major Fluctuations of the Dollar by P. Armington (January 1986).
- No. 44 Predictive value of firms' manpower expectations and policy implications, by G. Nerb (March 1986).
- No. 45 Le taux de profit et ses composantes dans l'industrie française de 1959 à 1981, par Angelo Reati (Mars 1986).
- No. 46 Forecasting aggregate demand components with opinions surveys in the four main EC-Countries Experience with the BUSY model, by M. Biart and P. Praet (May 1986).
- No. 47 Report of CEPS Macroeconomic Policy Group : Reducing Unemployment in Europe : The Role of Capital Formation, by F. Modigliani, M. Monti, J. Drèze, H. Giersch and R. Layard (July 1986).
- No. 48 Evolution et problèmes structurels de l'économie française, par X. Lannes, B. Philippe et P. Lenain (août 1986).
- No. 49 Long run implications of the increase in taxation and public debt for employment and economic growth in Europe by G. Tullio (August 1986).

- No. 50 Consumers Expectations and Aggregate Personal Savings by Daniel Weiserbs and Peter Simmons (November 1986).
- No. 51 Do after tax interest affect private consumption and savings ? Empirical evidence for 8 industrial countries : 1970–1983 by G. Tullio and Fr. Contesso (December 1986).
- No. 52 Validity and limits of applied exchange rate models : a brief survey of some recent contributions by G. Tullio (December 1986)
- No. 53 Monetary and Exchange Rate Policies for International Financial Stability : a Proposal by Ronald I. McKinnon (November 1986).
- No. 54 Internal and External Liberalisation for Faster Growth by Herbert Giersch (February 1987).
- No. 55 Regulation or Deregulation of the Labour Market : Policy Regimes for the Recruitment and Dismissal of Employees in the Industrialised Countries by Michael Emerson (June 1987).
- No. 56 Causes of the development of the private ECU and the behaviour of its interest rates : October 1982 September 1985 by G. Tullio and Fr. Contesso (July 1987).
- No. 57 Capital/Labour substitution and its impact on employment by Fabienne Ilzkovitz (September 1987).
- No. 58 The Determinants of the German Official Discount Rate and of Liquidity Ratios during the classical goldstandard: 1876-1913 by Andrea Sommariva and Giuseppe Tullio (September 1987).
- No. 59 Profitability, real interest rates and fiscal crowding out in the OECD area 1960–1985 (An examination of the crowding out hypothesis within a portfolio model) by Jorgen Mortensen (October 1987).
- No. 60 The two-handed growth strategy for Europe : Autonomy through flexible cooperation by J. Drèze, Ch. Wyplosz, Ch. Bean, Fr. Giavazzi and H. Giersch (October 1987).
- No. 61 Collusive Behaviour, R & D, and European Policy by Alexis Jacquemin (November 1987).
- No. 62 Inflation adjusted government budget deficits and their impact on the business cycle : empirical evidence for 8 industrial countries by G. Tullio (November 1987).
- No. 63 Monetary Policy Coordination Within the EMS: Is there a Rule ? by M. Russo and G. Tullio (April 1988).
- No. 64 Le Découplage de la Finance et de l'Economie Contribution à l'Evaluation des Enjeux Européens dans la Révolution du Système Financier International par J.-Y. Haberer (mai 1988).
- No. 65 The completion of the internal market : results of macroeconomic model simulations by M. Catinat, E. Donni and A. Italianer (September 1988).
- No. 66 Europe after the crash : economic policy in an era of adjustment by Charles Bean (September 1988).
- No. 67 A Survey of the Economies of Scale by Cliff Pratten (October 1988).
- No. 68 Economies of Scale and Intra-Community trade by Joachim Schwalbach (October 1988).
- No. 69 Economies of Scale and the Integration of the European Economy : the Case of Italy by Rodolfo Helg and Pippo Ranci (October 1988).
- No 70 The Costs of Non-Europe An assessment based on a formal Model of Imperfect Competition and Economies of Scale by A. Smith and A. Venables (October 1988).
- No. 71 Competition and Innovation by P.A. Geroski (October I 988).
- No. 72 Commerce Intra-Branche Performances des firmes et analyse des échanges commerciaux dans 1a Communauté européenne par le Centre d'Etudes Prospectives et d'Informations Internationales de Paris (octobre 1988).
- No. 73 Partial Equilibrium Calculations of the Impact of Internal Market Barriers in the European Community by Richard Cawley and Michael Davenport (October 1988).
- No. 74 The exchange-rate question in Europe by Francesco Giavazzi (January 1989).

- No. 75 The QUEST model (Version 1988) by Peter Bekx, Anne Bucher, Alexander Italianer, Matthias Mors (March 1989).
- No. 76 Europe's Prospects for the 1990s by Herbert Giersch (May 1989).
- No. 77 1992, Hype or Hope : A review by Alexander Italianer (February 1990).
- No. 78 European labour markets : a long run view (CEPS Macroeconomic Policy Group 1989 Annual Report) by J.-P. Danthine, Ch. Bean, P. Bernholz and E. Malinvaud (February 1990).
- No. 79 Country Studies The United Kingdom by Tassos Belessiotis and Ralph Wilkinson (July 1990).
- No. 80 See "Länderstudien" No. 1
- No. 81 Country Studies The Netherlands by Filip Keereman, Françoise Moreau and Cyriel Vanbelle (July 1990).
- No. 82 Country Studies Belgium by Johan Baras, Filip Keereman and Françoise Moreau (July 1990).
- No. 83 Completion of the internal market : An application of Public Choice Theory by Manfred Teutemann (August 1990).
- No. 84 Monetary and Fiscal Rules for Public Debt Sustainability by Marco Buti (September 1990).
- No. 85 Are we at the beginning of a new long term expansion induced by technological change ?, by Angelo Reati (August 1991).
- No. 86 Labour Mobility, Fiscal Solidarity and the Exchange Rate Regime : a Parable of European Union and Cohesion, by Jorge Braga de Macedo (October 1991).
- No. 87 The Economics of Policies to Stabilize or Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions : the Case of CO2, by Mathias Mors (October 1991).
- No. 88 The Adequacy and Allocation of World Savings, by Javier Santillán (December 1991).
- No. 89 Microeconomics of Saving, by Barbara Kauffmann (December 1991).
- No. 90 Exchange Rate Policy for Eastern Europe and a Peg to the ECU, by Michael Davenport (March 1992).
- No. 91 The German Economy after Unification : Domestic and European Aspects, by Jürgen Kröger and Manfred Teutemann (April 1992).
- No. 92 Lessons from Stabilisation Programmes of Central and Eastern European Countries, 1989–91, by Domenico Mario Nuti (May 1992).
- No. 93 Post-Soviet Issues : Stabilisation, Trade and Money, by D. Mario Nuti and Jean Pisani-Ferry (May 1992).
- No. 94 Regional Integration in Europe by André Sapir (September 1992).
- No. 95 Hungary : Towards a Market Economy (October 1992).
- No. 96 Budgeting Procedures and Fiscal Performance in the European Communities, by Jürgen von Hagen (October 1992).
- No. 97 L'ECU en poche ? Quelques réflexions sur la méthode et le coût du remplacement des monnaies manuelles nationales par des pièces et des billets en ECU, par Ephraïm Marquer (octobre 1992).
- No. 98 The Role of the Banking Sector in the Process of Privatisation, by Domenico Mario Nuti (November 1992).
- No. 99 Towards budget discipline : an economic assessment of the possibilities for reducing national deficits in the run-up to EMU, by Dr. J. de Haan, Dr. C.G.M. Sterks and Prof. Dr. C.A. de Kam (December 1992).
- No. 100 EC Enlargement and the EFTA Countries, by Christopher Sardelis (March 1993).
- No. 101 Agriculture in the Uruguay Round : ambitions and realities, by H. Guyomard, L.-P. Mahé, K. Munk and T. Roe (March 1993).
- No. 102 Targeting a European Monetary Aggregate, Review and Current Issues, by Christopher Sardelis (July 1993).

3

- No. 103 What Have We Learned About the Economic Effects of EC Integration ? A Survey of the Literature, by Claudia Ohly (September 1993).
- No. 104 Measuring the Term Structure of ECU Interest Rates Johan Verhaeven and Werner Röger (October 1993).
- No. 105 Budget Deficit and Interest Rates : Is there a Link ? International evidence, by José Nunes-Correia and Loukas Stemitsiotis (November 1993).
- No. 106 The Implications for Firms and Industry of the Adoption of the ECU as the Single Currency in the EC, by M. Burridge and D.G. Mayes (January 1994).
- No. 107 What does an economist need to know about the environment? Approaches to accounting for the environment in statistical informations systems, by Jan Scherp (May 1994)
- No. 108 The European Monetary System during the phase of transition to European Monetary Union, by Dipl.-Vw. Robert Vehrkamp (July 1994).
Country Studies*

See also Economic Papers No. 79 (The United Kingdom), No. 81 (The Netherlands) and No. 82 (Belgium).

- No. 1 The Federal Republic of Germany (September 1990)
- No. 2 Portugal (February 1991)
- No. 3 United Kingdom (March 1991)
- No. 4 Denmark (April 1991)
- No. 5 France (août 1991)
- No. 6 Ireland (September 1991)
- No. 7 Spain (March 1992)
- No. 8 Netherlands (June 1992)
- No. 9 Greece (July 1992)
- No. 10 Luxembourg (March 1993)

^{*} Country studies are the result of internal analysis of the economic situation of the respective member country; they are made on the responsibility of the Directorate–General for Economic and Financial Affairs of the Commission of the European Communities.